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The illustrious name of Max Theiler,
Nobel laureate in Physiology and Medi-
cine, has tended to overshadow that of
his famous father, Sir Arnold Theiler
K.C.M.G. who was honoured and re-
spected in scientific circles throughout
the world. It is doubtful who did more
for the welfare of humanity. This autho-
ritative biography puts the reader in a
position to judge. -

Emigrating from Switzerland to the
Transvaal in 1891 as a qualified veterin-
ary surgeon, Arnold Theiler within
weeks completely severed his left hand
in a chaff-cutter. His career was ap-
parently ruined but through sheer
courage and dogged persistence aided
by his wife Emma (who did much of
his' laboratory work), he became a
world-famous veterinary pathologist.

President Paul Kruger gave him his
first opportunity and thence onward,
Theiler was associated with the out-
standing historical, scientific and politic-
al personalities of his times — General
Louis Botha, Field-Marshal J. C. Smuts,
Lord Baden-Powell, the bacteriologists
Robert Koch and Sir David Bruce,
Lord Milner, Lord Selborne, Viscount
Bruce of Melbourne, Viscount Bledisloe
and countless others. He was both the
beneficiary and the victim of South
Africa’s ferocious political life and from
the Boer War onward, participated in
historic events. The world at large pros-
pered from his discoveries and after his
death, his Government erected a statue
in his honour. Animal husbandry con-
tinues to benefit from his work and his
dauntless courage and determination
continue to inspire his successors.

Drawn from hitherto unavailable
sources, this is the first definitive account
of his life and reveals the character and
achievements of a strange man pre-
viously known only vaguely by repute.

Thelma Gutsche, born of South African
and English parents, was educated
privately and at the University of Cape
Town where she majored in Ethics,
Logic and Metaphysics, later attaining
her Ph.D. in Social History.

Always inclined toward literary ex-
pression, she has published a number of
biographies (0Old Gold, The Microcosm,
A Very Smart Medal, The Bishop’s
Lady, etc) and was awarded the C.N.A.
Prize for Literature for Ne Ordinary
Woman which revealed an unrecorded
feature in the history of South Africa.

Her biography of Sir Arnold Theiler
spans the world and deals with the
scientific contribution of a unique
character in the context of contemporary
event and the competition of his peers.

DUST JACKET

When Arnold Theiler chopped off his
hand, emergent countries rode on the
back of draught animals. In that year
(1891), 68 oxen were needed to drag a
15-ton boiler along 300 miles of ‘roads’
(pot-holed tracks wandering about the
veld) from Natal to a gold-mine in
Johannesburg, then only five years old.
There was no transport by railway.
Horses, mules, oxen and cattle generally
were basic to a country’s development.
Theiler revolutionised their care and
maintenance which attained increasing
importance in the Machine and later
Space Age.
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CHAPTER ONE

THE FERAL WORLD

ADAPTATION of living organisms to their environment and problems of survival remain the
basic facts of existence, The vaunted ‘balance of Nature’ of the past and the ecological dilemmas
of the future perennially preoccupy Mankind. Since first consciousness, man has presumed to
control his environment by reason and not by instinct only.

‘The Wonders of Nature® were perpetually fascinating both in themselves and for their utilit-
arian purposes. In time, the rich travelled to see them or sent emissaries abroad to make pictures
and to collect samples. Study of the ‘“Natural Sciences” flourished. Some of their proponents
became the pet creatures of plutocrats a few of whom endowed investigative centres on their own
properties and paid scholars to conduct them.

When navigators found routes to new areas, the quest accelerated and travellers, hunters,
traders and mere adventurers joined the dedicated botanists, zoologists and biologists in in-
vestigating the feral world. They reported many things (notably the failure of man and beast
to control natural forces) and many strange and inexplicable occurrences like the mass suicide
of whales and lemmings, the huge areas of land uninhabited by humans or animals because of
flies, sudden pestilences and rampaging plagues, mass migrations of men and animals destroying
all before them, and other ‘wonders’ that had no reason.

Man had his place in the feral world. He might be a pastoral itinerant, moving his flocks or
herds or troops of horses or yaks to better grazing when he had denuded an area or droughts or
floods had done it for him, Or he might be a forest agriculturist, burning a patch of open loam-
rich soil among the bush and trees and planting his maize and pumpkins and cassava, living only
so long in the area as it reached exhaustion and the barren soil was eroded by wind and rain -
for the benefit of the delta-dwellers where some great rivers took it. Or he might be a hunter
depending on the habits of wild animals or of fish in the rivers and sea. Feral man exploited his
environment, There was so much of it. When calamity came, he died -- if he could not move off
quickly enough.

In gradually-evolving societies, there was often nowhere to move and it became imperative
to control natural forces — to engage in communal action and concerted works. Uncontrolled
exploitation at all times leads to disaster. The ‘balance of Nature’ fails to assert itself since Man
himself seems no part of it. Deserts and desolation ensue on his negligence. Accordingly, from
earliest recorded times, he resorted to devices and joint action, principally in agriculture - tillage
and irrigation, fertilising and rotation of crops, selective breeding and culling and later, the
first agricultural societies for common cause and encouragement. But banging drums and light-
ing fires seldom diverted a locust swarm nor incantations a murrain upon cattle. Nothing stop-
ed the ghastly pandemics of Cholera, Smallpox and ‘the Black Death’ (Bubonic Plague) or
the ‘Cattle Plague’ (Rinderpest) which periodically swept from East to West.

Old wives’ tales and specifics sometimes helped. When Paul Kruger shot away his thumb
and developed gangrene after applying first turpentine and then sugar, friends tied the steaming
stomach of a freshly killed goat around the stump. Impregnated with herbs, it had healing pro-
perties. Much such lore of the East was unknown elsewhere till travellers brought it home. For
untold centuries, successful prophylaxis against Smallpox was practised beyond the Mediter-
ranean while Europe suffered periodic epidemics. Immunology was virtually unknown and thous-
ands died until the wife of a British diplomat stationed in Turkey-in-Europe, Lady Mary Wort-
ley Montagu, herself submitted to vaccination and loudly made it known,
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In March/April 1717, she wrote from Adrianople (the present Edirne near the Greek border)
to a friend: ‘The smallpox, so fatal and so general among us, is here entirely harmless by the
invention of ingrafting which is the term they give it. There is a set of old women who make it
their business to perform the operation every autumn when the great heat is abated. People
send to one another to know if any of their family has a mind to have the smallpox, They make
parties for this purpose and when they are met (commonly fifteen or sixteen together), the old
woman comes with a nutshell full of the matter of the best sort of smallpox and asks what veins
you please to have opened. She immediately rips open that you offer to her with a large ncedle
(which gives you no more pain than a common scratch) and puts into the vein as much venom
as can lie upon the head of her needle and after, binds up the little wound with a hollow. bit of
shell; and in this manner opens up four or five veins.

*The Grecians have commonly the superstition of opening one in the middle of the forehead,
in each arm and on the breast to mark the sign of the Cross; but this has a very ill effect, all
these wounds leaving little scars, and is not done by those that are not superstitious who chooss
to have them in the legs or that part of the arms that is concealed.

‘The children or young patients play together all the rest of the day and are in perfect health
to the eighth. Then the fever begins to seize them and they keep their beds two days, very seldom
three. They have very rarely above twenty or thirty (poxes) in their faces which never mark and
in eight days time, they are as well as before their illness. Where they are wounded (inoculated)
there remain running sores during the distemper which I don’t doubt is a great relief to it.
Every year, thousands undergo this operatlon and the French ambassador says pleasantly that
they take the smallpox here by way of diversion as they take the waters in other countries. There
is no example of anyone that has died in it and you may believe that 1 am very well satisfied of
the safety of this experiment since I intend to try it on my dear little son.’

Lady Mary, a hard-headed realist, intended ‘to take pains to bring this useful invention into
fashion in England’ but was baulked by the conviction that the medical men of the time would
reject it as ‘destroying a considerable part of their revenue’. She reported to her husband that
‘the boy was engrafted last Tuesday and is at this time singing and playing and very impatient
for his supper’; but her campaign had no immediate success. Almost a century passed before
the British doctor Edward Jenner inoculated an 8-year old boy with fluid from a pustule on a
cow suffering from the relatively mild cowpox, contracted also by humans, and successfully
immunised him against the more severe Smallpox. ‘“Vaccination’ (vacca: cow) developed into an
immunising technique,

By then the telescope and the microscope had revealéd the hem of the unseen world and con-
trol of environment came closer. Medical science moved onward and the dual problem of the
health of man and beast began to be attacked on a better equipped and organised basis. In the
western world, it was to the credit of the French that they first instituted centres for veterinary
education and research - in 1762 at Lyons and in 1765 at the Maison Alfort at Charenton, then
outside Paris.

That great apostle of enlightened agriculture, Arthur Young whose “Travels in France during
the years 1787, 1788 and 1789" became a classic continuously reprinted into modern times
{General Smuts was pointedly given a copy for special attentlon to soil erosion) described his visit
to the Maison Alfort on the 19th October 1787;

“To Charenton near Paris to see |’Ecole Veterinaire and the farm of the Royal Society of
Agriculturc. Monsieur Philibert Chabert, the directeur-general, received us with the utmost
attentive politeness. Mons. Flandrein, his assistant and son-in-law, 1 had had the pleasure of
knowing in Suffolk. They shewed the whole veterinary establishment and it does honour to the
government of France. It was formed in 1766; in 1783 a farm was annexed to it and four other

2



professorships established ~ two for rural economy, one for anatomy and another for chemistry,
I was informed that Mons. d’Aubenton who is at the head of this farm with a salary of 6,000
livres a year reads lectures on rural oecology, particularly on sheep, and that a flock was for
that purpose kept on exhibition. There is a spacious and convenient apartment for dissecting
horses and other animals; a large cabinet where the most interesting parts of all domestic animals
are preserved in spirits; and also of such parts of their bodies that mark the visible effects of
distempers. This is very rich. This with a similar one near Lyons, is kept up (exclusive of the
addition of 1783) at the moderate expense, as appears by the writing of M. Necker (the Swiss
Minister of Finance in the Government of Louis XVI) of about 60,000 livres (£2,600). Whence,
as in many other instances, it appcars that the most useful things cost the least. There are at
present about on hundred eléves from different parts of the kingdom as well as from every coun-
try in Europe except England — a strange exception considering how grossly ignorant our farriers
are ...’

England, where the horse was a sacred animal and cows, sheep, pigs and dogs scarcely less
so, soon took the hint and in 1792, an institution was started in London which became the
Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. In 1823 a similar school opened in Edinburgh, sub-
sequently the Royal (Dick) Veterinary College. Both were preceded in 1790 by what became
the high-sounding K&niglicher Thierartzlichen Hochschule in Berlin, a famous seat of veterinary
learning.

The need to control environment and render it beneficent to mankind had now been immense-
ly stimulated by commerce and, still slowly but steadily, by nascent industry. When Arthur
Young visited Lyons in the middle of the French Revolution (December 1789), he made no
attempt to visit the pioneering agricultural veterinary institute but occupied himself with noting
the plantations of mulberry trees and having violent arguments with local worthies about their
production of silk and their manufacture of goods from Chinese silk. Young felt that vis-a-vis
cotton and silk manufactured articles, England should have come out better in a recent trade
agreement with France.

A practicable route to the East had been opened more than a century before by the Dutch
East India Company’s founding a haif-way provisioning station at the Cape of Good Hope.
Its ships took three months or more to reach the fabled Cape of Storms but, once at anchor in
Table Bay, the scurvy-stricken crews could be carried ashore and revived with fresh fruit and
vegetables. Their rations of putrid salted meat and foul water were thrown overboard and fresh
stocks shipped for the last long haul to India and further east.

This two-way traflic caused the Cape to prosper agriculturally but not without disastrous
consequences. Ships returning from the east brought Smallpox which, in 1713, 1755 and 1767,
greatly diminished the numbers of indigenous Hottentots, a coloured people who, apart from
imported slaves, provided the only feasible source of future labour.

The Cape had its own Arthur Young in the person of C. L. Neethling who, similarly using his
observations in France and Switzerland, carefully wrote a treatise in 1798 on methods of im-
proving agriculture among his fellow colonists. He dealt with all aspects, including animal
husbandry and spoke scathingly about the treatment of draught oxen and horses, then the only
means of locomotion. It unfortunately remained unpublished but his personal propagandising
certainly had effect. There were overseas-educated farmers at the Cape who soon founded
agricultiral societics. .

In the East itself, health conditions for Europeans were much worse and the ships which passed
the Cape on their way back to Europe frequently disembarked French, English and Dutch
Company servants incapable of proceeding further. Later many took their furloughs there. Some
bought houses and huge estates in the interior, constituting in the rudimentary Cape society a
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coterie of ‘Nabobs’. They brought a welcome wisdom to a developing country, particularly in
the breeding of horses.

By this time, Southern Africa, India, the Far East, Canada and to a lesser extent Australia
swarmed with naturalists of every kind, plain hunter-adventurers and traders, and sometimes
military men and officials bent on other business than recording observations and collecting
specimens. Few however resisted the impulse to communicate their impressions of a fascinating
feral world where man by no means dominated his environment. Avid interest in Europe stimu-
lated them to record it. This was the dawn of the great colonial era and what they wrote was of
equal value to commercial men and scientists. “The Wonders of Nature’ hecame a universal
vogue and the ‘Curio’ industry was born (the horns, hides, teeth and skeletons of animals;
the weapons, musical instruments, ornamentation, skulls and skeletons of indigenous peoples;
the pressed flower, seeds, twigs, bulbs and other evidences of strange plants could all be sold
at high prices in Europe). The learned socicties in every capital welcomed speakers freshly re-
turned from the outer world and wondering members examined their specimens with gravity
and awe.

The members of such societies and academic institutions were themselves travelling in the
unknown world. Francois le Vaillant, a French student of natural history, spent three years at
the Cape of Good Hope (1781-84), travelling extensively and leisurely in the interior and sub-
sequently publishing his observations in five illustrated volumes which, such was the passion for
Africa at the time, were soon translated and published in English, German, Dutch, Danish,
Italian, Russian and Swedish. A zoologist by training, le Vaillant was keenly observant (if
sometimes flippantly) of ecological factors and noted the animal diseases which hampered
development of the settlement. Like almost all the observers, lay and professional who followed
him, le Vaillant noted that cattle, indispensable for food, transport and traction, were subject
to many afflictions such as Tong-Sikte (Blue Tongue in sheep), Klauw-Sikte {(Foot-and-Mouth
disease in cattle), Spong-Sikte (Black Quarter) and periodically to a crippling and finally fatal
discase Lam-Sikte. He associated this ‘lame sickness’ with grazing on coarse grass and a
seasonal depraved craving for chewing old bones and even the horns of their living fellows.

Much the same observations were made a decade later by the highly professional Martin
Hinrich Karl Lichtenstein who, recently qualified as a doctor of medicine in Germany, came to
the Cape in the entourage of the interim Dutch Governor before the British finally took posses-
sion of it. He subsequently became a professor of zoology in Berlin, no doubt stimulated in that
direction by his Cape experiences which he recorded in a work describing his travels from 1803
to 1806 (translated as usual into English, Dutch and Freach).

Lichtenstein in the ecological context of immunising against disease, had however a special
significance. With the menace of Smallpox always before it, the Batavian Government at the
Cape resolved most enterprisingly to employ Jenner’s method of prophylaxis in a campaign of
wholesale vaccination. There were difficulties. Although the method was not alien to cattle
owners wont to practice it on their beasts for Lung Sickness and like diseases, it was unusual
for humans. Jenner himself had not made spectacular progress. Further, the cowpox necessary
for the inoculation was not available at the Cape and the previous English administration’s
attempts to import it had failed. There were of course no methods of preservation by way of
refrigeration on the long voyage.

By chance in November 1803, a Portuguese slave-ship with cowpox cases was brought to the
Cape and the live infection became available. In the general campaign then promoted by the
Batavian Government, Lichtenstein as a modern young doctor aged 23, played a leading part.
In August 1805, he was instructed to conduct a vaccination tour deep in the platteland or hinter-
land of the settlement. In his short ‘Diary of a Journey through the Karroo’, he described the
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anxiety of the remote and isolated inhabitants to take the treatment and also to have their Hotten-
tot servants inoculated. He himself dealt with 300 cases, leaving precise instructions for vaccina-
tion by missionaries and for future action, should Smallpox break out. A vaccination centre was
started in Cape Town but immunology soon tumbled off the eminence on which it had been
enthroned. Only the hem of the unseen world had so far been revealed.

The venal world, on the other hand, had revealed itself all too clearly to the commercial com-
panies of many nations. Some, like the Dutch East India Company, went bankrupt after a cen-
tury of exploitation; but others, battening on the riches of the Orient and undeterred by hideous
diseases in man and beast coupled with lethal extremes of climate, created channels of commerce
so closely affecting the well-being and development of Furopean peoples that something had to
be done to consolidate and perpetuate them.

Britain — never wanting the Cape because it had no riches beyond a few tough and militarily-
serviceable horses and a small agricultural area useful for provisioning ships — grasped at India
and adjacent territories. France and Holland entrenched themselves further east and Portugal
at isolated trading posts. All sought a foothold in China. Tenuous commercial control was
followed by colonial administration and with it came the Army and the missionaries to join the
botanists and zoologists who joyfully continued their explorations and observations.

Army doctors and farrier-surgeons (or ‘horse doctors’) were expected to maintain colonial
control in the face of a host of menaces to human and animal welfare. The Army was essential
to protecting the constant supply of raw materials and locally-manufactured colonial goods to
the parent countries. Without protection from disease as well as the outraged indigenous inhabi-
tants, the system would have failed. Many of these men, confronted by conditions and epidemics
totally omitted from their training, made valuable observations on human and animal diseases.
If they could not fully control them, they at least gave prominence to the fact that if trade follow-
ed the flag, its continuance depended less on arms than on what was then called ‘hygiene’ or
general health.

The missionaries, many of whom were medically trained and all of whom were acutely ob-
servant, travelled widely, reaching their apogee in David Livingstone in Africa. They too knew
that the new lands could have no future without engaging disease, particularly among domestic
animals. Without the horse and the ox, commerce, let alone civilised life, was impossible.

The diseases of the horse endemic in Europe and the Middle East had been known for cen-
turies, perhaps for thousands of years; but there existed in Africa a mysterious seasonal ‘Horse
Sickness’ with devastating mortality which no traveller failed to note from earliest times. (Bur-
chell gave an account of it at the Cape in 1811.) A worse scourge since it affected both food and
transport was the equally noted ‘lame-sickness’ among cattle and several other lethal diseases
such as ‘Rooi-water’ or Red Water, know in India as ‘Surra’, and Lung Sickness.

In 1838, a Quaker evangelist James Backhouse toured the expanding Cape Colony and,
nearing Bethelsdorp, the London Mission Station outside Port Elizabeth, noted ‘the poor
moory tract of country which nevertheless supports considerable herds of oxen and some sheep
and goats; and for these it is said to be favourable. The grass is chiefly sour and the cattle have a
strong inclination for correctives. Sometimes they are said to eat the brush of each other’s tails.
We passed two bullocks that were contending with two dogs for the bones of a dead horse.
One of the former had the blade-bone in his mouth. Cattle often stand chewing bones in the
kraals or folds of this country.” He was watching the characteristic syndrome of impending
‘Lamziekte’.

Two days later, ‘one of our horses exhibited symptoms of a fatal disease called in this Colony,
The Sickness. His eyelids were swollen and the blood-vessels of his mouth and tongue were in
a state of congestion. He appeared to be in perfect health last night when tied to the wagon-
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wheel to secure him from Hyenas which are numerous here. This discase usually comes on sud-
denly and runs its course quickly. On being loosed, he began to browse but had difficulty in
swallowing. He was bled without delay and dosed with Calomel and Tartarized Antimony.
After this he neighed cheerfully to his companion, went to him on an adjacent hill where he lay
down. He soon rose again and began to eat but quickly lay down and then struggled and died.
His death took place about an hour after the symptoms of “The Sickness” were first noticed.
Before night, his carcase was nearly consumed by vultures and by the dogs of the Hottentots.
Thus quickly is a horse finished in Africa!’

At precisely the same time, a German observer, Professor Ferdinand Krauss of Stuttgart,
travelling not much more than a hundred miles further south in the Cape Colony, was noting
the number of serious cattle diseases including ‘lahmsikte’, and the high mortality from Horse
Sickness — so high in fact that ‘here, owing to the lack of horses, the post is carried on an ox.
The postman sits on an ordinary saddle with reins and guides the ox in the Kaffir manner with a
rein running through holes in both nostrils of the animal. The oxen are trained to trot and even
gallop but it is neither as comfortable nor as quick as with a horse.’ Soon after, Krauss lost his
own pet riding horse. The symptoms were always the same - the animal showed slight signs of
discomfort, ate normally, lay down, frothed voluminously at the nostrils and mouth, and was
dead - within 24 hours,

When disease diminished both horses and oxen, the country drifted toward standstill. As time
went on, it continuously occurred. The very future of humanity, indigenous and exotic, in the
colonial world could well be menaced. There were great areas of Africa, empty of man and beast,
to prove the possibility.

‘Science’ as opposed to ‘Nature’ now intervened at the instigation of Commerce and its
handmaidens, the Colonial Empires.

A struggler from the depth of poverty in France, Louis Pasteur, by diligence and punctilious-
ness arrived at the post of professor of chemistry at the University of Strasbourg in 1848. Of
equal ability in geology and physics, he went to Lille in 1852 to organise a new School of Science.
In 1855, his alma mater 1’Ecole Normale in Paris summoned him as director of studies and there
he remained until 1867.

Pasteur combined prodigious versatility with acutely perceptive observation. In a wide range
of observations, enabled by improved microscopes and methods of staining specimens to make
them particularly visible under magnification, he enunciated a theory of the cause of change
in varieus substances. Such changes, he said, were due to micro-bodies or ‘germs’. They did not
occur by themselves.

He was not the first to observe these creatures but no one previously had identified their causa-
tive function. Pasteur first studied chemically the process of fermentation at Lille and disproved
Liebig’s hallowed doctrine that such changes as it caused in substances were due to spontaneous
generation. They were, he said, the work of ‘germs’ which operated variously in all forms of
matter. He studied them in milk and vinegar, particularly under the influence of heat, and was
able to control their effect. He drew the attention of the beer- and wine-makers of France to his
results and revolutionised both industries. By the application of his studies of fermentation, it
was estimated that he had saved France from an annual loss in wine of a quarter of total pro-
duction amounting to £5,000,000 — a massive sum at that time.

That specific living organisms, visible only under high magnification, caused significant changes
in all forms of matter was a new and heady doctrine capable of application in many fields. Its
commercial importance had at once been apparent. Almost symbolically, Pasteur’s attention
was directed to a disease of silk-worms which had reduced the French silk industry from an
annual income of 130,000,000 francs to 3,000,000. In 1865, he undertook a painstaking investi-
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gation to find the ‘germ’ that caused it and at what stage in the life-cycle of the worm it ap-
peared.

At that moment in history, a pandemic of Rinderpest swept from east to west across Europe
destroying hundreds of thousands of cattle. Quarantining uninfected animals to prevent their
contracting the disease proved a forlorn hope. No cordon sanitaire proved remotely effective and
there was no alternative but to slaughter all animals likely to be infected. In England alone,
500,000 beasts were massacred. The possibility of isolating the ‘germ’ causing the disease crossed
no one’s mind. Bacteriology as initiated by Pasteur was still an infant science and from 1864 to
1870, Rinderpest had its way throughout Europe. Russia offered a prize of a million roubles to
anyone who could devise a specific that guaranteed immunity.

Pasteur himself advanced from his silk-worm problem (which he solved in 1869) to highly
sophisticated work in the fields of human and animal diseases. He could identify and isolate the
‘germs’ (or microbes or bacilli or bacteria as they were variously called) that wrought changes in
organisms; but that brought him no nearer dealing with them in the sense of preventing their
destroying the organisms they inhabited. In his painstaking imaginative way, he experimented
in artificially cultivating bacteria, that is, without a host and grown in laboratory cultures. He
subjected them to variations of temperature and other conditions including diluting and
weakening them and even killing them outright. Then, applying the ancient immunological ex-
pedient of injecting a weakened form of a disease into a subject to confer immunity, he experi-
mented in various fields. Of numerous successful attempts over several years, he was able in this
way to offer immunity to Anthrax in sheep, to Glanders in horses (through a substance called
Mallein deriving from the Glanders bacillus) and to Cholera and Rabies (hydrophobia) in hu-
mans.

The effect of his work on general agricultural economy and colonial expansion was incalcul-
able. The French Academy of Sciences formally accepted his technique of prophylactic inocula-
tion with a weakened form of the causative bacterium (or what was later termed ‘attenuated
virus®) to confer immunity and established the Pasteur Institute in Paris to enable him to con-
tinue his work and to manufacture and market his preparations. It was by no means only an
institute for pure research but very definitely a commercial proposition from which Pasteur deriv-
ed financial benefit. It opened in 1888, accumulated a talented staff and soon extended its ac-
tivities throughout the world. It was perhaps the most significant step yet taken in the recorded
history of man’s attempt to control natural forces.

By that time, the new science of ‘Bacteriology’ or Micro-Biology had gripped the world — and
particularly the colonial powers — by the throat. Untold benefits would follow the solution of
disease problems in man and beast in hitherto unexploited countries. There were in addition the
advantages to be gained in those already ‘civilised” and panting for further development in local
industry if only increased supplies of raw products could be obtained and further markets
found for their manufactured goods.

The prizes were munificent. To control natural resources, seen and unseen, to master environ-
ment for the benefit of man, to increase areas of domination became as much the ambition of
power-hungry nations as of scientists of integrity. Progress in the new discipline must be en-
couraged. In Germany — most avid for colonial advance — the study of microbes was undertaken
widespread, greatly aided by improved apparatus from the Zeiss firm at Jena and others. Among
its leading investigators was the medical doctor, Robert Koch, junior to Pasteur by 21 years.

Pursuing in his spare time the same enquiries into the Anthrax and other bacilli, Koch im-
proved immunological techniques. The German Government rewarded him with official appoint-
ment to the Federal Health Service and facilities for research. He was later awarded large sums
of money for further successful bacterial work and in 1885, with the directorship of a special
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Health Research Institute attached to the University of Berlin. At the same time, the German
Federal Government launched a colonising campaign to stimulate its burgeoning industry. Its
emissaries laid claim to large portions of Africa — the Cameroons and Togoland in the north
west, South West Africa and East Africa (Tanganyika) — as well as certain areas and islands in
the Pacific. Other nations clutched at the remaining pieces of unappropriated territory.

In the ‘Scramble for Africa’ and the economic development of home countries through the
exploitation of their colonies, Koch became the pampered pet of the German Government and,
by virtue of his striking discoveries, the envy and the target of criticism of his colleagues at home
and abroad. Before long his Institute was as famous as Pasteur’s.

As long as strange and terrible diseases afflicted man and beast in Europe and abroad, the
struggle for power between nations could not be resolved. It was in fact in Africa South that
many of the world’s crucial economic and ecological problems were solved.







































sicularly charged with maintaining an efficient cavalry force in a mist-enshrouded
net Horse Sickness at its worst. All they had was ‘a small pamphlet issued under the
f Lord Chelmsford (C.-in-C.) and the annual report of the Colonial Veterinary Surgeon
*. If these documents described the discase, they were quite unhelpful in prescribing

:ed by increasing numbers of cavalry horses healthy at night and dead in the morning
flecked nostrils, Sergeant-Major R. W. Jackson and Veterinary Surgeon R. Moore
g’s Dragoon Guards decided that it might be useful to record their observations
Sekukuni campaign from October to December 1879. Limited and perforce specula-
at least a professional record. Fred Jeppe published it in his Transvaal Book Almanac
omething would have to be done about Horse Sickness if development was to pro-
whole of Africa South.
eterinary surgeons had begun to arrive. Similarly with Australia where professional
ors’ (and some charlatans) emigrated to the gold diggings in the fifties and sixties
rifted to the few towns, veterinary surgeons were attracted to the Cape diamond
he early gold diggings in the Eastern Transvaal. ‘In 1880°, the Australian doyen
here were only seven or eight qualified veterinary surgeons in Victoria, four of whom
Ibourne and about the same number in New South Wales, most in Sydney. There
n Adelaide, one in Brisbane, none in Western Australia, one in Tasmania and three
land’. With a much smaller white population and very uneven development, Africa
80 was moving very slowly in the same direction. John Cammack M.R.C.V.S. who
tudies in London but qualified in Edinburgh in 1872, came to the Diamond Fields
gressing later to the Transvaal. A vociferous man, he readily wrote to newspapers
mmunicated his observations to Hutcheon. In about 1886, an apparently unqualified
e Charles Baker, tried to establish a practice in the Transvaal and in 1890, Mr Sam
R.C.V.S. put up his plate in Port Elizabeth. None succeeded in earning a living.
. ‘horse doctors’ and numerous ‘veterinary farriers’ were to be found in the few
but merely added their surmises to the lore of local wiseacres.
s needed and periodically proclaimed by both the experienced and the scientifically-
ntlemen at the Cape was a proper scientific approach to the whole problem of agri-
nomy. The renowned Professor P. D. Hahn had been appointed to the chair of che-
e South African College (later the University of the Cape of Good Hope) but per-
all his time teaching. There could be no chemical analysis of soils. The farmers had
roundless store of intuitive lore. They knew the peculiarities of brak or saline soil
sional characteristic mounds as much as 20 or more yards across, on their properties
more fertile than the surrounding land — formed by ants or beetles or other insects,
1t no one knew authoritatively or why they should be exceptionally fertile. In 1881,
had become Professor of Botany and managed to produce a valuable brochure,
887, on ‘Plants that furnish Stock Food at the Cape’ which also dealt with toxic
there were no laboratories, no research institutes, no organised attacks on the eco-
lems which steadily grew more serious in Africa South.
1, a host in himself and still stationed on the eastern seaboard, was flung from one
sther while opening Agricultural Shows, judging exhibits, travelling incessantly and
wooing the farmers with Scottish jokes and Biblical quotations to match their
sallies. He identified and described the historic Blaauwtong (Blue Tongue in sheep)
gated Redwater in cattle. He also came to grips with Lamziekte and exchanged
sservations with Cammack in Kimberley and with sundry lay observers. Visiting
West in 1884, he had satisfied himself that both Lamziekte and Stijfziekte (Stiff
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nstangon owned a small farm at Les Marais (originally the home of a Huguenot descendant
it name) a few miles north of Pretoria where he engaged in dairying and poultry-kecping.
: a day, his younger brother took the milk to town and, on the morning following Theiler’s
1, drove him back to the farm to await his brother. Theiler spent the time in fascinated ob-
ion of the kraal housing the farm’s labour force (especially the bare-breasted women),
Irinking Kaffir beer, entering the huts and exclaiming at their cleanliness, cracking primi-
kes and generally familiarising himself with their modus vivendi. He also took such hand
could in the farming activities. Constangon returned the next day and at last he could ask
e full grounds of the advice given him.

ry were many. Three months previously, Constangon said, a Pretoria Agricultural Society
rrmed by very influential people including the Commandant-General, Joubert. They would
ging a Show where Theiler could meet them. Each would be ready to pay him a monthly
Itative fee to safeguard the health of their cattle. Further, they would expect him to assist
nding an Agricultural Journal. In time, he could aspire to a State appointment on the level
swiss district veterinary surgeon. There was also the possibility of appointment to the
artillerie, the Republic’s only organised army consisting of cavalrymen with field guns.
would in the end be much work even if the first year were difficult. But, said Constangon,
st first become fluent in English. There was no need to worry about Dutch — it would come
1f. And he must spend at least six months on a farm to gain indispensable local knowledge.
dllowing morning (Good Friday the 26th March 1891), Theiler’s 24th birthday - they
to Pretoria.

nsul for Switzerland, Constangon could claim a certain standing among the powers
d and behind the throne of the aging State President, Paul Kruger. He was therefore com-
to conduct his prc 3¢ directly to the town office of the influential Alois Nellmapius who,
veral days previously, had been embarrassingly engaged in litigation over the ownership
newspaper The Press. The issue was never in doubt and by the time his visitors appeared,
ent in his favour had been given by Justice Morice. After a very unpleasant interlude,
1l eported by the town’s three newspapers, he could again afford to be affable.

istangon had described Nellmapius as ‘a farm-owner who rates as the richest and most in-
al man in the Transvaal’. Barbered and bearded and addressing the Hungarian in Ger-
Theiler manfully stated his case: he had come on the advice of the Consul to establish him-
a veterinary surgeon but because his trunk with his instruments and microscope had been
1d his command of English was not yet complete, he would like to find a position appro-
to his learning about farming, cattle, the land and its people.

rat-faced dapper Nellmapius who wore his hair short and was clean-shaven but for a well-
ed moustache, looked shrewdly at the bull-necked Swiss who had made no bones about
entions. It was no act of charity that he inclined toward him. His estate at Irene was now
developed with experts in charge of every section ~ dairying, vegetable and seed produc-
youltry and eggs, horticuiture, even quarrying for flagstones ~ but there was no one in
: of the animals. A large herd of cows, riding- and coach-horses, 40 mules, about 200
some sheep and a miscellany of other animals, wild and tame, were essential to the farm
ntributed to its losses through disease particularly, at this time of the year, Horse Sick-
A man of quick decision, he immediately engaged Theiler as Supervisor of Cattle and
s at a salary of £10 a month with lodging but no board for which he would have to pay.
: same afternoon, he took him by horse and trap te his Trene estate, two and a half hours
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CHAPTER FOUR

VIALS OF EVIL 1891-1893

WITH INCREASING frequency and force, the slings and arrows of outrageous fortune struck man
and beast. The tragedy of individuals became common to the whole of Africa South. Against
mounting menace from rampant ‘Nature’, resources were marshalled to promote the develop-
ment of all the territories in the sub-continent. Railways were rapidly being built to exploit
the land and for strategic reasons. The Cape, deep in depression through diminishing revenue
and failing banks, pressed on. Kruger fished in foreign waters for the capital to build his track from
Pretoria to Delagoa Bay and cease his subservience to Colonial ports. Animal transport was
proving both precarious and inadequate.

Successful cattle farming depended on the whim of ‘Nature’. Pests, diseases and develop-
mental problems could to some extent be combatted mechanically; but basic animal losses had
to be faced. On the 20th June 1891, the Natal Government instituted a Sheep and Cattle De-
partment and increased Wiltshire’s staff by one inspector. The Orange Free State did nothing;
but at the Cape at least, the men in charge knew that if ‘Nature’ were to be subdued, ‘Science’
must be sponsored.

As Theiler at last received his microscope and equipment at Irene, Edington landed in Cape
Town with materials for the most modern and complete laboratory in the southern hemisphere.
Leaving almost immediately by train, he met Hutcheon at De Aar in mid-Karroo and together
they made a short local survey of sheep disease before travelling to the Eastern Province.
Edington then met Borthwick, his previous pupil, and the energetic knowledgeable Soga,
appraising their heavy duties among multifarious diseases. Hutcheon had now to decide on the
site of the Laboratory. Edington, attracted by the English Graham’s Town and its central
position in a stock-raising area, found in the ‘Royal Engineers Yard’ (a solid double-storeyed
building constructed by the British Army in 1838 of local stone with a surmounting observation
tower) very suitable premises with various adjustments and alterations for his purposes. He made
his report, was authorised to proceed and spent the next six months in re-building, laying on water
and gas, engaging staff, buying experimental animals and generally establishing an efficient re-
searchinstitute. His instructions were, the moment it was in operation, to investigate Horse Sickness.

Every kind of individual was investigating Horse Sickness or propounding ‘cures’ or ‘reme-
dies’. The Boers had been employing monstrous expedients for generations. The medical doc-
tors of Pretoria, particularly G. W. S. Lingbeek (a Hollander), J. B. Knobel (a South African
fi 1 Colesberg) J. W. Stroud (an English dental surgeon qualified in America) and G. B. Mes-
sum (a Scot) had been theorising and experimenting for years. Toward the middle of 1891, Dr
Knobel had a chat with Kruger about it, emphasising the need for a Commission to investigate
the disease. On the 6th May, he confirmed his request to the President in writing asking that
he, as Superintendent of the Hospital and Dr Messum as District Surgeon, be appointed to
serve on it, particularly, as he Knobel, had long worked on Horse Sickness. The President
turned a deaf ear. On the 19th June 1891 (the eve of Theiler’s accident), the maverick G. C.
Baker actually took out an ‘Octrooi’ or Patent in the South African Republic for a ‘middel
tot voorbehoeding tegen paardenziekte’ (a means of preventing Horse Sickness). Mr Pieter
Roux of Ceres, Cape travelled the country administering his unspecified treatment at a price.
Among all his pre-occupations, Hutcheon was preparing a homely and helpful brochure. In
Pietermaritzburg and other places, the British Army veterinary surgeons attached to various
regiments, discussed their own surmises.
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“heiler rattled on — about the inertia of the Swiss in Pretoria whereas in Johannesburg they
. grandly celebrated the 600th Anniversary of the Swiss Federal Republic, about the veld
s lit to burn off the dried grass for the coming Spring, about this and that trifle to divert
people. He did not tell them that five days before his accident, the Volksraad had vetoed yet
ither petition (from 75 Zoutpansberg farmers) for an Agricultural Department. Replying
L question, the State President had blandly stated that nothing had been done about drafting
ilations and publishing them in the Staatscourant as previously resolved. Kruger did not
1t to prejudice his election prospects with an unpopular innovation.

'he educated invalid in the Volkshospitaal interested several of the local cognoscenti, particu-
y his physician Dr Messum. They had common ground. Theiler also had common ground
1 a young German chemist Jacques Schlesinger, then successfully conducting an analytical
»ratory in Pretoria (he had certified the quality of the beer produced by a local brewery)
_acting as locum tenens for a more distinguished German colleague in Johannesburg, Dr
us Loevy. It was Loevy who had written an excited article on Koch’s discovery of tuberculin
ch, translated into English by the then Government lithographer, Leo Weinthal, had been
lished in the Cape Agricultural Journal as Theiler made his way through Johannesburg to
toria. Koch’s name had since suffered locally. His tuberculin, alleged to cure Leprosy, had
n injected by Dr Messum into a willing sufferer and later into other patients in the in-
quate Leper Asylum which he supervised. He must have discussed with Theiler that it was
ing no effect.

retoria held further surprises for him. A Natural History Society had been formed with
Imapius and Weinthal (now the manager of The Press owned by Nellmapius) as members.
he bitter cold of July that afflicted Theiler’s wounded arm, they had visited the caves at
intains. It was dubious whether, in the class-structure of Pretoria, they would condescend
now the stocky, maimed gutteral-voiced Swiss who now had no purpose in their midst. A
rrinary surgeon — ‘a horse doctor’! — had no status in the community.

lellmapius was good to him and promised support. The Swiss (numbering about 30, ex-
ive of women and children) were with him to a man, feeding, housing and cherishing him.
hout them, he would have starved. When he was better, Constangon, steadily decreasingin
lic favour, took him to his farm for two weeks (he earned his keep ‘by word and deed on
farm’, he wrote lest his parents think him a sponger), bringing him frequently to town to
erve conditions. He noted the “Veterinary Farriers’ — J. G. Wood who ran a Veterinary
eing Forge in Market Street and F. S. McKittrick who had a business in Pretorius Street.
rre were others who had Livery Stables and baited horses for visiting farmers and travellers.
ry met a real need. Would he, a handicapped man purveying qualified veterinary services, be
> to prove such a need for his own talents?

Ie had discussed his position thoroughly with Constangon who knew the farmers and was
iself a farmer while moving in exalted circles through his consular status. Constangon en-
raged him. He made elaborate plans. He was sure that his knowledge of Horse Sickness
.ose season would soon start) and his suspicion that it was due to some form of septicaemia,
ild serve to establish him. He was beginning to know influential people and WNellmapius
1ld help him. He would put up his plate as Veterinary Surgeon and work like a demon to
ify himself to his father — and Emma.

n the middle of September 1891 on borrowed money since he had none of his own, Theiler
up a notice in the Grand Hotel International in Church Square, Pretoria where he rented
yom and a stable in the yard for £8.10s.0d. a month, all found. ‘I live like a prince’, he wrote.
: proprietor was a Swiss, F. Heretier, soon to become the catering manager of the Rand Club
‘ohannesburg. His wife cooked traditional Swiss dishes in affecting style. Nellmapius was as
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munster but he failed in his hope to send £10 home every month. He had to be dressed
a gentleman’, he said and it cost much. Money drained away from him. Constangon took
‘0 several farms to drum up business and slowly he acquired a small clientéle, charging 10s.
1e first visit and 7s.6d. for the next. His heart was rejoiced by the arrival of his electrician
1 Ernst Lauber bringing news from home and sundry of his small requests. Lauber expected
oyment in the street lighting of Pretoria but, none offering after two weeks, he left for
nnesburg where he was quickly employed on the mines at £26 a month.

* * *

‘garden city’ of Pretoria was at its loveliest with hedges of roses, pomegranates and oleander
water-furrows running beneath them (the State Secretary W. J. Leyds, caught a 5-foot eel
de his house). The great Government Building in Church Square whose construction mater-
had been dragged up by oxen’ from the coast, was fully equipped with telephones and all
omplete. In November, the State President and entourage inspected and approved it prior
rmal opening. There was no public transport of any kind, not even horse-trams.
nong the citizens, horses abounded en masse. The Boers came to town in wagons drawn
! or more oxen. Neither, Theiler pronounced, knew how to care for their animals. Soon the
season would start with tremendous thunder storms and deluges in tropic heat, bringing
readed Horse Sickness. He had prepared a pamphlet in English and Dutch (translated for
oy his friend H. J. L. Roarda, a student from Zurich, though he had himself now mastered
inguage with the help of attractive and nubile nurses). When it was printed, he would send
the Government to support an application for employment and financial help in devising
thod of inoculation. Tt was the recognised procedure. Dr Knobel himself used it on the
December 1891, asking the Government for £100 for his researches into Horse Sickness,
: spent on buying horses, shooting them and removing the carcases. Neither succeeded.
r three months, Theiler’s advertisement also ran expensively in De Volksstem edited by the
inder Dr F. V. Engelenburg who regarded him favourably and published his articles in
h; but the Boers were hard to convince. No one could tell them anything about animals.
arious and ingratiating as always, Theiler persevered. At his ‘clinic” in the hotel yard, he
he could be expected in one hour to speak German, English, Dutch and ‘Kaffir’. In his
month, he claimed to have taken £20 in visits only and expected it to rise to £30 the next.
slients were mostly English, Hollanders and Germans. He tried again to convince Lyss
a partnership with him would be the road to fortune. He foresaw that when the Horse
1ess started, he would be unable to manage his ‘growing practice’. If his researches suc-
:d and he found a cure, they would be able to charge £5 or £6 per horse (a recovered horse
supposedly immune or ‘salted’ and greatly increased in value though some alleged that,
itated by the disease, they were feeble and unwilling). Lyss must come at once, bringing all
astruments for treatment and materials for prescriptions that they would need.
eiler put up a brave front but was failing. Sandoz, the Swiss brewer, offered to subsidise
:searches but, one-handed, he could not pursue them. Lacking a horse, a cart and a “‘Kaffir’
:lp him, he could not extend his practice to the surrounding farms where he might be
>d. Worse, Heretier had left for the Rand Club and his protégé no longer found favour in
otel. In a black period, he considered going to the deeply depressed Johannesburg to find
oyment with the Tramway Company. He had no money and his pride was infinitely morti-
sy failing to send some to his family at Christmas. Word had reached him that in Frick,
as considered a failure. His father, stung by the humiliation, wrote only in bitterly critical

5.

47






his tailor’s bill and there were many other clamant creditors in Pretoria and Switzerland. It
was no time for Emma to come. Indomitably hopeful, he told her that sooner or later, his plan
must fructify and early in 1892, when success during the Horse Sickness season might justify it,
he would send her word.

In a desperate negligence of professional ethics, he advertised in newspapers:

H-O-R-S-E S§-I-C-K-N-E-S-S
AN INFALLIBLE CURE FOR HORSE SICKNESS
if applied in time
is now available for the sum of

TEN SHILLINGS
from A. Theiler, Veterinary Surgeon, P.O. Box 296 or
Grand Hotel International, Church Street East, Pretoria
N.B. Instructions as to how it must be used enclosed with

each remedy

A. THEILER

He had no cure, much less an ‘infallible’ one. Throughout Africa South early in 1892, thousands
of horses and mules were dying. Edington, now securely entrenched in his magnificent laboratory
at Graham’s Town, had begun his research by issuing a careful questionnaire on 23 points to
Cape farmers. Captain M. Horace Hayes F.R.C.V.S., the best known and most popular veterin-
ary authority of his own and later times (his ‘Veterinary Notes for Horse Owners’, first published
in 1877. was still steadily and regularly reprinted a century later) called on him there in January
1892 and sympathised with his problems. 13,979 horses were to die in the Cape Colony alone
in that year. Theiler with his speculative observations had nothing to contribute to a solution
which every year evoked quackish cries from every kind of person.

The dentist Dr J. W. Stroud expressed his views on inoculation in The Press, calling on the
Republican Government or the Agricultural Society or a society of breeders to subsidise re-
search. Cammack joined issue a month later, writing knowledgeably and well after 14 years
experience, and deploring the Transvaal Government’s failure to assist research. A private
association of horse-breeders would have to undertake it, he said. Then, as fatalities increased,
he invaded Theiler’s territory with an advertisement in 74e Press running in March 1892:

VETERINARY NOTICE
The undersigned, having had the medical management of
Thirty One Thousand Horses and Mules in South Africa
since 1878, feels justified in guaranteeing the
PREVENTION OF HORSE SICKNESS
J. CAMMACK
Medallist, Highland and Agricultural Society of Scotland
The Veterinary Hospital
Johannesburg

At the same time at the Cape, Hutcheon (whose miserably inadequate staff was about to be
ncreased by a German veterinarian Otto Henning) published his brochure on Horse Sickness
ind sent Borthwick to Ceres to investigate Pieter Roux’s loud claims. Borthwick then rejoined
Sdington in Graham’s Town to assist in thorough scientific investigation of the disease.
Combative to a degree, Theiler was undismayed and fought for his position in the Transvaal.
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recently conquered by a vaccine devised in Europe. In April 1892, he begged Lyss to send him as

much as 1,000 doses in addition to instruments and other material he had ordered. If the

inoculations succeeded, he could easily afford to send Lyss his fare to come to join him. Then
5 7] he became a member of the Agricultural Society as a pressure group likely to favour his future.
General Joubert was its president.

No love was lost between Kruger and Joubert. A woolly-minded, quasi-liberal, Joubert
exhibited no particular hates and was sedulously cultivated by the Uitlanders. In contrast,
Kruger was a resolute politician of firm principle and concerned with the best possible ad-
ministration of his fractious charge. He could not entrust it to his compatriots, rooted in their
farms and incapable of bureaucracy, and was compelled to employ such Europesans as were
qualified for various duties of State. They came from every country, even England, but the
majority in high places were Hollanders, a position accentuated when the Netherlands Railway
Company contracted to build the line to Delagoa Bay. At a time of severe economic stress and
unemployment, a wave of hate long reserved for the English, began to rise among the burghers
against all foreigners, particularly the Dutch. It militated only slightly against Theiler (who care-
fully noted the trend of affairs); but several official heads rolled including that of W. E. Bok,
temporarily State Secretary and then member and minute clerk of the Executive Council from
which he was now removed. In a new capacity, he was to influence Theiler’s future.

It was a turbulent time complicated by vicious influenza which levelled the old President, now
fighting for his political life against a popular adversary. As a candidate, Joubert was compelled
to resign as Commandant-General. Theiler hoped that he would be elected and his Staats-
artillerie friend, H. P. H. Pretorius, become Commandant-General. Things were going hardly
with him but with customary optimism, he passed it off as the inevitable lot of a pioneer. In

(% time, public opinion might slowly turn in his favour. Captain Hayes and his remarkable wife

had been a feature of the Second Pretoria Agricultural Show opened in May. The world-famous
authority had greatly impressed horse-owners with his published statements and his uncanny
skill in subjugating wild horses. Mischievous sceptics provided an untameable bucking broncho
for Mrs Hayes to ride but, a brilliant equestrienne, she kept her seat. ‘As such a fine riding feat
by any man, let alone a lady, had never before been seen by the assembled Boers’, her proud
husband wrote, ‘their habitual stolidity gave way to enthusiasm and they warmly praised and
cheered the Englishwoman. So pleased were they that the men of the Boer artillery which was
the only corps that wore uniform, always saluted my wife in military style whenever they saw
her.’

Theiler was there, ‘dressed like a gentleman’, chatting to everyone likely to prosper his cause,
even appearing in a photograph of the official party at the Grand Stand. Both Dutch and
English newspapers used the occasion to press the Government to establish a Department of

G2 Agriculture. A little later, the Volksraad rejected yet another petition from 135 Zoutpansberg

“" farmers. Month after month, Theiler wrote urgently to Lyss asking for instruments, glass

receptacles, syringes, vaccines, everything that would aid him in coming epidemics. It was all

on credit — he had little money and could send only a few pounds very rarely. His friend Zboril,

(:% he wrote Marie, was now ill unto death and though he still had clients in the Staatsartillerie,
his papers remained in the maw of bureaucracy.

Depression deepened during 1892. Unemployment became a dire problem, particularly in
Johannesburg where as many as 20 or 30 workless men a day would knock on the doors of

_clergymen (there were no welfare agencies). Casting around for cheaper accommeodation in
S July, Theiler joined a young Government-employed Swiss draughtsman, Max Schniter of
Zurich, in renting for £4 a month two first-floor unfurnished rooms from the German owning
Madeira House on the corner of Vermeulen and St Andries Streets — one as a bedroom and the
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forecasted the early fabrication of a substance deriving from the ‘microbe’ which, possibly in
attenuated form, could be inoculated protectively, as in Lung Sickness and Smallpox. The
Cape Agricultural Journal of the 11th August 1892 informed the world at large of his feat.
Borthwick would continue to help him in devising the magic substance.

Theiler struggled on, earning, he alleged, a regular £30 a month but paid most irregularly.
He was not above treating ‘Kaffirs’ for the interest of their cases. The Smallpox, rampant in
Swaziland, seemed to have been kept at bay by the quarantining of the Transvaal. In the middle
of October, Veldcornet Louis Botha of Vi "eid (then part of the Republic) reported that it
was rapidly increasing in his district with some fatalities. The President, campaigning in his area
announced that he would see for himself and, duly saluted by a commando with a feu de joie,
bravely visited the dorp on the 22nd October, The old man scored an electioneering success
but no word was spoken to him by Louis Botha, newly elected to the Volksraad. He was a
Joubert man.

Both Kruger and Joubert were ceremonially welcomed back to Pretoria with triumphal
arches, commandos and decorated streets at the end of their electioneering tours, closely
watched by the unoccupied Theiler, now at the end of his patience with the Government.
Glanders had broken out at the Artillery Camp and upon his pronouncing that it was incurable,
the Commandant H. P. N. Pretorius had said that if he could not treat it, he was no use to the
Rijdende Artillerie as a horse doctor. Glanders had then become as common among the cavalry
horses as fleas on a dog, Theiler wrote bitterly and he was still summoned to deal with their
miscellaneous diseases. He hoped and prayed that Joubert would be elected and Pretorius
appointed Commandant-General. Zboril had recovered. Soon after, he had a fit in the Pretoria
Club and ceased to be a force, ultimately resigning from the Staatsartillerie in suspicious cir-
cumstances despite a plea to remain signed by 800 citizens. Theiler circumspectly remained on
good terms with Pretorius.

Very slowly, he was making his way. The Boers’ care of their cattle appalled him. They left
it mostly to their ‘Kaffirs’ with instructions to pour down the beasts’ throats all sorts of
concoctions from linseed oil to paraffin and gunpowder. With Lung Sickness (causing thousands
of deaths every year), the ‘boys’ would filter through muslin the fluid found in a dead beast’s
thoracic cavity and soak strips of linen in it, then cut two slits in the skin near the base of the
tail of a healthy ox and thread a strip through them. The ‘serum’ entered the system of the ox,
rendering some degree of immunity, but produced an abscess on the site, causing the tail to
drop off - a disaster in a fly-infested country. Sometimes healthy oxen were forced to drink
the pleural fluid of a dead comrade. Edington, working happily in his new laboratory, was
manufacturing vast quantities of Lung Sickness vaccine at 1s. a tube, supplied to and gladly used
by Cape farmers while Soga inoculated thousands of cattle volunteered by real Kaffirs and sent
specimens of other diseases back to Edington for ‘micro-examination’.

In the Transvaal, the farm ‘boys’ were cattle-midwives and castrators paying scant heed to
infection. The Boers might keep a particularly watchful eye on their horses and, for any irre-
gularity, take them to the blacksmith or some local wiseacre. With the help of some ‘Afrikaner-
freunde’, Theiler at length succeeded in persuading the extensive cattle-owner D. J. E. Erasmus
to allow him to inoculate about 4,000 of his beasts against Sponsziekte. He did so fearfully.
If the vaccine Lyss had sent him were impotent or his one-handed technique clumsy and the
animals not successfully immunised, he would be ruined. Erasmus was a very influential man
and, Theiler wrote apprehensively, ‘the Boers would consider it no joke’. He had however had
several successes toward the end of the year, especially in operating on horses and castrations,
in difficult births, damaged hooves, wounds and sores. Sending only £10 a time against his
massive debts, he implored Lyss to supply to him a host of bacteriological requirements, urging
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brutish refusal of the Boers to utilise his skill, ‘I now marvel that he did not become completely
discouraged’, how he had at last made a start and in summer, might improve his position. They
should marry at once of course but could not afford it. Emma had already heard of a job at £4
a month and would enquire further. The cost of living in Pretoria was much higher than in
Switzerland. She made no mention of his hand.

Arnold trod on air. The love of his life was with him — competent, resolute, assured. No longer
would he face the future alone. Less than a month after her arrival — on the morning of Thursday
the 19th July 1893 - a telegram was delivered to him. It came from the District Surgeon of
Johannesburg, Dr Cecil Schulz asking him to come to Johannesburg for an interview with the
chairman of the Smallpox Committee, J. L. van der Merwe, Mining Commissioner. He left by
the next morning’s train.
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at great depth. Huge capitalisation was necessary to sink deep shafts, erect stamp-batteries and
process the ore by primitive method. Few shared his confidence and that of his employers in de-
veloping the industry and during 1892/93, it sank into deep depression through lack of working
capital. The slump of 1893 could have been fatal. ‘Speculative business was dead, shares in the
various companies were only saleable far below their value, some mines were idle for want of
funds and we were confronted’, said Phillips as chairman of the Chamber, ‘with the dishearten-
ing spectacle of much prosperity to a few companies, none to others and a relative absence of
profit to those indirectly dependent upon the industry.’

The problems that beset him were manifold. Wastage was high. The installation of the Mac-
Arthur-Forrest process of extracting gold which would largely eliminate it, had only recently
been commenced. The native labour essential to mining was irregularly supplied and reluctantly
rendered (the wretched emigrants from the native reserves at once took solace from hard liquor,
illicitly sold, and provided unreliable service). The white miners and their families, living in
isolation on lonely mines strung for 60 miles along the Reef, were bored and dissatisfied. The
townsmen, exacerbated by the multitudinous restrictions and ineptitudes of the Republic
Government became increasingly disaffected, combining their malaise (prompted by politicians)
into a demand for the vote. Seasonal epidemics, particularly of typhoid, enteric, diphtheria and
pneumonia, afflicted a population whose water supply was suspect, its sanitation primitive and
its civic conditions generally deplorable. A Gezondheits Comité or Health Committce of public-
spirited citizens had been formed under Government aegis and Phillips took his other problems
to the State Mining Commissioner, the engaging J. L. van der Merwe (married to a Scotswoman)
who in 1892 had increased his staff by a Mines Health Officer. In the paradoxic manner of the
times, he was Sir Drummond Dunbar, seventh baronet of ancient lineage but without lands. No
one looked askance at a Scottish aristocrat employed as a Republican servant. He was persona
grata with all.

The health of the community, particularly of the black and white labour force of the mines,
was universally of primary concern at a time when the golden goose was having protracted
difficulty in delivering its egg. The Smallpox ‘scare’, as it was hopefully called, continued to
hover around the whole of Africa South. By the end of 1892, it had reached the Northern Trans-
vaal, carried, it was believed, by wandering natives. In January 1893, the prestige liner Scot was
quarantined in Port Elizabeth with four cases including her doctor and some days later, another
ship Tartar brought cases to Durban. Then Smallpox appeared in Johannesburg itself. On
the 26th January, an English emigrant F. Hunter who had travelled on Tartar, was diagnosed
a sufferer and rushed into isolation. Doom could well face the struggling Golden City.

So frightful a prospect galvanised both the Government and the community. The Assistant
Landdrost N. van den Berg kept in constant telegraphic communication (there was no telephone
line) with his superiors in Pretoria. The District Surgeon Dr Cecil Schulz and a colleague had
diagnosed Smallpox but upon the patient improving, van den Berg called for further advice.
There were 35 doctors of all nationalities in Johannesburg and in their manner, they divided.
The Germans said the disease was only Chicken pox but the English backed Schulz (a South
African of German origin) and confirmed Smallpox. Van den Berg was then empowered to
spend money and ensure isolation. The wretched patient was confined to a tent guarded by
Kaffirs behind the New Gaol on Hospital Hill (later The Fort), no other accommodation being
available. Schulz and van den Berg demanded a ‘lazaretto’. Seriously alarmed, the Government
immediately sent its Public Works official, S. Wierda, to select a site for such a building and
authorised the appointment of a special Smallpox Committee.

The patient, expected to expire in his tent in frigid weather, surprisingly improved and on the
30th Yanuary, the local Health Committee under its altruistic chairman, Edward Hancock, met
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The situation now seriously menaced the mining industry whose leaders freely discussed in
their Chamber their belief that the disease was not Smallpox at all and that they were being un-
necessarily hampered. Quarantining had been ordained by the Government, yet the responsible
committee was unable to obtain the funds necessary to implement it. When Dr Leyds refused to
advance an urgently-needed £2,500 without detailed specifications and declared that the money
should be obtained from the mines, the fiery Hanau expressed himself in committee with charac-
teristic vehemence. His colleagues, all non-mining men, were entirely with him and on the after-
noon of the same day (19th May 1893), the Smallpox Committee’s deputation of van der Merwe
Hanau and Hancock left by train for Pretoria to confront Leyds. Their case was irrefutable. The
policy of quarantining was abandoned, the Government would immediately proclaim Compul-
sory Vaccination beginning with natives (by resolution Article 281 of the Executive Council of
the 23rd May), and the Committee was given £5,000 to get on with the work. The regulations
were gazetted on the 29th May.

On paper, the situation seemed to have been met. Large quantities of vaccine had been im-
ported from Germany and England but many doctors regarded it with suspicion, preferring the
primitive arm-to-arm technique. It was subsequently alleged that the imported vaccine became
impotent on the journey and was useless. The ever-progressive Cape Government had foreseen
the emergency and Edington had begun producing vast quantities of vaccine from calves in his
laboratory in Graham’s Town. To combat its viscosity (if too thick, it tended not to penetrate
scarification of the skin) and to enhance its capacity to travel in great heat and other conditions,
he added a proportion of two/thirds glycerine, later diminished to one half. He purveyed his
product in two forms — in small tubes containing a large number of fluid doses, and on ivory
points or ‘needles’ on which the vaccine had been dried. Such points could be rubbed on the
scarified skin. Before the Transvaal Proclamation was gazetted, Bleksley had reported to the
Johannesburg Health Committee that there was a shortage of vaccine although the mines
held large imported supplies, and was authorised to telegraph an order to the Cape Govern-
ment.

The Smallpox Committee continued to meet every day in Johannesburg, now without Carl
Hanau who, debilitated by his multifarious duties, went on a six-week holiday to ‘recruit’. It
still paid 350 white guards £3 a week and 300 natives £1 (both given to intoxication upon receipt
of wages) but with compulsory vaccination, they were soon dismissed. The shortage of vaccine,
always of variable quality from whatever source, continued. The epidemic, so far from dwind-
ling, now began to increase and to include some distinguished victims (although in its whole
course, only 19 died). The Health Committee left the problem to its sub-committee of which its
chairman was a member, pronouncing only that no European was to be vaccinated arm-to-arm
from a native and that adequate calf-lymph supplies were available and being used by its two
official vaccinators. Drs Cuffe and John van Niekerk.

These gentlemen held strong views (some of the lymph, they said, ‘was little better than pure
glycerine’) but not as strong as those of the District Surgeon, Dr Cecil Schulz. He stated roundly
that the lymph supplied by the Government was only 109, successful and some specially import-
ed from Natal had attained only 15%. All the vaccinators had complained. He demanded a
satisfactory supply and insisted that the Smallpox Committee establish a ‘lymph farm’ with
calves to produce effective vaccine. [t was a stunning proposal and the chairman J. L. van der
Merwe, temporised. He asked Dunbar to investigate what it involved and the secretary E. Stahl
to collect information for the next day’s meeting. That night, the nascent Medical Society re-
solved to recommend that vaccination be made compulsory for whites as well as blacks. The
need for reliable lymph would increase, especially as Smallpox notoriously intensified in winter.

Sir Drummond consulted Cammack who pronounced that heifer calves were the most suitable.
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year. It took a whole day and all his influence to extract them. On Thursday the 20th May, he
took the train to Johannesburg, seeking lodgings with his friends the Ritters. On Friday morning,
dressed like a gentleman, he met Dr Schulz in the office of the Mining Commissioner.

* * *

<55 Bull-necked and of Teutonic aspect, Cecil Schulz came from an adventurous family. His

N

father, a doctor (deceased early in 1891 in Durban) had emigrated to the eastern Cape Colony in
1857 as a member of the British German Legion, moving thence to Natal where he became a
noted public figure and borough medical officer. He had four sons of whom three became physic-

. ians, Aurel and Cecil claiming the most public attention. Trained in Berlin, Cecil practised in
Pietermaritzburg, Kimberley, Barberton and Swaziland before settling in Johannesburg in 1890
where, becoming District Surgeon, he shrewdly bought property in the main street, on Hospital
Hill and in nearby country at Orange Grove. He never neglected an opportunity to earn an
extra-mural penny nor fell into the trap of matrimony. Habitually dressed in a white coat and
wearing leather gloves when in saddle or cart, he became a well-known character. Theiler con-
fronted a successful and determined man, if somewhat given to self-interest.

Schulz’ version of their discussion, given at the meeting of the Smallpox Committee that night
(all the members worked at full stretch during the day and voluntarily at night) was highly col-
oured to suit his own book and outraged Theiler. His qualifications, Schulz said, having seen
Theiler’s papers, were satisfactory and he had had great experience in the growing of lymph
(now in even shorter supply). A lengthy and detailed discussion followed in which, answering
van den Berg, Theiler stated with transparent honesty that the better vaccine that had come from
Pretoria was not his but imported. He himself had used five calves but with less success than in
Switzerland though he had produced about 500 tubes in three weeks. He proposed infecting
three or four calves every day, producing 100 tubes each within two or three weeks. He asked
very pointedly whether the Committee wanted pure vaccine or glycerinated for preservation.
Dunbar questioned whether a month would be sufficient to prove the experiment and Theiler
assured the Committee that he would supply ‘lots of lymph’ in that time. On the motion of van
den Berg, it was agreed that he be employed for one month from the following Monday (two
days thence) at a salary of £50, all facilities in premises, calves, labour, etc to be supplied with
the assistance of a sub-committee consisting of the chairman (van der Merwe), Hancock, Schulz
and Dunbar. (Significantly, Carl Hanau was away at the time.) Theiler was in. Schulz had hinted
at permanent employment.

No train could take him quickly enough to Pretoria to tell Emma, now haplessly installed at
the Constangon’s farm at Les Marais. He was in a state of euphoria, his mind leaping toward
the fantastic possibilities which the situation could present — solution of his financial problems,
marriage, consorting with the high and the mighty, doing them a service, earning their gratitude,
State appointment, riches, fame, ultimate retirement in leisured comfort in die alte Heimat.
Throughout his life, Theiler’s reach was further than his grasp.

He had only the weekend in which to settle his affairs in Pretoria, leaving on the Sunday for
Johannesburg. The break would be final. It was a condition of his employment that, like Schulz,
he would be allowed to practise privately and if the position were not permanent, he proposed
putting up his plate on the strength of his fame as a vaccine-producer and of all the clients he
would get to know in the meantime. Somehow he found a moment to write to his parents — ‘1
am emigrating today to Johannesburg to stay there. I have been appointed Director of the In-
stitute of Animal Vaccination at £50 a month — 1,250 francs!’ and he could not forbear to add —

> ‘my way is open as a result of iron energy and faith in myself’. Later he described himself as
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would stand or fall by his first consignment. The calves were not codperating. The pustules failed
to appear as they had in Pretoria. Then Carl Hanau came back.

Rampaging into the Committee’s discussion, he scoffed (as the medical profession did) at the
‘lymph farm’ and insisted on the vast importation of vaccine from England. At least, he said, a
committee of five doctors should inspect what Theiler was doing ~ hundreds of people might
otherwise die. Dunbar snapped his fingers in derision of what such a committee might do ‘medd-
ling with calves’. Yan der Merwe remarked that English lymph was bad. Hanau insisted. An
order for 1,000 tubes from Germany was placed with Loewenstein and Mosenthals were told to
get more from England. Within ten days of his appointment, Theiler’s position was gravely pre-
carious. Schulz himself might not be able to save him. In early August, the weather was ‘vile’
and people were clamouring to be vaccinated.

Theiler was undeterred and made studious recourse to his book. Reporters came to see him in
his laboratory-stable with its protesting calves. He answered them evenly and inoculated one
which ‘took’ on the fourth day. On the morrow — 3rd August 1893 — he would supply the Com-
mittee with 500 doses drawn from his first calf and would then inoculate three more. On the follow-
ing day, the calf was killed and three doctors ~ Schulz, van Gorkum and Kanin - testified that it
was free from disease. Dr Bourke specifically examined its lungs with the same result. Dunbar
reported it all to the Committee. Hanau was confounded. Schulz proposed immediately to issue
the new lymph for vaccination purposes. Hanau and Dunbar demurred. They felt it should first
be tested. Schulz was instructed to use it on 20 (later 60) persons and report the results. Theiler
continued producing. In the town, more yellow flags were flying.

Schulz had told him that if he were successful, he could become the Government Veterinary
Surgeon in Johannesburg. He was missing Emma whom he had not seen for three weeks. He
moved from his temporary lodging to the house of his friend, the plumber Jakob Ritter who
lived on the corner of Market and Kruis Streets, close to the laboratory-stable, and rented a
room from him. Ritter was president of the tottering Schweizerverein Helvetia in Johannesburg
which on the Ist August had celebrated the National Day, dancing till dawn. Theiler had not
attended. His days were too full and too long. At work at 6.30 in the morning in darkness, he
inoculated one calf, drew serum from another, bottled and packaged it, killed and examined
donor calves while supervising the whole operation and suffering constant visits from Schulz and
Dunbar and newspaper reporters. In bitter cold and twilight, he returned to his lodging at 5.30
p.m., worn out but indomitably hopeful, defiant of his detractors, even vainglorious. His
triumph would be at the end of August when he sent money to his parents from his first month’s
salary.

Within a few days, the Smallpox Committee heard the result of Schulz’ vaccination tests with
Theiler’s lymph. They were 91.3 % successful, as good, if not better than Edington’s which gave
‘splendid results’. Theiler’s friends at court pressed the advantage home. Schulz hinted that
Theiler might be leaving but, challenged by the canny Hanau, could provide no evidence. Van
der Merwe intervened to say they would keep him as long as they needed him. Dunbar moved
that he be retained for three months and a more suitable place in the country be found for his
operations. The chairman clinched the issue by stating that as Mining Commissioner, he would
place property on Hospital Hill at Theiler’s disposal. The converted Carl Hanau proposed a
sub-committee consisting of van der Merwe, Schulz and Dunbar to arrange it.

The newspapers gloated - SMALLPOX COMMITTEE COMING TO THEIR SENSES and
SCHULZ SCORES: ‘LYMPH FROM THE FARM". Theiler was not only in but established.
He spent the weekend in Pretoria with Emma, now fully accepted by his family. They would get
married soon. She had spent seven miserable weeks on the Les Marais farm and a week in town
with the Sandoz family whom she liked as well-born and cultured people. Now, while the Con-
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Chianti on tables decorated with roses and other flowers, was held at the Commel
owned by a Swiss, where Theiler had first lodged in 1891. The ‘honeymoon’ took ti
an immediate three-hour journey by horsecart to the famous Waterfall near Krugersc
the happy couple and two witnesses enjoyed a picnic and got stuck coming back. E
but exhausted. Arnold and Emma finally reached their house at one in the morning
Swiss were already installed as boarders (Emma later found that they ate her out of
home and then let the room only). At 5 of the same morning, Arnold was up and a
clamant calves on Hospital Hill.

His future was still indeterminate. As the-weather warmed, the Smallpox decline
official appointment must soon come to an end. His plans were clear and Emma cod
them. The 4-roomed house was large enough to permit him a ‘laboratory’ where, a:
sea oended, he intended bringing his continuous Horse ..ckness work to succ

- clusion with Erama’s help. She did everything for him, he wrote proudly (but from
she refused to shave him). They had no servant. Emma washed, cleaned, searched the

~1¢ the cheapest provisions (nothing was prepared as in Europe, she complained, and t
longer to get ready), cooked for four, prepared laboratory cultures in agar-agar, ge
other substances, cut sections, recorded results and at night, desperately operated 1

72 machine. In the month before their marriage, she had made nearly £8 from dress-m

now, planning to buy their own house, they needed money even more.

Arnold’s own income was continuously spent on pathological and bacteriological
which, once more in his good graces, he implored his father to order and send. He we
cerned with his forthcoming private practice (he already had several clandestine cli
with his researches into the killer diseases. Nothing disturbed his conviction that he a
solve them. Zschokke’s interest and encouragement were stimulating. Powerful to
prospect of riches. He was planning to derive from an animal immune to Horse Sicknes

12 a donkey, a serum potent enough to immunise horses. Zschokke had sent him the
equipment.

Early in November 1893, van der Merwe instructed Dunbar to prepare a report on tl
Farm’. The epidemic was ‘dying out’ and its closure must be considered. Dunbar sub
pressive figures. The total cost had been £626.19s.7d. of which £150 had been paid Mr”
three months’ service. The vaccine supplied and on hand valued at 2s.6d. a tube totalle
12s.2d. or a credit balance of £599.12s.7d. If it had been imported at the current price «
tube, it would have cost £1,100. The Republican Government was sensitive on the poi
stress, it had imported from the Cape Colonial Government alone 9,375 tubes pr¢

]S Edington (whose laboratory it subsidised with £350 per annum as did the Natal Gox
and resented its dependence on the Imperial connection.

When van der Merwe put the question of retaining Theiler, Carl Hanau with the
attitude typical of the concerted mining industry, at once replied that the Governm
wish to continue the work as a national institution. Before abolishing the ‘farm’, h
the facts should be reported to the Government, leaving it to them to decide whether -
ed to carry on with it for the benefit of the country. ‘Ja!” agreed W. E. Bok, familia
background. Cautiously van der Merwe proposed that the town’s doctors should b
endorse the local lymph as being as good as Edington’s for submission to the Go
but Hanau would have none of it and it was resolved to forward Dunbar’s report a
Theiler would be retained until the Government replied. The Government did not :
the laudatory Press publicity was excellent for his image.

 His friends took further action. Dunbar prepared another report embodying ‘entire
able’ medical opinion. He stated that the ‘farm’ had been a success medically, commer
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nonetheless the worst time to venture on his own, Some might patronise him but few would be
able to pay. He was taking a great risk but his mind and his heart were on other things. From
January onward, Horse Sickness would ravage the land and he must be ready with his serum and
at least make observations. When winter came, the Smallpox, evidently only dormant, might re-
commence and the production of vaccine again fall into his hands. On the Health Committee
and the expiring Smallpox Sub-Committee, Schulz was still fighting for the permanent retention
of the ‘Lymph Farm’ by the Government, vehemently supported by Hanau and the South
African Mining Journal, creature of the Corner House. If Schulz succeeded, he would at last
have State appointment. There were even brighter portents. On the Order Paper of the May meet-
ing of the Volksraad was legislation for the founding of an Agricultural Department with veter-
inary services. He had influential friends to support his candidature as State Veterinarian. It was
of the utmost importance to keep abreast of the latest scientific developments, particularly bac-
teriological, and of every move of his rivals.

Edington had left his laboratory to do a six-month stint as Medical Officer of Health of the
Cape Government to determine whether it were the more desirable post, serving during his term
on a Leprosy Commission. The aging Hutcheon hopeless ranted against his lack of research
facilities and warned his Government that the lethal Lamziekte endemic in the Northern Cape
was now spreading. ‘The farmers expect the Veterinary Surgeons to know all about these ob-
scure diseases’, he wrote, ‘whereas these officers know only that they are different from any-
thing they have ever met before” and then, poetically —~ ‘Nature does not reveal her secrets to a
haphazard enquirer; she must be closely questioned and her replies require to be verified by test
experiments.’ Theiler knew all about the Cape Agricultural Department. He subscribed to its
Journal (full of valuable overseas information collected by Hellier) and began a private cor-
respondence in German with Otto Henning on Hutcheon’s staff.

He was not so knowledgeable about Natal where, under the informed direction of the new
Governor, Sir Walter Hely-Hutchinson, Wiltshire had been sent overseas for six months to
study animal diseases, notably Redwater (then afflicting the Colony) in the United States. Sir
Walter was troubled too by another of Nature’s secrets — a cattle disease that the Zulus called
Nagana which killed thousands every year. The young veterinarian Frank van der Plank
M.R.C.V.S. whom Wiltshire had left in charge, could hardly deal with it but Hely-Hutchinson
had other resources. He required the British Army to second to him at Pietermaritzburg a
medical officer whom he had known in 1888 when Lieutenant-Governor at Malta. During 1894,
Captain David Bruce and his wife came to Natal and Theiler knew nothing of it. He was ab-
sorbed in the study of Kitts” Bacteriologie and other works, dutifully despatched by his father,
and experimenting with a gas incubator, section-cutters, various stains to reveal bacilli and other
apparatus arriving every week to equip his laboratory. Emma, bent over her sewing machine,
would be called away to deal with his cultures of bacteria or to mount a specimen on a slide or
note a new ‘microbe’ excitingly revealed. She was already pregnant.

Even in his salaried days, Theiler had written — ‘competition with English colleagues is fierce’
and when, in January 1894, he publicly intruded on their field, it intensified. Cammack forestall-
ed him with a large and expensive advertisement rendering small and insignificant Theiler’s sub-
sequent appearance, using Ritter’s postbox number. He made his debut in The Star (at heavy
cost) on the 17th January 1894 with

A. THEILER
VETERINARY SURGEON
Diploma: Veterinary College of Zurich and Veterinary Officer of Switzerland
Late Consulting Veterinary Surgeon to the Artillery Camp in Pretoria and
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CHAPTER TEN

INTO THE WORLD 1898-1899

SuccEess HAD its disadvantages. The Government had openhandedly indulged Theiler — ‘I
can complain about nothing as everything which I had until now to request, I have obtained
and my laboratory could in time become a centre of real research work.” In his dual capacity
as civil Veterinary Surgeon and military Horse Doctor, he could also be ordered north to the
‘war’ being conducted against Magato or east to the threatened military action against the Swazis
in both of which the Staatsartillerie were engaged. It was his constant fear until Smallpox
assumed overwhelming proportions and nothing could be more important. Theiler’s white
7 staff rose to 10 of whom 8 were Swiss. Tens of thousands of tubes of vaccine were produced,
packed and despatched. Early in October 1898, he presented the 100,000th tube in a cased silver
box to Landdrost Schutte who used the occasion to speak appreciatively of his work. While the
winter lasted, the output reached 135,000 tubes delivered widespread but with the onset of warm
weather, production sharply dwindled and Theiler could devote himself to his private affairs.

Contrarily, Emma was enceinte again and bending before the blast of three exceptionally
lively toddlers. Hans the eldest, aged four, had always been ‘like quicksilver’ and now Margaret
took after him. On Arnold’s combined salary of £500 plus £300 with allowances, they could
afford a nurse and on the 1st October, a Swiss factotum Mathilda Sprehn was engaged. Her fa-
mily had immigrated during the Diamond Rush and, later ruined by Rinderpest, had come to
Pretoria where Arnold had employed one of her brothers at Daspoort. Mathilda greatly lightened
Emma’s load.

Affluence and security after years of grinding poverty and an indeterminate future, released
other desires. In a move that shocked his father, Arnold bought a building plot for £275 on bare
veld near his laboratory at Daspoort and commissioned the building, not of a corrugated iron

_shanty, but of a solid brick house on stone foundations costing £900. His parents infuriated

5 Fmma by considering it culpable extravagance. The strong bond between the Swiss which had
saved Theiler from starvation and failure in his first dreadful years in Pretoria, was equally
marked in him. No Swiss was ever turned from his door and even in his impoverished days in

Lt Johannesburg, there had been ‘always a good table and a cool drink’ for the many despairing
compatriots who gladly called. At the moment when he was himself successful, economic con-
ditions were disastrous and men of every nationality including Transvalers loitered about the
streets and bars of Pretoria hoping for work. He did what he could to help his fellows, warmly
supported by Emma who had a keen sense of obligation, even to lending them money from his
small savings. He had lent £50 to the very man pledged to pay him £250 on Danysz’ promissory
note and had stood surety for £160 for another Swiss who had failed to make good. By the same
token, the building of the house (which would eliminate the journeys between Les Marais and
Daspoort by horse or by cart) was enabled by a loan from Tel Sandoz of £700 at 79, repayable

6 in three years. To diminish his indebtedness, Theiler planned to sell his painfully collected library
of technical works to the Z.A.R. Government as soon as his bookseller Sauerlander furnished
the invoices. They were too long in coming.

The house was not so much a symbol of success as an urgent necessity. Work then being very
scarce and much labour available, it was completed in less than three months. The family moved
from Les Marais over the New Year in heat and dust at a time excruciating for Emma. Three
weeks later, she gave birth to a second son on the 30th January 1899. ‘Arnold says he must be

(p called Max’, she wrote submissively, having endured the same authoritarianism thrice before.

‘_\
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The household now consisted of seven — parents, four children and the indispensable Mathilda.
The baby would rival his father in worldwide renown.

It was contrary to Theiler’s nature to engage in anything half-heartedly and now, arrivé in
a professional (but not a social) sense, he played as hard as he worked. As president of the
Schweizerverein Alpina, he organised innumerable occasions — picnics at Sandoz’ farm La
Solitude at Derdepoort with national dress, sports, wrestling, gymnastics, much beer and music:
al fresco sausage feasts; wild paper-chases on horseback; shooting competitions with revolvers
and carbines; and the like. He imported the cartridges himself via Lourengo Marques and made
a small profit on retailing them. At Les Marais, Theiler had been happy to entertain a young man
of superior type — Wilhelm Kollmann, son of the professor of Anatomy at Basle, who, a student
of agriculture, was gaining practical experience close at hand on the farm of Frikkie Eloff,
son-in-law of Paul Kruger. They proposed collaborating in a book on South African livestock
and saw much of each other, sometimes practicing revolver shooting together. Convivial to a
degree, Theiler enjoyed company of any kind and his dwelling at all times never lacked visitors,
great though the burden on Emma.

As Kruger sat on his stoep on the 10th October 1898 receiving congratulations on his 74th
birthday from friends and officials (including for the first time the youthful State Attorney J. C.
Smuts and his wife Isie), Theiler was supervising the first Swiss Prize Shoot which was so success-
ful as to demand repetition (he won the third prize). He found time to resume relations with his
family at Frick — with his beloved sister Marie who had drifted out of his consciousness and was
now getting married, and with his brother Alfred, a college student of 17 for whom he continued
to feel responsible. He worried about Alfred’s health and whether he was learning to play the
violin for which he had offered to pay, or needed a bicycle. He even wrote painstakingly in ex-
cellent English (for practice) to Alfred, giving brotherly advice on the dangers of compulsory
drinking in student societies, the need for exercise to maintain a strong and healthy body, and
other wise counsels. He wrote from bitter experience, trying to protect Alfred from his own near-
disaster.

There was ample evidence of moral ruin around him. The cancerous effect of the Govern-
ment’s giving aid to the holy afflicted burghers instead of promoting relief schemes or otherwise
making them work for it, had become a feature of Pretoria and the Transvaal at large. Loud
and clear from the pulpit of the Capital’s Dutch Reformed Church on Sunday the 2nd October
1898 came the voice of the much-revered Ds H. S. Bosman, courageously dragging the Republic’s
skeleton out of its cupboard and dangling it before a shocked public. He spoke of the 300 brothels
in Johannesburg and its 1,500 prostitutes, the majority of whom were daughters of Africander
parents. ‘They arrived at that state through aimlessly parading the streets, reluctant to earn a
respectable and honourable living . . . There were many cafés in Pretoria whose counters were a
mere farce — an excuse or a “blindfold” for what was perpetrated behind them . . . If you apply
for a girl for domestic service’, he went on, ‘her mother would say “Is my child a kaffir?””

The people were strangers to the maxim that labour was elevating and ennobling and no de-
gradation, Bosman pronounced. The burghers commonly referred to as ‘indigent’ were in
possession of the free use of their limbs — healthy hands and legs — and the awful mistake of
continuing to give to them was now apparent. Before the Post Office, the Government Buildings
and Landdrost’s Court, clusters of the so-called poor whites were daily seen, killing time.
Assuming the attitude of millionaires, they bitterly complained of the hardness of the times.
‘Our own people give one the impression that they are constantly labouring under severe attacks
of rheumatism. They drag themselves along rather than walk. They are neither diligent, manly,
willing, nor alert’, and, Ds Bosman repeated, foreigners gladly take the jobs which they could
have had.
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In all the sizeable towns of the Transvaal, peripheral ‘Burghersdorps’ or shanty towns of
indigent burghers had appeared. The most their inhabitants would do in conformity with their
white dignity was a little transport work with donkey carts. Ds Bosman’s advice was that they
should go back to the land and work with their hands; but that was ‘kaffir work’ and no one

| 2. accepted it. Soon after, the Volksraad again rejected the proposed Department of Agriculture.
It was a sobering scene; but as much as it inspired Theiler to deliver a cordial lecture to Alfred,
it rejoiced his heart to know himself secure.

{3 The confidence of his superiors, particularly Schutte, and the success of his laboratory sent
Theiler’s ambitions vaulting again into the empyrean. His passion was to keep abreast of scien-
tific developments and to qualify for the title which the newspapers already gave him — ‘State

| 4 Bacteriologist’. Since the days of Danysz and Bordet, the Government had paid for ‘certain

|5 instruments’ for him; but now he needed more sophisticated equipment such as a Blood
Corpuscle Counter and other bacteriological aids. Through Watkins-Pitchford with whom he
maintained correspondence, he remained in communication with Major David Bruce and his
work on Nagana. The Rinderpest, in destroying immeasurable numbers of wild animals, had
diminished the menace of tsetse flies which had fed on them and now, lacking a profusion of
hosts, they slowly disappeared. Theiler was fascinated by a cattle disease whose causative try-
panosome was conveyed by an intervening insect. Tropical diseases of that kind were almost
unknown in Europe and Zschokke and his colleagues would be interested. Bruce had sent him

~ specimens and as soon as the Smallpox pressure lessened, he returned to his experiments with

l (> Horse Sickness and Nagana.

The destruction of oxen had re-enhanced the importance of the horse, particularly to military
authorities throughout Southern Africa. Theiler thought he was tantalisingly near a solution
of the Sickness with serum-therapy but always was thwarted. Not so Edington who pursued the
same paths with undaunted optimism and chronic impetuosity. On the 8th November 1898, he

| T telegraphed Cape Town - ‘I have much pleasure in announcing that as a result of my investiga-
tions into Horse Sickness, 1 have at length been able to produce an attenuated virus which can
be preserved and kept for long periods unaltered’. It was, he claimed, effective in all but a few

|% cases and, duly interviewed by the Press, was reported as stating ‘it will make Horse Sickness a

|9 thing of the past’. His rivals elsewhere were openly sceptical. Pitchford, invoking the name of
Theiler who frequently wrote to him and was then dealing with his 269th experimental horse,
published his doubts. A thorough experimenter in all diseases (the broken Hutcheon had some-

2.0 how written in his own hand to advise him where to get cattle completely free from Redwater for

2_\ his longstanding investigation in which Theiler too was engaged), Pitchford felt that additional
talent should be addressed to the problem and applied to the British Army for the services of
Surgeon-Major Bruce. With thousands of horses and oxen in its cavalry and transport sections,
it was in the Army’s interest to second him. Bruce began work with Pitchford at Allerton in
December 1898. The Natal Government had voted two sums — £2,000 and £750 — to subsidise
their investigations of both diseases.

It was typical of Theiler that while converting Daspoort from the production of Smallpox lymph
to Quarter Evil (Sponsziekte) inoculation and continuing his Redwater, Nagana and Horse
Sickness experiments, he should keep an alert eye on scientific journals and the topical Press.
He had noted the incidence of Bubonic Plague in Madagascar and Mauritius which maintained
a regular traffic with South African ports. It was part of his desire for recognition as ‘State
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Bacteriologist’ that on the Sth December 1898, he wrote to the State Secretary suggesting that
in view of a possible epidemic, he should be sent at once to the Pasteur Institute in Paris to study
the manufacture of a vaccine against Plague. Passing note was taken, Pretoria being preoccupied
with the triumphal return of General Joubert and his forces from the Magato war in the north
and with looming problems as the political situation moved toward climax. Theiler’s request

‘2 2 might have been met had not the medical profession intervened and persuaded the Government

that it was their affair. There was however some public concern when cases appeared in Portu-

2Ly guese East Africa and the Pretoria Press published an apprehensive leader; but according to

26
21

2H

subsequent editorial comment, the Government was apparently satisfied that Theiler could deal
with anything that might eventuate. His warning had been ignored and his hopes frustrated.
Nonetheless he conscientiously studied all scientific literature on the subject and planned to pre-
pare himself for other possible bacteriological invasions.

It was a difficult time for him. To help convert his vaccine factory into a research institute,
he had only lay assistants, all Swiss, some with a little knowledge of experimental techniques
gained at Waterval and Belfast. In the time intervening on his qualifying at Zurich, these tech-
niques had been widely and finely developed. He had himself to master them and the concomitant
apparatus before he could train his staff reliably to operate them and faithfully record results.
At the end of the year with Emma about to give birth, they were moving into the new house
which had no water supply beyond rain-water tanks. Daspoort itself stood in a bog and was
highly unhygienic until the Government laid a pipeline, with a sideline to the house, which
enabled the stables and postmortem room at least to be sluiced.

Theiler (playing enthusiastically on holidays and weekends with the members of the Schwei-
zerverein) worked long hours — from 7 in the morning until 1 p.m. when he went home for
lunch, and from 2 in the afternoon until 6. At night, he generally went back to the laboratory
after supper to assure himself that everything was in order. It angered Emma that his parents,
sublimely unknowing, criticised him as an irresponsible playboy. She herself marvelled that he
maintained his courage and energy. He was entirely alone in his efforts in matters beyond the
support of Schutte and a distant benevolent Government. He envied Pitchford, now assisted
by the brilliant Bruce operating the latest techniques in investigating Horse Sickness — observing
periods of incubation, postmortem appearances, qualitative blood counts, specific gravities and
general microscopic work. Pitchford had written him of his distinguished colleague’s remarkable
exactness of method and powers of trained observation; but it was Theiler who had the experi-
ence — over many years privately and finally with Bordet at Belfast. Pitchford asked if they might
consult him and in the paradoxic camaraderie of bellicose times, both Governments agreed.
Significantly, neither investigator wished recourse to the politically-congenial Edington.

On the 17th January 1899, Bruce and Pitchford arrived in Pretoria and called on Theiler at
Daspoort. For the first time, Theiler met the man whom he had learnt to revere — a typical Eng-
lish military officer in A.V.S. major’s uniform, thick-set, jowly and direct in approach and man-
ner. Theiler admired Bruce’s methods and his work on Malta Fever and Nagana. Bruce, looking
at what he had done with Horse Sickness, was impressed. As scientists, they took to each other
warmly. Pitchford, standing on the sidelines, recorded the rencontrement — ‘Mr Theiler received
us with great kindness and interest and placed before us without reserve the bulky records of the
work already done in this disease by himself and his colleagues. These records — the temperature
charts alone, when joined, being over a mile in length — showed the great and indefatigable efforts
which had been made by these scientists, the results of whose work, while exciting our admiration
and praise, filled us with the gravest apprehension for our own success in the same field. The
amount of work undertaken was enormous but the deductions almost nil.’

The results of Pitchford’s own work on Horse Sickness had been destroyed in the Town Hall
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fire; but with Bruce’s help, he hoped to make a new attack and greater progress. Hardly had
they returned to Pietermaritzburg after three days at Daspoort than Bruce was reclaimed by the
Army in ominous circumstances.

In the sphere of Science, all was amity. At that moment with the Black Death menacing the
whole of Southern Africa, the Z.A.R. convened an Inter-State Conference of medical officers.
The Cape sent its Colonial Secretary Dr T. N. te Water and (in the absence of Dr George
Turner M.O.H.) Dr A. J. Gregory; Natal was represented by Dr J. Hyslop; the Free State by
Dr A. E. W. Ramsbottom; Portuguese East Africa by Dr Maartens; and the Transvaal by
Pretoria’s M.O.H. Dr Gordon Messum. They conferred happily and went their ways. But in
the sphere of Inter-State political relations, matters were fast moving toward crisis and every
English military man was ordered to action stations. Bruce and his lady were lost to research
and concerned only with coming conflict. In the stress of event, the Z.A.R. Secretariat for Forei gn
Affairs paid no attention when the Imperial German Consul in Pretoria on the 23rd January
1899 formally advised the staging of the 7th International Veterinary Conference in Baden-
Baden in August and enquired whether a delegate would be sent. Theiler was concerned with

22 the arrival of Max and making abject apologies to Schutte for incurring unauthorised expendi-
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ture on his laboratory.

Routinely at work on Monday the 13th February, a message reached him to come at once to
Pretoria to see the State Secretary. Reitz received him personally in his office in the great Govern-
ment Building and told him that the District Surgeon at Middelburg on the Delagoa Bay line had
reported two suspected cases of Bubonic Plaque in ‘koolies’ (Indian labourers). He was to 2o
immediately to investigate them and to report as soon as possible. Apart from the danger of a
general epidemic, Reitz had his eye on the gold mining industry, now struggling out of its long
depression with high output and a boom in its shares. The empty coffers of the Republic would
be replenished and prosperity return to the land; but all would be lost if Plague interfered with
native mine labour,

Theiler left by train the following day and was met at Middelburg by the District Surgeon,
Dr Pittet who had been a fellow student for the short time he had been at Berne. They had re-
sumed acquaintance in Johannesburg in 1895 when Theiler was elected president of the Schwei-
zerverein Helvetia. Together with many Swiss immigrants, Pittet — ‘a really charming man’,
Theiler had written — had come to the Transvaal in search of employment. Now they rejoiced
together and combined their professional skills. One of the koolies had died and after his post-
mortem, Pittet had made cultures in agar-agar which revealed a bacterium he was unable to
identify. Despite his studies of scientific literature, Theiler was not prepared to pronounce
either one way or another so they injected the suspected virus into rats and guinea pigs. While it
did its work, Theiler went to the nearby Kaapmuiden to examine another koolie supposed to be
suffering from Plague. On his return to Middelburg, the rats and guinea pigs showed no symp-
toms and he and Pittet agreed that the koolies had not died from Bubonic Plague. Meanwhile
a “scare’ had become widespread and numerous quasi-experts with experience of Plague in the
East had made weighty pronouncements.

Returning to Pretoria on the 24th February, Theiler made a careful report to Reitz stating that
although the bacilli in the blood of the deceased Indian to some extent resembled the bubo
bacillus, as far as his opinion gained in reading up the subject went, they were not identical.
It had forcibly been impressed on him that if he were indeed to be ‘the State Bacteriologist’
as the newspapers freely called him, he should have a collection of cultures of various disease-
bacilli both for reference and for manufacturing vaccines. He had already bought some directly
from the Pasteur Institute in Paris but now he asked his father, for the sake of speed in delivery,
to order a long list of others including Bubonic Plaque. This last, he said, could be ‘dead’ to
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avoid the danger of infection as he wished only to see how it looked; but the others must be
living so that he could cultivate and work with them.

The same idea simultancously struck the visionary ‘Corner House’ mining magnates in
Johannesburg. Relieved at their escape from Plague (for which they had specially arranged the
importation of an expert, Dr Honebrook who arrived too late to pronounce on it), they remained
fearful of future assaults on their labour. In a curious scheme, they approached their colleagues
with a proposal to found a Bacteriological Institute.

The proponents of the MacArthur-Forrest process by which the mining industry had been
saved in 1893 through improved extraction of gold, brought suit against it in 1895/96 for in-
fringement of patent. The Chamber of Mines called on its constituent members to defray the
cost of its successful defence at what came to be called ‘the Cyanide Case’. At its end, a con-
siderable sum remained which, invested at 43 %, amounted to £16,400 in 1899. Its sole trustee was
Percy Fitzpatrick, a partner of H. Eckstein & Co. (the Corner House) who conceived the idea of
founding a Bacteriological Institute. He caused letters to be written on the 4th March 1899 to
the contributing companies, asking their consent to the sum being devoted to that end (most
of them had long since written off their donations). The case he presented was cogent — the
threat of Bubonic Plague had been very near; Pneumonia, Typhoid and Dysentery were
chronic and fatal; Malaria was endemic in certain areas; Smallpox had been spread through-
out the mines by vaccination with defective lymph; and in livestock, severe losses were suffered
through Horse Sickness, Lung Sickness, Redwater, Nagana and many other diseases. The Corner
House proposed that “a first-class European bacteriologist’ be imported to combat these diseases
in an institution whose work would benefit South Africa as a whole. It was duly reported in the
Press.

In turbulent times, the Corner House stoutly persisted with its plan, even persuading President
Kruger to obtain a contribution from the new Pretoria Town Board which would match a grant
promised by the Johannesburg Town Board. By then, his Gouvernements Veearts was not
available for consultation. Kruger would certainly have been attracted by the £16,400 offered by
the Mines without charge on the State. Events overtook a visionary proposal; but the Corner
House never lost its enthusiasm for the investigation of human diseases and in time was instru-
mental in founding the South African Institute of Medical Research.

* * *

Kruger had developed a considerable respect for the wonders of “Science” and if he were unable
to convey it to his burghers in the Volksraad who regularly defeated the motion for the establish-
ment of an Agricultural Department, he had learnt to make good use of his Gouvernements
Veearts. After the Plague scare, he referred a peculiar problem to Theiler. The winter would
again bring the locusts to ravage an already stricken land. For years, enthusiastic reports had
been coming from the Southern African States as far as Rhodesia about a method of destroying
them. Theiler had read at length about it in the local Agricultural Journals and depart=iental
reports.

Early in 1896, Mr Arnold Cooper J. P., F.R.M.S. of Theddon near the rural hamlet of Rich-
mond in Natal whom Edington recognised as ‘taking a most lively interest in all branches of
microscopy’, had received some dead locusts sent by a neighbouring farmer. Cooper ‘made
some investigations which proved that the fungus disease from which they had died was in-
fectious and that gave me hope that it might be artificially cultivated.” He immediately repaired
to ‘that true friend of Science’, Sir Walter Hely-Hutchinson, Governor of Natal, at Pieter-
maritzburg who arranged with the Prime Minister that he be sent to Cape Town to consult
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President Kruger at the height of the Rinderpest (May 1897) with Louis Botha on his left and
Lucas Meyer behind (between them) when manifesting his interest in science and technology
by attending a demonstration of breaking rock with diamond drills.

Landdrost Schutte with his wife and daughter visit the Daspoort Laboratory which was in his charge (Theiler
on left) in 1899.




Theiler (centre) Celebrating the roof~wetting of his first house in 1898.

The completed Theiler house at Daspoort early in 1899 before the trees and garden were planted. Emma who had shortly
before given birth to Max, stands on the stoep with Gertrud, Hans and Margaret.
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scientific works not available in Natal. The Cape Government sent him to Graham’s Town to
explore the possibility of cultivating the fungus. Edington who had investigated disease-pro-
ducing fungi in salmon and trout for the British Fishery Board, was familiar with the situation
and instructed his medical assistant, Dr Sinclair Black, to pursue the matter during his own short
absence. Cooper also had the assistance of the renowned botanist/mycologist Dr Selmar Schon-
land, director of the Albany Museum in Graham’s Town. After a fortnight’s work during which
Edington returned, they found they could easily cultivate the fungus in various cultures and the
Bacteriological Institute then commenced supplying the spores in vast quantities, at first locally
and then throughout the world. Later Watkins-Pitchford did likewise at Allerton in Natal.

Great division of opinion arose over its efficacy. It transpired that unless the air were damp or
misty, the spores failed to incubate and to infect swarms. On the other hand, favourable con-
ditions produced wholesale destruction. Some scoffers ascribed the masses of dead locusts ad-
hering to bushes to being in reality the discarded skins of crysales; but, waving such a bush at
farmers’ meetings, Edington could disprove it and extol the success of the fungus locally and

5 abroad. Soga’s medical-missionary brother, Dr William Anderson Soga used it successfully in
L4 the Transkei though the natives themselves had difficulty in learning the proper procedures.
L1 The Cape Entomologist, Charles Lounsbury, guardedly believed that it affected only the red-

winged locust and not the brown; but in the absence of any other weapon against the eighth

plague, it continued enthusiastically to be used. In 1899, the Resident Commissioner in Basuto-

land, Godfrey Lagden, testified to its eliminating swarms and in that year, Edington alone
Lﬂ supplied 19,043 tubes of ‘locust fungus’.

Kruger knew of these reports and under pressure from the Transvaal Agricultural Union
(which at its quarterly meeting in December 1898 had urged the Government to take action),
contemplated using the fungus in the Transvaal. He wished however to assure himself that the
releasing of such a lethal means would not also poison animals and birds. With the ‘voetgangers’
or flightless infant locusts already infesting the purlieus of Pretoria, he referred the question to

50 Theiler early in March 1899. The Gouvernements Veearts and his staff were then to be seen
capering about the veld around Daspoort catching ‘hoppers” and carefully placing them in

51 labelled boxes. Theiler then infected them with the fungus and hopefully awaited their death
so that he could feed them to animals and birds.

It put him in mind of his father’s hives of bees and the destruction of swarms by a similar
fungus or ‘Faulbrut’. Agile as ever, he thought of the white ants which could level a house in

572 the Transvaal and were indeed manacing his own abode. ‘In many places’, he wrote, ‘they
make building almost impossible. I remember the “Faulbrut” of bses at home. If I recollect
correctly, it is a bacterial disease, perhaps also a disease due to fungus. In either case, one could
cultivate it artificially and 1 could make experiments. As White Ants in any case make honey-
comb nests, it might be possible to infiltrate the young grubs with the fungus and exterminate
them. With this aim, Father must find me in whatever circumstancss some “Faulbrut”. The best
would be to dry some at room temperature and send it to me in a bottle. I would then try to get
a pure culture.’

His ideas and activities were illimitable but his Government fell out of step. His constant
appointment of additional temporary assistants without authority was questioned and even
Schutte could not save him. The utmost penury faced the Transvaal whose resources had largely

53 been spent on armaments and defence. Fort Daspoortrand on a spur commanding the Pretoria-
Rustenburg road (delivered by the contractors to the Government on the 11th November 1898)
now glowered above the Leper Asylum. The political situation in Johannesburg was extremely

Su ugly and, Theiler reported, ‘people complain always about the bad times and many Swiss plan

555 to leave shortly owing to unemployment’. The Government bought farms to re-settle the ‘poor
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burghers’ and get them out of the towns and more money went on other relief schemes. Every
penny was watched; but Theiler, showing signs of the obduracy that in later life hardened into
downright defiance of bureaucracy, fought for his laboratory and the men to staff it. Without
assistants, he said, he could not deal with the charges laid on him by the Government in respect
of investigations into Bubonic Plague and locust fungus, the making of vaccine for Sponsziekte
and, owing to a recrudescence of the disease, the production of lymph for Smallpox.

As if in the form of a circus, there now intruded on the distressed scene the visit of Bunu,
King Ngwane V of the Swazis whose regiments had assisted the Republic in the war against
Magato. He had formally been fined £500 for his murders and was now brought to the Transvaal
with an entourage of naked savages as a gesture of goodwill by his protecting power (which no
doubt desired to secure his allegiance in impending trouble after having been given asylum by

7] the British during his own). The dipsomaniac Bunu, attired as a Colonial gentleman in a smart

knickerbocker suit, arrived early in April with his bear-leader Commandant Matthys Grobler
and 40 traditionally ungarbed indunas. The party, dashing about the Capital in hansom cabs
and spending money lavishly on whisky and gewgaws, provided the citizens with daily excite-
ment. Bunu refused to be photographed but Theiler, officially present as Paardenarts when the
Staatsartillerie staged an impressive show of force, covertly snapped him. Ten heavy Maxims
and two Creusot siege guns were fired with massive destructive effect for his benefit; but the
sole impression they made on him was the desire himself to fire one of the cannon which he was
allowed to do. It was later revealed that one of his indunas who had been to England, had told
him that the whole affair could be put in a corner of Woolwich Arsenal. Bunu departed amidst
alcoholic fumes and was dead within eight months at the age of 23.

During this noisy nine-days wonder, the representations of the Imperial German Consul
which had remained unattended for three months, finally reached the Executive Council chaired

5% by the progressive General Schalk Burger. On the 11th April 1899, the Council resolved to send

the Gouvernements Veearts, Mr A. Theiler, as its representative to the Baden-Baden Inter-
national Veterinary Conference in August with all expenses paid on submission of receipts.
Caught completely unawares, Theiler was astounded to receive the official letter on the 13th

59 April - ‘I have it in black and white!’ he exclaimed, still incredulous, and pored over the con-

tents. It was signed by the Under-Secretary for Foreign Affairs, a typical product of nepotism,

(o Pieter Gert Wessel Grobler, grand-nephew of Paul Kruger, who had begun his civil service

G

career as a clerk and in 1898, received his high appointment at the age of 26. A man of versatile
talents, eagerness to learn and pronounced linguistic ability, Grobler was to have much to do
with the dapper thickset Swiss who soon confronted him,

The letter contained two documents handwritten in German detailing the agenda of the Con-
gress and the scientists in charge of the various sections. Its work would be almost entirely con-
fined to European domestic animals; but the magic names of Bang of Copenhagen, Hutyra of
Budapesth, Leblanc of Paris, Stubbe of Brussels, Ostertag of Berlin and many others with whom
he was familiar from his tireless study of scientific journals, captivated Theiler’s imagination
with excited anticipation. The most must be made of the opportunity. He must discuss it with
Emma. Should she come with him and show their brood of four children including the three-
month old Max to his aging parents? Who would run the laboratory in his absence? Should he
go to the Congress only and come back as soon as possible or should he try to persuade the
Government to send him earlier to extend his studies at various institutions?

Some of the problems were quickly solved. Emma decided that the children were too young to
travel overseas and, fully cognisant of the troubled times, elected to stay with Mathilda in the
house at Daspoort. It was a wrenching decision — they had longed to take their family to Switzer-
land where now it was spring. Schutte would continue to supervise the laboratory and Schroeder
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would run it along the lines he knew. In anything untoward, there was a fully-qualified man
available in the person of James Francis Scott whose M.R.C.V.S. certificate, dated the 23rd May
1895, had been signed by some of the luminaries of the College — A. E. Mettam who had taught
him Anatomy; Stewart Stockman, a bright young professor of Pathology; and Fred Smith, one
of many Fellows serving as examiners. In the middle of 1898, Scott had applied to the State
Secretary for a licence ‘to practise as a veterinary surgeon and act as deputy or assistant to Dr
Theiler’. His application had been referred to Theiler who had approved it and Scott, duly
licenced, began practice in Johannesburg where they occasionally met. He would be suitable as

(-3 a technical adviser in matters beyond the scope of Schutte and he could also serve as Paarden-
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arts to the Staatsartillerie.

In his careful manner, Theiler took the weekend to consider the implications of Grobler’s
letter and on Monday the 17th April, sent his reply by hand. He gracefully thanked for the
honour which he gladly accepted, offering to discharge it to the best of his knowledge and ability.
Then he referred to his letter of the 5th December 1898, remarking the danger of Bubonic Plague
and asking to be sent to the Pasteur Institute to learn to prepare serum against it. The danger, he
said, was still urgent and ‘we have seen that there are no experts in the Z.A.R. to combat it
unless I am sent to Europe’. Further, he could use the opportunity to bring himself up-to-date
as Bacteriologist, a position which he alone fulfilled, and in all new discoveries in the making of
different sera offered by the various bacteriological institutes. Bearing in mind that the univer-
sities would be closed from July to October for the summer vacation, he asked to be allowed to
leave in the middle of May for two months’ study before the Congress. He promised to under-
take the work in the cheapest manner and asked for the soonest possible decision in principle
as advanced booking was essential on the packed ships. He signed his name with a huge and
exultant flourish.

The Government did not keep him waiting. With Kruger himself in the chair, the Executive
Council on the very next day (18th April) took his request ‘into serious consideration in con-
sultation with the Under-Secretary (Grobler)’ and gave the necessary authority with all expenses
paid for an absence of not more than four months. Theiler was officially advised on the 22nd
April and a frenzy of correspondence and arrangement ensued. He planned to leave on the mail-
ship Briton on the 17th May and asked for an advance of £250 which was immediately given him.
Complicated financial arrangements would have to be made to provide for Emma and the family
during his four-month absence. In one letter after another on the 24th April, he asked the State
Secretary for letters of credence and of introduction to the various institutes he proposed visiting
such. as the Institut Pasteur in Paris and the Institut Vaccinale at Lancy. He formally advised
that the administrative work at Daspoort would be done by his secretary Schroeder and the
technical by his assistant Charles Favre. He confirmed the arrangement by which J. F. Scott
M.R.C.V.S. of Johannesburg would attend the Staatsartillerie horses and keep an eye on Das-
poort. He wrote ecstatically to his family, asking his father to meet him at Basle, accompanied
by the gay adventurer Deschler, now returned to Switzerland after travelling round the world,
who had helped him on his way in difficult days at Les Marais.

Cruelly, with little more than a fortnight for a thousand preparations (including the tailoring
of dress suits and other expensive appurtenances appropriate to an international conference),
the Z.A.R. Government sent him to Natal to codperate with the Plague expert, Dr Honebrook
imported by the Chamber of Mines. Natal was deep in preparations for war and Watkins-Pitch-

\f O ford, divided between his veterinary and beloved Army duties (he founded a Voluntary Veterinary

1

Corps) was no candidate to represent it at Baden-Baden. On the 5th May, the Natal Colonial
Secretary ingenuously telegraphed the Z.A.R. State Secretary asking that Theiler be allowed to
represent the Colony. Grobler the next day replied that his Government ‘gladly complied” and
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~] 2 awaited a letter of credential. It was immediately sent under date 8th May and with proper diplo-

. matic courtesy, the Z.A.R. informed the German Consul accordingly. The Imperial German

1y Government in Berlin was thereupon informed of the fact and its Foreign Office requested to
afford Dr Theiler assistance in his study of bacteriology and animal diseases.

& Theiler’s own Government gave him a letter of introduction, beautifully beribboned with the
Vierkleur (the four colours of the national flag) to the Imperial German Department of Health as
well as the requested letters to the chairman of the Organising Committee of the Congress and

—To the director of the Institut Pasteur. The French Consul, Aubert and the British Agent, Conyng-
ham Greene (whose wife Lady Lily Greene, served as his secretary) also provided him with
commendation.

Theiler was tremendously proud of representing Natal and went to Reitz’ office to inspect the
correspondence. ‘I have found confidence in South Africa, haven’t 1?7 he quizzed his parents

)71 meaningfully in his last letter before sailing. He left Pretoria by train for Cape Town on the night
of Saturday the 13th May 1899 and embarked on the mailship Briton on the 17th. Preceding him

~7§ by two weeks was a letter to his parents from their daughter-in-law, written in haste while Arnold
was in Natal:

“The purpose of my letter is to beg Father to tell the family, relatives and friends about
Arnold’s accident 8 years ago so as to spare him many vexatious questions which would be
painful to him and remind him of the saddest time of his life. It would be a pity thus to ruin a
short well-earned holiday which should give him the courage and drive for further work. I know
what I am asking Father is not easy but the joy of the reunion soon should help toward it.’
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CHAPTER ELEVEN

HORSE DOCTOR AT WAR 1899-1900

THE UTTER INEVITABILITY of war (daily headlined as ‘The Situation”) paradoxically co-
existed with ‘life as usual’. While Joseph Chamberlain was considering the petition signed by
20,000 Johannesburg Uitlanders for the redress of their disabilities and British troops massed
in Natal, Pretoria appeared to pursue its even way. On the 8th May 1899, the Transvaal Agricul-
tural Union, already a powerful body, held its first Annual Congress and recorded a high degree
of codperation on all hands. The Z.A.R. Government had asked it to report on the granting of a
concession for the importation of steam-ploughs and other important matters. Its president,
Johann Zulch de Villiers, Burgomaster of Johannesburg and its vice-president, Dr J. W. B.
Gunning had been ‘most hospitably’ entertained in Cape Town at the Annual Congress of the
South African Agricultural Union of which de Villiers had been made a vice-president. Gunning
had even gone to Graham’s Town to see the Bacteriological Institute where Edington had
treated him ‘with the greatest kindness and courtesy’. He had then made rapport in the Free
State.

Under this gloss which obtained equally in other fields, there were energetic preparations for
war. Apart from the accumulation of troops from England and India, mostly in Natal, the
British Army’s Principal Veterinary Officer, Colonel Matthews was already in the country,
laying in medical and other stores and establishing Remount Stations. In Natal, he was assisted
by Watkins-Pitchford, already on quasi-military service with his staff, and at the Cape by the
partly-recovered Hutcheon and his men. The Cape, with many Afrikaners in its Government,
was not “British’ in the sense of Natal and Hutcheon’s department continued to serve only as
civilians. As the weeks went by, there was feverish purchasing throughout Southern Africa of
horses, mules and oxen. No war could be waged without mounted forces and draught animals.
Officers on furlough on their way to England told Theiler travelling with them in the middle
of May that it would quickly be over and that the British Army ‘would walk into Pretoria’.
When he landed at Southampton on the 2nd June, the newspapers implied imminent hostilities
Reaching Switzerland the next day, the message was much the same.

The eyes of the world were on Bloemfontein where Kruger, accompanied by his young State
Attorney J. C. Smuts, confronted Britain’s representative Sir Alfred Milner across a conference
table. For the first week in June, the old man, urged to temporise by Smuts, tried to find a via
media with a cold austere satrap whose mind was increasingly revealed as closed to anything but
total submission. At the week’s end, Kruger threw in his hand and returned to Pretoria. The
world at large echoed the sentiment of Southern Africa — ‘the only solution of the situation is
by force of arms’.

In the Z.A.R., tension was accentuated. The great exodus from Johannesburg which had
begun earlier, now increased. In Pretoria, the Uitlander inhabitants began to sell up and there
was continuous auction of furniture, riding horses and houschold effects. The emotional
challenge of the failed conference was reflected on the 19th June by a huge meeting of burghers
at Paardekraal near Krugersdorp where the Commandant-General Piet Joubert was enthusias-
tically welcomed at the site commemorating the outbreak of the first Anglo-Boer War in 1880
when the Republic had regained its independence. Military preparations were now as apparent

— in the Transvaal as in Natal and the Cape. European newspapers were full of news of the fast-

developing crisis. To hearten his men at Daspoort, Theiler sent them a bawdy postcard.
He was fully aware of ‘the situation’ and, reading reports from the foreign Press reproduced
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in Pretoria newspapers, Emma could gauge how well-informed he would be. Wherever he was,
in almost continuous travelling, she could hear from him in little more than three weeks as long
as the Cape route remained open. He had gone first to Frick for only a few days to be reunited
with his family and to continue his quasi-paternal relationship with his brother Alfred, 15 years
his junior; then via Neuchitel (calling on Tel Sandoz at his home) to Paris to make arrangements
at the Institut Pasteur for his study of new techniques. It had been good to be welcomed and to
see Bordet again. He would begin his work there at the end of June; but in the meantime, there
were similar enquiries at the Universities of Berne and Zurich (where Zschokke claimed him),
friends to be seen, relatives visited, old connections re-established. He was seldom more than a
day or two in any given place in the beloved homeland before returning to Paris on the 29th
June.

In a manner becoming to an official representative of the Z.A.R. Government (for which
the French had much sympathy) and bearing its letter of commendation, Theiler was warmly
welcomed at the Institut Pasteur and wherever he went. He spent three weeks in Paris watching
research procedures and techniques for manufacturing vaccines, and visiting the purveyors
of the most advanced laboratory equipment, notably the firm of Cogit with which he subse-
quently dealt. His friendship with Bordet gave him easy entré and many names in his scientific
journals became vital personalities, such as Edouard Nocard of the Alfort Veterinary College
outside Paris. His time, he said, was most valuably spent and his departure delayed by the in-
terest of the work he was watching. Emma’s letters were always forwarded to him and he wrote
her constantly.

The four Swiss running the Daspoort Laboratory and maintaining his long-term experiments
frequently consulted her. Schroeder, nominally in charge, foresaw difficulties. The Smallpox
and other vaccines which they continued to produce in bulk, were all supplied without charge
and the Laboratory had no income beyond Theiler’s modest estimated budget. By August,
there remained only £545 and Schroeder applied to Schutte for further finance to maintain their
work until the end of the year. None was forthcoming. The Government’s attention was else-
where. It was issuing new Mauser rifles to the burghers in place of their old Martini-Henrys
and buying horses and oxen galore in every quarter. Comically — if it had not also been tragic —
the British were also buying horses in the Orange Free State and assembling huge reserves at
Pietermaritzburg. The shops remained open in Pretoria and the Government packed its stores
with goods of every kind against the time when supplies might be cut. The British agent Conyn-
ham Greene and his wife moved freely about the town as before; but Kruger preached in the
Dopper Church and Days of Humiliation were held, pleading for intercession.

By the 19th July, Theiler was back in Switzerland conferring with his scientific and personal
friends — Zschokke in Zurich, Sandoz at Le Locle, Rubele in Berne, others in Basle, Glarus and
elsewhere in the little country so easily traversed. He was all the time ‘bringing himself up to
date’ and telling Emma of the wide field expanding before him. In the first week in August,
he and the Swiss delegation crossed the Rhine to attend the Conference at Baden-Baden.

The International Veterinary Conference was, unsurprisingly, the invention of a Scotsman —
Professor John Gamgee of Edinburgh. He found no support among his own people but the idea
attracted German scientists who in 1863, organised the first Congress at Hamburg attended by
about 100 and only two Englishmen. At the second held in Vienna in 1865, the attendance rose
to 160 with five English. 180 attended the third in Zurich in 1867 and 310 the fourth at Brussels,
for the first time under Royal patronage. Attendance rose to 635 for the fifth in 1889 in Paris
while Theiler was still a carousing student shortly to qualify, and the sixth was held again in
Switzerland in Berne in 1895. Moderately successful in Johannesburg by then, he had had wild
thoughts of attending it. The 670 delegates still included only a small number of English who
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generally considered it a distinctly Continental innovation and were, as a profession, congenit-
ally apathetic toward such excursions.

By 1899, there had been a change of heart (probably concomitant with great scientific develop-
ments, particularly in bacteriology) and no less than a thousand delegates foregathered at
Baden-Baden (where, for the first time, English was one of the official languages). coming
literally from all parts of the world including Canada, Australia and the United States. Profes-
sor John M *Fadyean, principal of the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons, led a distinguished
delegation of his colleagues. Among Colonials, Orientals and Continentals, Theiler was a
nonentity — at best, a curiosity. The Grand Duke Friedrich cast regal glamour on the scene;
the usual concerts, balls, banquets and excursions were organised and the city of Baden-Baden
devoted itself to cherishing its guests. The proceedings were almost entirely concerned with
practical problems affecting ‘the international cattle trade’ and preventing the diseases that
vitiated it. There were no reports on current research; but Theiler met the men engaged on it
throughout the world.

At the official farewell banquet on the 12th August, he sat at the same long table as his new
friend, the 50-year old Nocard, director of the Alfort Veterinary College who, a favourite and
first veterinary pupil of Pasteur, was doing notable work on ‘the microbian maladies of animals’
including Glanders, Pleuro-pneumonia, Tuberculosis, diseases due to trypanosomes and other
projects dear to Theiler’s own heart. Others with him were Robert Ostertag of Berlin, Jenné
of Holland, Tokishige of Japan, Fotheringham of Boston, U.S.A. and, on the practical side,
Duncan McEachem, Chief Veterinary Officer of Canada, Alix Cope of London, Roumanian,
German and Swiss delegates.

In the five days of the Congress, Theiler had met Kitt of Miinchen whose text-books on Bac-
teriology he had feverishly ordered with the utmost urgency through his father; Leclainche of
Toulouse; Perroncito of Turin and other luminaries whose names he had noted many weeks
before in Pretoria. Fluent in German, French, Dutch and English, talking to such men (himself
unique among them) was as the breath of life to him. In the manner of such occasions, letters
and reports were promised, invitations extended to visit institutions, codperation offered on
mutual problems. In five hectic days, Theiler took his measure against the current world of
veterinary and bacteriological science and found himself not wanting but frustrated by no
commission to speak. In the international field, Africa and its animal diseases had no existence,
let alone a proponent. Then he went on to keep his numerous assignations in Germany — Hei-
delberg, K&ln, Bremen, Berlin (with Koch absent on his long tour of research into Malaria in
Italy, Java and the Pacific Islands), Dresden, Miinchen (to have further talks with Kitt), Jena
for equipment from Zeiss, and all other institutions fulfilling his commissions from his Govern-
ment.

As he travelled, the German newspapers hammered the certainty of war. At the height of
his success, his career seemed ruined and he wrote depressingly to Emma; but his tour proved

| (> so heady an experience that he proposed delaying his return though his four months’ leave was

1]

near its end. Early in September, he was back in Switzerland, finding time to buy a miniature
hay-wain or go-cart for his children, toys, dolls, boxes for botanising, Swiss chocolate and — a
gift from his father - jars of honey. His cases would also contain all the apparatus he had bought,
the most modern microscopes, bacteriological specimens, various cultures, even the bee fungus
which his father had found. He had long earnest talks with Alfred about his future. When he
had finished at the Aarau High School, he must go to the University at Zurich. Having had a
new one made in Berlin, Arnold confided into his father’s care his old artificial left-hand to
serve as a model should he need replacement. All ships to South Africa were packed to the gun-
whales but he must get back. He was unable to leave Switzerland until the 22nd September.
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Emma in the seat of war worried about him. His time was up and he had not, as far as she
knew, asked for an extension. He might lose his job. There was now a general exodus from Pre-
toria. The foreigners remaining organised themselves into units — a German Corps, a German
Navy Society, a Swiss Security Corps and others. The Staatsartillerie practised marksmanship
in the veld and two batteries left for Volksrust on the Natal border. With the wholesale flight
of native and white labour, the gold mines and Johannesburg itself were coming to a stop. The
cost of food rose steeply. Emma providently bought provisions and later took up the floorboards
to conceal supplies for three months so that if thieves rifled the kitchen and pantry, the family
could still subsist. She wrote her parents-in-law that she could no longer send a monthly finan-
cial contribution — salaries might not be paid and they would need money. Prudent and thrifty,
she was saving all she could (it amounted to £200 when Arnold came back and they were able
to diga well). If the English won, Arnold would lose his job; but, she noted, ‘they have certainly
chosen a bad time as summer is now coming with its terrible storms and flooded rivers, together
with malaria and Horse Sickness’.

She planned to have the house spick and span for Arnold’s return but before taking down the
curtains, oiling the floors and cleaning every nook and cranny, she presciently sent a postcard
to Southampton and a long letter to Madeira, confident that he would somehow be on the
mailship Norman leaving three weeks thence on the 23rd September. She wanted him to know
that all was not well in the Laboratory. The staff, lacking authority, were at daggers drawn.
Scott who should have been paardenarts to the Staatsartillerie, was ‘lazy and negligent’ and no
use at all, being dismissed at the end of September. Two of Theiler’s Swiss would have to take
his place and the others might soon be impressed to fight with the commandos. The Republic
had no army - only commandos drawn from specific areas whose members had no uniforms,
rode their own horses, took their own food and knew no discipline. The sole organised uni-
formed disciplined forces were the Staatsartillerie with its heavy Creusot guns, howitzers and
maxims, and the Mounted Police.

When Theiler crossed the Channel on the 23rd September, the British Cabinet had met. ‘I
have the impression from the reports in English newspapers that the English have it in mind to
start a war’, he told his parents in a valedictory letter. His troubles immediately began and even
his Swiss London friend, C. Ecuyer could not help him. The British Customs, confronted by a
swarthy foreigner carrying Z.A.R. papers and loaded with numerous heavy cases, suspected
gun-running and broke them open. All was settled in time for him to board the Norman at
Southampton. He shared a cabin with a German from South West Africa and found an old
friend of Johannesburg days, the Mining Commissioner, J. L. van der Merwe as well as other
acquaintances returning hurriedly to their businesses.

He regarded coldly the numerous swaggering English officers on board. They let it be known
that the Transvaal artillery should not be under-estimated as young men who rode about on
horses knew very well how to estimate distance and possessed good French quick-firing canons
as well as Krupp batteries. They looked pityingly at Theiler; but before the voyage was over,
he felt sorry for them, knowing that ‘either sickness or bullets will cause them to remain forever
in Africa’. There were also correspondents of the big London illustrated papers including the
disarmingly rotund, bald-headed and bespectacled Melton Prior of the /llustrated London News
who had covered the first Anglo-Boer War and himself brought the peace terms from the Eng-
lish to the Boers in 1881. Theiler listened to the stocky middle-aged little man holding forth
in the Saloon Bar, knowledgeably pronouncing that the English had decided on war. They never
met again but came dangerously close.

At Madeira, Theiler wrote his parents in Frick and bought the famous wicker chairs for his
family in Pretoria. After reading Emma’s letter, there was much on his mind. The dissension
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and dispersal of his staff and the chaos in his laboratory were severe blows to a man re-inspired
by new ideas, equipment and energy. He would soon restore order, he felt sure and, indomitably
optimistic, spent all possible time at sea drafting a ‘work plan’ for the future. To Theiler, work
was an end in itself, a holy obligation never to be foresworn. War or no war, he knew what he
must do.

In the confusion of docking at Cape Town, his compatriot Jean Dietschi, now a waiter at the
Mount Nelson Hotel, emerged from the crowd and helped him disembark. Well in advance.
Emma had arranged it. It was Tuesday the 10th October, the 75th birthday of President Kruger,
the day on which his ultimatum to Britain to remove her massed forces from Natal would
expire. Theiler caught the last train to the north while the bridges still stood. No freight was
allowed and he carried only hand-luggage while his baggage and packing cases disappeared in
the confusion and chaos at the Cape. He arrived in Pretoria on Friday the 12th October 1899
with hostilities already in progress and the bridge across the Orange River allegedly destroyed.
Communication with the outside world through Durban and Cape Town came suddenly to an
end. British warships hovered outside Delagoa Bay, restrained for diplomatic reasons from im-
posing blockade but attentively watching the traffic from Europe that now would come through
the Suez Canal and unload at Lourengo Marques the cargoes destined for the Z.A.R.

* * *

Pretoria was eerily quiet. The English newspapers, The Press and its recent rival the Pretoria
News (reporting County cricket matches to the last) had ceased publication; but the Dutch
De Volksstem continued, with a special edition in English, as well as the Deutsche Zeitung which
the Theilers sometimes sent to Switzerland. British subjects were put over the border but some
were allowed to remain — ministers of religion, and the staffs of various businesses, stores and
banks. Many houses and shops stood empty; but the main stores remained open and a number
of smaller shops. Life went on as usual with few people in the streets.

Theiler’s homecoming was marred by chagrin that he came empty-handed, carrying only his
valises. Everything had grown — the children, the trees, the grass in Spring. He went at once to

(, his laboratory where Favre alone remained in charge, longing to join his compatriots on the

Natal front and rendering occasional service to the horses of the residual Staatsartillerie.
Schroeder, von Bergen and Otto Meyer had been impressed into the Pretoria Commando and

2] Kollmann was with the Aapies River Commando — non-belligerently, he asserted, and only on

ambulance duty. All that Theiler had struggled to attain — his new knowledge, his plans, his
laboratory — had become pointless.

2%  On the 17th October, he wrote two formal letters — one to the State Secretary advising his

return and the detention of his baggage with all his records and equipment, and graciously

2 q thanking for the great honour done him. The second was to Landdrost Schutte, now riding

continually about his enormous district administering a thousand affairs and checking on spies
and disloyalty. Theiler confirmed his resumption of control of the Daspoort Laboratory and
asked that the Auditor-General be told of the inaccessibility of his cases containing the receipts
for £200 which he now claimed for general expenses on his mission. He was closing the labora-
tory owing to his assistants being commandeered and all experimentation becoming impossible.

A0C He had ‘offered his services to the Commandant-General’. He had in fact twice telegraphed

31

General Piet Joubert sitting among his commandos in the hot hills of Natal in the purlieus of
Ladysmith. Humiliatingly, no answer came. Joubert had never liked him. He was important

77 to no one. Emma rejoiced. It was the sixth anniversary of their marriage and he had spent at

least 24 years of it away from his home.

144



35

36

39

The Boer forces struck quickly. Even as Fitzpatrick, busybody ‘expert’ on South African
affairs, confirmed in London his discussion with Milner on the post-war rehabilitation that
would soon be necessary (Chamberlain, Selborne and Milner were all planning post-war re-
construction, confident of an early end), the might of the British Army suffered debasing blows
in Natal and the Northern Cape. The effect was to stalemate its drive to the Transvaal and to
shut up in Ladysmith an effective force together with essential officers including the Principal
Veterinary Surgeon Colonel Matthews (with his henchman Watkins-Pitchford), Surgeon-Major
Bruce and a host of war correspondents. Inept military action similarly resulted in the sieges of
Kimberley and Mafeking in the Cape. One of the contributing factors was a disastrous action
on the 10th November at Belmont outside Kimberley where, Theiler sadly noted, Lieutenant
Wood who five months previously had talked on the ship of ‘walking into Pretoria’, was killed.
Only three weeks after the outbreak of war, thousands of British prisoners were brought to a
surprised and unprepared Pretoria and quartered on the race course. (They were shortly joined,
Theiler observed by Lord Randolph Churchill’s son, captured on the 15th November.) At the
same time, Boer casualties arrived.

Of security measures, there seemed none. Theiler’s staff in the field in Natal wrote him ex-
pansively of the number and disposition of their guns, military movements, various actions
with casualty figures, documents found on the dead and every detail that came to their notice.
He himself, having no specific duties, wandered about the town talking to everybody, visiting
the wounded (his friend Lieutenant Mike du Toit of the Staatsartillerie had had his leg smashed
in two places by a shell), hearing all that was known — in a Capital untroubled by military
censors — from civil servants, his colleagues at the Artillery Camp and the British prisoners
themselves. He wrote long letters to his father, full of the accusations made by both sides re-
garding the use of dum-dum bullets, firing on truce flags and ambulances bearing the Red Cross,
killing surrendering troops, and so forth, together with detailed descriptions of military actions
and dispositions. They were published in the Schweizer Freie Press and completely changed in
character when Theiler obtained information at first hand.

This was a new kind of war between a highly home-trained army under discipline and inept
direction, and loose accumulations of indignant men ostensibly organised into commandos
drawn from various areas and exhilarated by early success into a false sense of superiority. The
British had hardly deployed their innovations in the way of observation balloons, powerful
searchlights, heliographing over great distances, employing road steam-locomotives for traction,
and other devices; but their officers now wore khaki with unpolished buttons and their swords
were purposely tarnished. They also had official motion picture war correspondents.

“Science’ too exhibited its progress. On the 16th November 1899, the shattered leg of Theiler’s
friend, Mike du Toit, was exposed to ‘Réntgen Rays’ in the Pretoria Hospital to assist the
surgeon in re-setting the bones. On the same day, Marconi’s installation at The Needles broad-
cast to him on the ship in which he was returning from America, the latest despatches on the
South African War which the captain printed for the passengers. When 40 miles from Southamp-
ton, he received: ‘Ladysmith, Kimberley and Mafeking holding out well. No big battle. 15,000
men recently landed. At Ladysmith, no more killed. Boer bombardment at Kimberley effected
the destruction of ONE TIN POT. It was auctioned for £200. It is felt that period of anxiety
and strain is over and that our turn has come.’ It was the first time that news had been radioed.

Theiler himself had not neglected his scientific obligations and maintained certain cultures
in the deserted laboratory, notably bacteria which had arrived from Berlin and Zurich before

o his return. Still expecting to be called up, he was practicing revolver-shooting on horseback —

a difficult enterprise with one hand; but, in between talking to all and sundry, was planning
the effective continuance of his researches. All the cultures which he had obtained from Bordet
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and others had probably been destroyed by the British in confiscating his baggage. He had left a
standing order with the Bacteriological Institutes at Lausanne and Lancy for breeding-lymph
which he specially needed as cases of Smallpox continued to occur. Now they must be sent via
Naples and Lourengo Marques. His father too must send him more bee fungus via the Suez
route. At some time he would use it; but now he roamed about the town, gathering every detail
of news about the war and the Republic’s part in it for long letters intended for publication
in the Schweizer Freie Press. The activities of the local Swiss were of special interest and he sought
out the oldest — Perrin, the Master of the State Mint.

Jules Alfred Perrin of Cortaillod, Neuchatel was by training an assayer who served in the
Swiss Army but joined the first wave of emigrants to South Africa when the Diamond Fields
were opened in 1871. He left Kimberley for Pretoria in 1873 at the call of the impractical Pre-
sident Burgers who wanted to establish a Mint, but remained merely an assayer, later wandering
off to the Eastern Transvaal goldfields as digger and farmer. In 1893, he returned to Pretoria
as Government Assayer and inaugurator of the State Mint. A man deeply versed in Science, he
told Theiler that the Government had no intention of ‘killing the hen that laid the golden egg’
(as the British feared) but continued to operate some of the gold mines near the defunct Johan-
nesburg. All the gold mined was sent to him at the Mint where seven Swiss worked with him.
“We have had for a long time enough gold’, Theiler reported, ‘Herr Perrin showed me no less
than 120 tons of it.’

Six weeks after his return, his orders came — he was to report to Major J. F. Wolmarans,
senior officer of the Staatsartillerie headed by Commandant S. P. E. Trichardt, at some point

L{ on the periphery of Ladysmith. All was tumult. ‘My second homeland is threatened by mighty

Lz'(,_,

England’, he wrote dramatically, ‘Until now 1 have been released from taking active part but
now my duty calls me to the battlefield. To withdraw from this duty would not be seemly after
being treated well by the Government in good times. The oath of allegiance binds also for un-
happy times. As a man of honour and a good Swiss, I want to discharge my duty.” Ladysmith
would soon fall. Deserters told of ‘unbearable conditions’. The water supply was polluted.
Typhoid must be raging. He had no idea how long he would be in the field but he hoped his
local responsibilities would bring him often to Pretoria. As ‘Horse Doctor” to the Staatsartillerie,
he would enjoy no immunity like the doctors working with the Red Cross, and he would go
armed and his men too — ‘not that I have any murderous thoughts at all’, he wrote his parents,
hinting that had he had two hands, it might have been otherwise, “being as I now am, I will try to
serve Justice and Freedom to the best of my knowledge and conscience.’

With only two or three days to organise a most complicated mission, Theiler was hard put
to arrange his affairs. The Government provided six mules and a wagon (to be stocked with
medicines, instruments and dressings for thousands of horses as well as food and other para-
phernalia), an orderly D. T. Botha, two native servants, a tent, a riding horse and the services
of Favre who at last achieved his ambition to go to the front. Concerned and considerate as

L{"I ever, Emma put in the wagon a small case of provisions so that Arnold should never suffer from

ug

hunger.

She had never feared being left alone in the house with Mathilda and the children though
thunderous rain on the tin roof and gale-force winds that sometimes nearly removed it had often
made her anxious. There were voluntary police patrols in Pretoria which came as far as their
property. Distant from shops and now that the laboratory was closed, from any kind of com-
pany, she was always fully occupied with maintaining the household and four effervescent
toddlers. Now Arnold laid a further obligation on her. The precious imported bacteria could
not be allowed to die. She must maintain them too and, skilled as she was in broths and cultures
and general laboratory work, renew them when necessary. Before leaving Europe, Arnold had
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written to Bordet asking him to send fresh supplies as soon as he read that war had been de-
clared. They would be arriving soon to replace those now ruined in Arnold’s lost baggage.
‘A small laboratory’ including an incubator was transported from Daspoort to the house and
Emma entered into her occupation as surrogate Gouvernements Veearts, even receiving terse

550 messages later from the incumbent in the field, dispelling any hope of relief - “You will therefore

51

have to conduct those affairs of our Station transferred to you as at present’. They kept her very
busy.

There was now a great va-et-vient along the Daspoort road through Wonderboom to Water-
val where Arnold had laboured with Danysz and Bordet. Faced with a growing mass of British
prisoners for whom the race course was inadequate for the rank-and-file and the Staats Model
School for the officers, the Government instructed Wierda to convert the partially-dismantled
Experiment Station into a fenced and fortified camp with watch-towers and searchlights. He
designed a large village of three ‘streets’ pointedly entitled Ladysmith, Dundee and Kimberley
and here, from the Ist December 1899 onward, all ranks were incarcerated. Later many distin-

2 guished Pretoria citizens, including Dr J. W. B. Gunning, served as guards at a special camp for

officers constructed on the side of a hill in full view of the Theiler house. Emma who had noted

57 the escape of Winston Churchill from the Staats Model School on the 13th December 1899,

Sh

was diverted at night by its powerful searchlights. Its inmates called it ‘The Birdcage’.

* * %

Arnold had trucked his cumbersome equipage of wagon, animals and servants at dawn on the
27th November. Two days later, the erratic train arrived at a siding before the general depdt
at Elandslaagte in Natal and the whole unit was unloaded into the veld. Theiler took to his
horse and, met by his whilom Swiss assistants now on active service, rode to the base of Bulwana
Hill where presently his camp was established. A bearded and sunburnt Major Wolmarans
visited him that night and Theiler told him of sympathy throughout Europe for the Republic’s
cause.

The following day (30th November), he rode up the broad steep hill, taking four hours to
reach the top. To the noise of continuous bombardment by British artillery and naval guns
encircling Ladysmith to which Wolmarans’ unit of the Staatsartillerie replied from the summit,
he surveyed a scene of fantasy. Below him lay the beleaguered town where every movement,
every building, even every particular individual (Bennett Burleigh of the Daily Telegraph had

55 to dye his white horse with boiled Condy’s Fluid to render it less conspicuous) was clearly
 visible by telescope. A relationship of almost cordial intimacy had already arisen between the
56 besiegers and the besieged. Behind him and to the right and left between the hills were the laagers

51

of the Boer commandos, lying in beautifully green and verdant country where their horses and
cattle placidly grazed. But for an occasional British observation balloon, the rare crack of rifle
shots and the intermittent noise of bombardment, the scene of battle wore the air of a gigantic
picnic.

Theiler’s postal address became 3rd Battery — Major J. F. Wolmarans, Hoofdlaager, Lady-
smith and there Emma’s letters regularly reached him. His duties were occasionally to inspect
and maintain the health of the horses of the fighting forces which surrounded the town, with
artillery batteries on every hill. Horse Sickness was feared but never eventuated. There emerged
instead on the lower ground a plague of flies feeding on detritus and dead animals which pre-
sented an almost intolerable human health hazard. To a man trained at the Thun Military
Academy in Switzerland, the conduct of the war was unbelievable. No watches were set, no
sentries posted, no security measures enforced. Sitting on their hills, the burghers held that
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advancing British could be seen long before they could attack. The night would take care of
itself. In such circumstances, the British, using local troops, made a brilliant and costly night
attack on the 11th December on Lombard’s Kop to disable its guns and all but dispossessed
the sleeping Pretoria commando while smashing a Howitzer and damaging a heavy Creusot

5% gun. Theiler and Kollmann watched it from the adjacent Bulwana Hill and shook their heads.

For reasons of which he was not advised, Theiler was ordered to transfer his unwieldy camp
from the base to the top of the hill. 16 mules were needed to drag his wagon over rocks and
gullies in constant danger of capsize to a site slightly below the summit where the 15.5 Creusot

59 siege gun called ‘Long Tom’ by the victims below (others were known as ‘Puffing Billy’ and

*Weary Willy’ from the noise of their shells in flight) was mounted with supporting artillery.

(O It had taken 48 oxen and hundreds of helping hands to get it there in defiance of the advice of

Dutch and German engineers. With Theiler were his Swiss assistants, now joined by the ad-

( | venturous Deschler from home who acted as cook. They lived hardly with little water and sleep-

ing in their clothes. The futility of his position deeply irked Theiler but he consoled himself
with the thought that he was being used as a congenial companion to Wolmarans rather than
horse doctor and the réle, so far from doing him harm, might in the end prosper his career.
Within three weeks of arriving in Natal, disillusion had completely dissipated the glorious
sentiments he had at first expressed. An exceptionally meticulous and observant recorder,
Theiler now saw the moral and physical deterioration of the burghers through years of ruination
by Rinderpest, drought, locusts and pestilences which had abased the economy and broken their
fighting spirit. The war had come as a Godsend to the impoverished denizens of the many
‘Burghersdorps’. They had flocked to enlist and, palpably not fighting material, were the least
suitable ‘to go on commando’. With the war not two months old, Theiler wrote of ‘those who

G 2 mutilate themselves to be able to go home’ and who fled from conflict and otherwise showed

no sign of patriotism. The white-bearded Joubert, confused and dilatory, provided no leadership
and, while there were excellent candidates (such as Louis Botha), none could usurp him. The
professional army represented by the Staatsartillerie (of which J. F. Wolmarans was a brave and
brilliant commander) and the Mounted Police had no solid support from the shifty system of
commando service with its total lack of discipline and enforcement of orders.

Theiler was confounded by the random martial expression of his ‘new homeland’ and yearned

(3 to get back to his laboratory. Emma wrote that Kruger had told his Mint Master, Jules Perrin

A

that England was in a position to wage war for two years. At that moment, the British Army
rece.ved an order consonant with the ineptness of its command which prolonged it even further
and set Theiler on his true path.

Enormous numbers of horses and mules were being imported to South Africa by the Army
from England, Ireland, Italy, Germany, Hungary and other European countries (and later
Canada, Australia, the Argentine etc.). Apart from those which immediately introduced Stran-
gles, Mange, Equine Influenza and Glanders, they were given little opportunity to acclimatise
themselves and were rushed to the various fronts. There they joined manger-fed cavalry horses
(many with docked tails and martyred by flies) which in speed and endurance were expected to
excel the tough Boer ponies bred and trained to fend for themselves.

In the interests of economy, the Army ordered a reduction in feeding rations which was to be
compensated by grazing. The effect on horses was disastrous. ‘English horses used to manger-
feeding’, wrote their careful chronicler F. Smith, then an Army Veterinary Major with the 13th
Hussars at Colenso, ‘were as helpless on the veldt as the townbred soldier. They did not know
what was expected of them. When they had purchased a little experience, the grazing had been
eaten up by mules and herds of oxen.” With Colonel Matthews incommunicado in Ladysmith
with troubles of his own, the Acting Principal Veterinary Officer formally protested on the 15th
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December 1899 that the reduced rations of grain and hay represented a starvation diet. He was
independently supported by a commanding officer in the field, Lord Methuen who had seen the
result and demanded that the Commander-in-Chief be told that with such feeding, horses could
not give efficient service. No heed was paid to either and the result was calamitous to both
campaign and country.

Idle and frustrated, Theiler sat with his Swiss below the far brow of Bulwana Hill overlooking
the town of Colenso in the intermittent din of Long Tom’s firing and the bursting of shells
from the British naval guns. They had the range but the horses grazing behind the hill no longer
even raised their heads when a shell exploded among them. At night the British searchlight at
Chieveley behind Colenso about 20 kilometres distant, was so strong that ‘when it throws its
light upon us, we can very well read a newspaper and its light so to speak puts our’s out’. Before
them from the front lay Ladysmith where, they knew, typhoid and dysentery were rife and food
and fodder rapidly running out.

Unbeknown to Theiler, there laboured heroically among the suffering besieged Surgeon-
Major David Bruce (who later was himself incapacitated by typhoid) in charge of increasingly
large hospitals where his lady worked alongside, serving as theatre sister when he and others
operated on the wounded (she was later awarded the Royal Red Cross and Service Medals);
the British P.V.O. Colonel Matthews with Captains Raymond and Newson and four Army
veterinarians; Major H. Watkins-Pitchford and Lieutenants W. M. Power, J. R. Byrne, C. H.
Cordy and S. T. Amos of his veterinary staff; and, in the Imperial Light Horse raised in
Johannesburg (its men had stormed Lombards Kop) Theiler’s colleagues E. A. Hollingham
M.R.C.V.S. and W. Pye. There were also his shipboard acquaintances among the 18 immured
war correspondents including Melton Prior. In the supposed relieving force unsuccessfully driving
toward Ladysmith was his Marico colleague C. F. Verney. Securely entrenched at Colenso (where
Theiler rode to watch the operations), the Boers beat off attacks and elsewhere had spectacular
success, resulting in thousands of prisoners being delivered to an overburdened Pretoria.

Theiler tried to be busy by riding from time to time to the various positions to inspect horses
without any need of his care. It was not yet the season for the Sickness though he had noted
cases among captured English horses. He had hoped for interesting war wounds on which he
could practise surgery; but cases were few and most were despatched with a coup de grace.
Glanders, being a stable disease, was hardly present; but there were infestations of ‘Brand-
ziekte’ (a form of eczema) and — massively — of ticks. Horses suffered occasionally from heat-
stroke (the burghers poured cold water over them), saddle sores, laryngitis and because of the
appalling plague of flies, conjunctivitis or inflamed eyes. A few had shot wounds and Theiler
began a study of the effect of soft-nosed bullets. Apart from the interest of his intense observation
now increasingly condemnatory, he and his staff were plainly bored and extremely uncomfort-
able in their exposed bivouac on top of the hill.

With Christmas, the opera bouffe complexion of the whole scene was emphasised. The Swiss
celebrated with ‘Christmas dinner’, what passed for a ‘tree’ and the antics of the joker Deschler,
the party being attended by Major Wolmarans and Lieutenant Wiehmann, all duly photo-
graphed for their families at home. The Boers (or their foreign friends) fired into Ladysmith
shell-casings inscribed ‘With the Compliments of the Season’ containing plum puddings which
were received with mystification and amusement. By then, all the cattle had been eaten and
horses were being slaughtered. Conditions in the town were appalling but, convinced though
they were that ‘Tommy Atkins would come as a prisoner to Pretoria’, the Boers had no reason
to expect its fall. Atkins had shown extraordinary bravery and stubbornness in storming Plat-
rand and other aggressive sorties. There was always evidence that his spirits were high. Theiler

12 himself told how, with both sides extensively using the heliograph, exchanges were sometimes
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Daspoort Disinfection Station, built of wood and corrugated-iron and standing on boggy ground, which became in July 1898
the Z.A.R. Government Bacteriological Laboratory directed by Arnold Theiler.

Government Veterinarian Theiler (wearing his famous white apron) in the Daspoort Laboratory with Charles Favre in 1899.




Swazi King Ngwane V (Bunu) with his bear-

leader Commandant Matthys Grobler, his

brother Lomwazi and an officer (Erasmus) of

the Staatsartillerie in Pretoria early in 1899,

Apart from this official picture, Bunu refused
to be photographed.

Theiler’s secret snapshot of Bunu with his arm
familiarly on Commandant Grobler’s shoulder
at the Staatsartillerie’s show of force.
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made. When Ladysmith heliographed Colenso for help, the Boers intercepted the signal and
replied ‘We are coming tomorrow’ to which Colenso flashed back ‘Be damned!’.

Theiler and his Swiss did guard-duty for the big gun and were exposed to shell fire. Their
nights were often sleepless and their days without water for washing. It struck him that ‘this
kind of life suits a great number of the Boers ~ the class of bijwoner or poor farmers who hardly
have enough to live on. They find everything supplied, — meat, clothing, etc. I am sorry for these
people because after the war, they will again have to do uncongenial work and I am convinced
that they will bring the Government down . . .’ In fact they achieved it before the war ended.

On the 10th January 1900, Lord Roberts landed in Cape Town as Commander-in-Chief
replacing the stymied Buller. He ordered numerous radical changes which took time to have
effect. An immediate priority was the reorganisation of Army Transport and its servicing by
tens of thousands of oxen, then particularly prone to Lung Sickness. Southern Africa could not
be conquered by a series of dashes. It must be solidly and reliably plodded through with no risk
of a break in supplies. Major Frederick Smith was withdrawn from Colenso to see to it with the
assistance of Hutcheon and his staff at the Cape. Before Roberts could change the order of
battle, the pace of the horse was finally defeated. It was, as Theiler had frequently noted, the
pace of Boer warfare. In conflicts with natives, the Boers rode up on their ponies, fired their
roers and withdrew to reload. In later wars, they tethered their horses behind a hill, hid among
rocks, ambushed and fired upon orderly forces and, depending upon the result, either
regained their mounts and escaped or came down for the capture. The sieges of Kimberley,
Mafeking and Ladysmith were quite foreign to their manner and subdued their dash and spirit.
Elsewhere the old commando tactics were devastating to the English. They made it possible for
‘each man to be his own general’ and to obey the orders of a commandant because he agreed
with him.

* * *

Early in January 1900, Theiler accompanied by Kollmann and Otto Meyer returned to Pre-
toria on two weeks’ leave to attend to his local obligations. In two long letters to his parents
(subsequently published in the Schweizer Freie Press under the title of ‘Boer Camp near Lady-
smith’), he expressed his deep disillusion with the capacity of his confréres to wage war and the
integrity of their intentions. At that time, they were conceited with success. To have humbled
mighty England whom no European nation would dare challenge, went to their heads. Such
braggadocio also went to Emma’s head — “Who repairs the railway lines for them and who
organises the colossal railway traffic to the various war areas? The Hollander. Who organises
the postal service to the camps? the telegraph service (which connected all the camps to Pretoria)?
The Hollander likewise. Who casts their gun-shells and repairs their big guns for them? “A few
Frenchmen”. Who makes the munitions for their Mausers? “A few Germans” . . .”; but nothing
either she or Arnold could write abroad would change the sentimental glorification of ‘the
Boers’ which possessed all Europe.

Theiler ‘arranged things’ in his laboratory and contemplated taking some of it into the field.
He had found the ennui intolerable on top of Bulwana and proposed making researches on

~1-7 active service. All was well at home but the Auditor-General constantly harassed him to account

for the £200 he claimed for expenses, ignoring the impounded receipts. His father must write
to Jean Dietschi in Cape Town to enquire about his cases and at least ensure that they were dry
and safe. Emma was saving all she could and economising on the now costly foodstuffs. ‘It

~19 would not be surprising’, she wrote, ‘if through cares and anxiety, I soon went grey!” The
R Government itself was breaking into locked and barricaded chemists, outfitters, drapers and

boot shops to ‘commandeer’ their contents.
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An English offensive had already started in Natal when Theiler left Pretoria on the 22nd
January 1900. He had been re-posted to another hilltop near Colenso where Wolmarans and
his battery had taken station and the veterinary wagon had already been brought by his assist-
ants. The battle of Spionkop was nearing its appalling end with Favre in the final assault and
capture of English prisoners. Louis Botha’s strategies had triumphed. Riding a few days later
with Wolmarans round the senseless British positions, Theiler commented — ‘It was sad to see
the dead English soldiers, still unburied, lying around in an advanced stage of decomposition.’

%2 To Emma he wrote that it was a gruesome sight that he would never forget. Scorching heat by

By

day, bitter cold by night and the withering fire of the burghers in their favourite fight among
rocks, had massacred the bravest. At the end of it all, Botha, Wolmarans and a secretary making
their report in Wolmarans’ tent, were found with their heads on the table in exhausted sleep.

%5 Dr F. V. Engelenburg, editor of De Volksstem recorded it and, himself a witness of the Natal
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battlefront at the end of 1899, displayed photographs of the English dead at Spionkop in the
windows of his office in Pretoria. They brought no solace to Emma.

She knew that Arnold was in the thick of heavy fighting as the British drove toward relieving
Ladysmith (while other forces pushed on toward Kimberley). He and his men were now plagued
by the myriad flies which they had escaped on Bulwana Hill. It was the season for Horse Sickness
and, Emma reflected bitterly, the Boers would mock him again for having no panacea. His
disenchantment would deepen and he would lose the will to work. His aims and ambitions were
now in her hands - his orders for lymph and cultures from abroad were arriving as well as Jet-
ters from his new renowned friends, Kitt of Miinchen and Nocard of Alfort. It was gratifying
for her to know that ‘such people interest themselves in Arnold’. To her manifold duties
(Schroeder was now back at the laboratory and frequently requiring her advice), she added the
copying of two immensely long letters written on the 11th and 16th February by Arnold describ-
ing the Battle of the Tugela and ‘the explosion of the war situation’ of which he had already
warned her. They were duly published in Switzerland.

In the fury of Buller’s artillery assault, he was frequently under fire. Wolmarans now took his
orders from the State Attorney J. C. Smuts who had temporarily forsaken his Pretoria office.
Always in attendance, Theiler had ridden with Wolmarans to call on Smuts and Schalk Burger
and later on Louis Botha where he received an order to see the Commandant-General Joubert
at the main camp near Ladysmith. With Otto Meyer, he rode all day to reach Joubert who or-
dered him to inspect all the English horses captured by the burghers, kept apart in a camp two
hours distant. There were so many that an English trick to infect the Boer horses with Glanders
was suspected. (English horse and ox transport was in fact afflicted with Glanders and Lung.
Sickness by the burghers abandoning infected animals — an accepted device of war.) Making his
examination next day, Theiler found none and rode back, dead-tired. He was now 6 hours daily
in the saddle, often without food or sleep, in hideous heat and plagued by ‘the millions of flics
almost as troublesome as the English’.

The British attack intensified and General Botha, commanding in the area, made his head-

9 2 quarters in Wolmarans’ tent. ‘He sat coolly there’, Theiler wrote, ‘every inch a soldier, and

9

precisely gave his orders, made his dispositions and encouraged his men to codperate energetic-
ally as soon as the first shot fell. We received orders to saddle up. There was no thought of sleep-
ing. Everybody felt the seriousness of the situation.” The carnage among the attacking English,
seeking to command the Tugela crossing, had been horrifying, reminding Theiler again of the
casualties of Spionkop which he had described in the moving detail also recorded by J. C.

5 Smuts- “The rocks were blue from the impact of bullets, the ground red from floods of blood.

The bodies looked terrible - almost all were shot in the head and the facial features were fright-
fully disfigured. One had the impression that they had died a horrible death.’, Theiler wrote.
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“This view of horrors will remain with me forever. I know now what war means.” Encamped
on a farm serving as an ambulance station, he now saw the horror of the British wounded.
In Ladysmith, there was carnage of another sort. The inhabitants, civil and military, died in
great number from malnutrition, typhoid, dysentery and shrapnel. The survivors depended on
the butchering of horses. It fell to Watkins-Pitchford, a tottering victim of dysentery, to super-
vise their selection and death. Soldiers cut steaks from the quivering corpses of cavalry horses
shot in battle on the periphery of the town; but within it, only staggering wrecks remained.
Like Theiler, Pitchford wrote a daily chronicle to his wife but, unlike his friend whose letters

‘515 L, were eagerly published in Switzerland, Pitchford’s ‘Besieged in Ladysmith’ was not published

At

until 1964 in South Africa.

As the British offensive developed on the Tugela heights early in February, the cavalry
awaiting consolidation and establishment of supplies, remained inactive except for patrols at
Modder River in the Northern Cape. The underfed horses grazed on ravaged ground and de-
veloped sand colic and laminitis. Large numbers of others became unfit for service, mostly from
defective saddles, through ‘sore backs which became a veritable epizootic’. Nonetheless while

4 -1 Theiler performed his duties (as ‘Horse Doctor and State Veterinary Surgeon — fortunately

A%

aq

diseases and wounds occur seldom among the horses’) on all parts of the chaotic Natal front,
the British swept north and relieved Kimberley on the 15th February. On the 18th, they sur-
rounded Cronje and his forces at Paardeberg and forced his surrender. The cavalry by then was
approaching exhaustion; but, while Buller made his last drive on Ladysmith, Roberts was de-
termined to traverse the comparatively short distance to Bloemfontein and capture the Free
State capital.

The 27th February was the anniversary of Amajuba — the day on which the Boers had destroy-
ed the British forces apparently impregnably encamped on top of a mountain in 1881, thereby
winning the First War of Independence in conditions humiliating to the British Army. The
thought of vengeance was in many minds but most among the burghers in Natal. At dusk on the
28th, Lord Dundonald and his cavalry rode into Ladysmith and relieved the siege. The first
to grasp Pitchford’s hand was his colleague Verney. Their mutual colleague Theiler was lost
in the rout in the hills. Fatally, Joubert had allowed the initiative to slip from his trembling
fingers.

Disaster loomed on every front. The old President, barely returned from an arduous rallying
mission to the Natal front and accompanied by Piet Grobler, Frikkie Eloff and his physician
Dr Heymans, courageously hurried to Bloemfontein to confer with his ally, President Steyn.
On the S5th March, they cabled the British prime minister, Lord Salisbury, proposing peace.
They hoped that General Christiaan de Wet would oppose Roberts’ advance at the Modder
River and that Louis Botha, newly-appointed Acting Commandant-General, would hold the
British forces from his new base in the Biggarsberg in Natal. Together the two men tried to
hearten their dispirited forces at a new line intended to block the British progress to Bloemfon-
tein.

During all this time, Emma had had no word from Arnold ~ previously in close and quick
communication through the Staatsartillerie despatch lines and telegraph service. She knew that
Kimberley was relieved, that a great offensive was taking place in Natal though the papers
published no news, and that everywhere the British seemed to be prevailing. The tension grew
too much. Arnold’s last letter was dated the 16th February. It was now the 5th March. She
instructed Schroeder to telegraph from the Laboratory to the Staatsartillerie camp in Natal,
asking that he be recalled. There was no reply. On the 6th, she asked the Artillery Headquarters
to telegraph to the same effect. No answer came. On the 7th, she herself telegraphed into the
void. That night, Theiler and Favre walked into the house.
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CHAPTER TWELVE

A COUNTRY CORRUPTED 1900

THEILER HAD a great deal to say. The letters in which he had told some of it were delivered
long after his return to Pretoria. During the dreadful days in the Natal hills, he had ridden from
laager to laager inspecting the horses and from battery to battery where his Staatsartillerie
colleagues bravely but vainly tried to stop the British advance. Joubert, “in a bad mood’, de-
tained him to hear his eye-witness account of one of the fierce actions. With Wolmarans, he had
fractionally missed death from fiying shrapnel. All the commandants were now known to him -
Lucas Meyer, Ben Viljoen, Louis Botha ‘friendly and in good spirits as usual’. Among the Free
State forces, he had found Otto Henning engaged in similar duties. Much had been discussed
between them on the night they spent in Theiler’s tent. He was making voluminous notes on sick
and wounded horses with the intention of writing an account for the Schweizer Archiv fiir
Tierheilkunde.

The perpetual noise of gunfire, the crash of bursting shells, the clouds of dust from military
movements, the smoke and din of battle had suddenly ceased on Sunday the 26th February.
Without the knowledge or consent of their commanders, both sides had agreed on a cease-fire
until 6 p.m. ‘Boers and British left their trenches and met half-way to speak to each other. On
this day, the British buried their numerous dead and should have built stronger entrenchments.
An English officer said that Cronje had been captured. Another stated that up till now, they had
merely been playing but next week they would {ight in earnest. For the whole day, both sides
told each other all sorts of stories. On the stroke of 6 in the evening, they began to shoot at each
other and for the whole night through, we heard the salvoes of the English . . .” Two days later,
Ladysmith had been relieved and the great rout began.

From the 13th March to the 7th April, Theiler at home wrote a 60-page letter to his parents
describing his experiences in the chaotic flight from Natal when, leaderless and demoralised, the
burghers thought only of escaping from Buller’s putsch. Louis Botha tried to rally them but
only the best of his untrained fighting material and the professional artillery remained firm. The
rest pushed and shoved their way along the escape route and through two narrow poorts,
Theiler and his wagon with them, until they reached a safe distance from the English onslaught.
Horror, bitterness and disillusion were instinct in his factual account; but, as soon as his letter
had been taken to Switzerland by his friend Kollmann, remorse and a sense of loyalty overcame
him. He cabled his father to suppress its publication or at least amend it. His previous letters had
appeared in the Swiss Press and had been reproduced in the larger German newspapers. They
had been widely read. A Swiss woman living in Russia wrote him about them. Now he felt he
was telling too much and implying that the forces which employed him had fled instead of re-
treated. In time, Theiler’s truthful letters were treated with incredulity in a Europe besotted
with emotionalism.

* * *

In Pretoria he was immediately preoccupied with his many duties. Routinely, he had to reactiv-
ate the Daspoort Laboratory with its Swiss assistants to meet a demand for Lung Sickness and
other vaccines. Work at the Artillery Camp was also more demanding than he had expected. At
the same time, he clung to the vision of a research institute which Baden-Baden had not only en-

?) couraged but his co-delegates made possible by active codperation. Nocard and Kitt had sent
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the cultures he required; Zschokke would arrange for Silberschmid in Zurich to supply others;
the Bacteriological Institutes at Berne and Lausanne were supplying lymph regularly once a
month. ‘I am anxious soon to resume my scientific work’, he wrote and sent his father a long list
of requirements to be despatched ‘as soon as Peace is concluded” which he would signalise in a
cable with the single word ‘Yes’.

Nor did he neglect his duties as president of the Schweizerverein Alpina. A fund was inaugurat-
ed to help the dependents of the many serving Swiss. The willing Kollmann undertook to be its
agent in Europe and to raise all the money he could. (One of the means he took was the sale of
postcards showing the Swiss at war in South Africa, duly endorsed by the Alpina Society, which
became rare items of Africana.) Perversely Theiler continued to be pestered by the Auditor-
General through Schutte for the receipts he could not supply. He needed the money for his
family, he wrote as he was ‘on commando’ and could at any time be ordered into action. Worth-
ily to represent the Republic and Natal at Baden-Baden, he had had to maintain a high stand-
ard in clothes, travelling, accommodation and other things for some of which there were no re-
ceipts. He began to feel unjustly treated.

The illusion of ‘Peace’ was fast disappearing. Endangered by capture in the Free State (only
the exhaustion of the British cavalry horses prevented it), the plucky President and his sjambok-
wielding colleague Steyn failed to stimulate general resistance to the British advance on Bloem-
fontein. Kruger returned baffled to Pretoria and Roberts occupied the Free State capital — at an
ecological cost that was to cripple South Africa for years to come. Virtually paralysed, his army
could undertake no major operation for at least six weeks and apart from minor suppressive
actions (some disastrous), remained quiescent pending recovery and the establishment of trans-
port and supply lines.

‘The wreck of an army lies scattered in and about Bloemfontein. I say the wreck of an army
for what is an army without horses and draught animals?’, wrote the correspondent of the
London Times. The British cavalry had ridden their mounts to death, the commissariat had flogg-
ed their oxen into uselessness and the carnage was completed by wounds, diseases, the biting
cold of winter and the seasonal firing of the veld into blackened wastes. ‘The reckless waste of
animal life and disregard of suffering was quite unimaginable’, it was stated; but many war cor-
respondents and observers tried to convey the enormity of the scene.

The Kimberley-Bloemfontein road was lined with the stinking carcases of horses and oxen
which clouds of vultures failed to demolish. ‘ More pathetic than the sight of the dead horses’
wrote Charles E. Hands of the Daily Mail ‘was the sight of the living ones. There were horses
that had been hit, horses that had been broken down with over-work and under-feeding; horses
with hideous saddle-sores hidden by clustering mounds of flies; horses abandoned for every con-
ceivable defect; some horses for whom death had loosened their rider’s control, big English
horses, unshod Boer ponies, most of them with hip-bones that projected so far as to suggest dis-
location; and all along by the side of the Modder River where they found grazing and water,
they were wandering about, helpless, forlorn, abandoned creatures who looked at you dubiously
as though they feared you were bringing them more of glorious warfare . . .’

“Nothing in my experience’, wrote the American correspondent Julian Ralph, ‘compares with
the sight of the hundreds upon hundreds of dead and dying horses on this 100 miles of war’s
promenade. To see them tattered by shell and then ripped open by vultures, often before they
were cold in death, was enough to distress the most impassive. For some reason, hun-
dreds had dragged themselves to the main road and then had died in the track of waggons or
by its side. But the worst horror was the last battlefield, only 24 hours after the fight at Drie-
fontein. Not nearly all the horses were yet dead and as I came up beside the prostrate body of a
beautiful steed, it would slowly and painfully lift its head and turn upon me a pair of the most
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pleading, woe-stricken eyes full of hunger to know what I could do for it . . .” He could do no-
thing and went on, passing the stumbling wrecks which fell from weakness as the vultures watch-
ed.

In the action at Driefontein, the cavalry horses — each carrying the weight of two men in rider
and equipment — had managed only a slow trot and then come to a standstill from weakness.
‘On the 13th March, Bloemfontein formally surrendered. The condition of the cavalry horses
was now piteous. They swayed in the ranks from sheer muscular weakness and exhaustion and,
apart from considerations of forage, it was evident they had reached the limit of their resistance
and that the Army would have to be remounted. In a month, the Cavalry Division had ceased to
exist.’ Frederick Smith who witnessed the scene, continued: ‘ They were living skeletons covered
with a tightly-drawn skin through which projected all the unshrinkable parts of the frame . . .
When tied up in batches, they leant against each other and the centres collapsed under the press-
ure. There were hundreds of such cases . . . The majority were past all chance of recovery within
a reasonable time, if ever. Food appeared to do them little good. Corn did harm for it could not
be digested. Scores died daily. A cold or wet night settled for ever the fate of the weakest . . .
These wrecks of war, this flotsam and jetsam of human passions and strife, these helpless victims
of a policy of the grossest cruelty and gravest injustice were dying by hundreds, anywhere and
everywhere. In camps, in the streets of the town, in any water supply, and bodies could be found
in every donga. The air was poisoned by their decomposition . . .” Water supplies were con-
taminated, diseases were disseminated, an era of toxication and infection afflicted the whole
country. Wherever the forces went, human and animal health grievously suffered. The land itself
grew rank and barren.

Opportunist commandos in the Free State caught detachments of the English at a disad-
vantage and from Thaba Nchu, Reddersburg, Dewetsdorp and other actions, hundreds of
prisoners arrived in Pretoria. At 11 o’clock on the night of the 27th March 1900, the church bells
tolled for the sudden death of General Joubert, a feeble Commandant-General but a revered
national figure. The captive British officers at Waterval sent an address of condolence to his
widow and a wreath to his State funeral. Theiler reflected on the obstinate old man whom he had
often officially encountered — ‘it was not easy to communicate scientific veterinary views to him
who had all his life farmed cattle and horses and who considered his opinion to rate equally with

) (o that of a diplomaed Swiss veterinary surgeon!” Soon after, Louis Botha was formally appointed

Acting Commandant-General and charged with organising the defence of the Transvaal. Vast

| -] swarms of locusts were devouring the only country that had not yet felt the scourge of war.

Pretoria was in an uneasy state of equanimity and tension. Much reduced in population, there
were still pedestrians and traffic in the streets — stopped in their tracks by the sight and sound of

\% Dr de Ceoninck’s new automobile. There was much Government and military activity. The

4

competent and intrepid Major Wolmarans had been given command of the artillery in the forces
that Botha was assembling to counter Roberts’ forthcoming move toward the Transvaal. Every-

< 0 one knew that high event was planned for the Queen’s birthday on the 24th May and that
2.\ aggression could soon be expected. Theiler found time to visit the railway workshops where the

Republic’s ‘secret weapon’ was being prepared. It was a 15.5 ecm Creusot gun (Long Tom)
mounted on a truck. He watched its first firing tests. The heavy recoil threw the gun back as
much as a metre so that the gun would have to be relaid at every shot. By jamming iron wedges
under the truck 's wheels and locking a heavy munitions truck behind it, the difficulty was over-
come.

A further false confidence came from increasing support from overseas. Men from all over the
world (largely undisciplined adventurers) had joined the various commandos, including a man
of military experience and stature, the Comte de Villebois-Mareuil who, after service in Natal
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and the Free State, commanded his own force of Uitlanders in defence of the Transvaal. (He
was killed on reconnaissance at Boshof on the 5th April.) Soon after his return to Pretoria,
Theiler had welcomed an impressive Swiss Red Cross unit which added to the large number of
Swiss already in the field. He took its three doctors — Jacques de Montmollin, René Koenig and

— 2 P. A. Suter (of the Swiss Artillery) — to the State Secretary F. W. Reitz and devoted himself to
— 2, helping them. At that time of confusion, they could not be posted to any particular field or even

to the local hospitals owing to a plethora of doctors. They kicked their heels in an hotel until the
influx of prisoners from the Free State rendered their services acceptable at Waterval where,
visiting them on the Ist April, Theiler noted the primitive conditions endured by sufferers from

5 typhoid, dysentery and malaria. The Government had in mind that de Montmollin and Koenig

should run the Johannesburg General Hospital and Suter take an ambulance to the Villebois-

2 (& Mareuil commando. Theiler went to elaborate trouble to help them. All their unwanted equip-

2

2%
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ment was stored in his laboratory and when Suter’s unit consisting of an ambulance wagon,
trolley, tents, provisions and 10 mules, left for the Free State, Theiler detailed Otto Meyer
(fluent in Hoch- and Schwizerduch which Suter spoke, Dutch, English and “Kaffir’) to accom-
pany him.

Theiler himself was heavily occupied. Wolmarans had implied that he would not be required
in the desultory engagements in the Free State and he applied himself to exceptional duties as
‘horse doctor’. Many wounded animals had arrived from the various fronts and the Horse
Death was raging as well as Lung Sickness and other diseases. The laboratory was still pro-
ducing, with difficulty, Smallpox vaccine. He was also constantly pestered by private individuals.
There could be no thought of research in such circumstances except to continue his ‘literary
work’ on ‘The Horse in War’. His duties took him on the 24th April to Johannesburg where,
standing in the street talking to his unpopular colleague J. F. Scott, he was deafened by the
explosion that largely destroyed the Begbie Foundry where several Swiss worked to produce
munitions. Rushing to the site of the disaster, presumed to be the work of British saboteurs (all
the British were then expelled from Johannesburg), Theiler later wrote a graphic eye-witness
account. He was due to dine at Park Station with Drs de Montmollin and Koenig, then in charge
of the Johannesburg Hospital, but they were fully occupied with the heavy casualties.

It was no secret that Roberts had completed his preparations for the invasion of the Trans-
vaal. Troops had massed at Bloemfontein; thousands of oxen had been bought for transport
(Melton Prior’s conveyance for the campaign was a tented horse-wagon drawn by four oxen);
food, fodder, ammunition and medical supplies had been accumulated; and careful measures
taken to keep the mounted troops in the saddle. At the beginning of May, Roberts’ strategies
began to develop. Theiler was told by Wolmarans to re-assemble his unit in readiness for service
on the western front where the English were thought to be intent on relieving Mafeking. By the
3rd May, von Bergen and his orderly D. T. Botha had retrieved his wagon and mules and he
began to re-stock it. It was now bitterly cold and Emma made him a canvas sleeping-bag lined
with a woollen blanket and a rolled-up mattress. They discussed whether she should leave with
the children and escape to Switzerland. Emma was against it. Their main asset, the house, would
have to be abandoned and she could not leave Arnold to combat future difficulties alone. He
would need her more than ever.

* * *
His unit entrained on the 13th May, his staff consisting of his orderly D. T. Botha, Favre and an

unattached Swiss Braunschweiler who, if not as gay as the frivolous Deschler, brought his guitar
and a gift for song. Theiler noted everything for another lengthy letter. He thought now that
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there was nothing he did not know about the Boers (as he proclaimed all his life without ever
fathoming their inscrutable character) and would best be able to explain their behaviour and
actions to the disbelieving Swiss. Leaving his laboratory and the hard but rewarding work of
tending artillery horses had cost him dearly; but in his sometimes sanctimonious manner, he
affirmed that ‘a sense of duty which I acquired as a Swiss soldier does not allow me to withdraw
even from the great danger in which we always are’. A republican by birth and upbringing, he
never wavered from his belief that the cause of the Z.A R, was just, Its citizens were another
matter.

In one of the most famous marches in military history, the British Army was already far ad-
vanced on the 300-mile trek from Bloemfontein to Pretoria, Its strategies completely outwitted
the commandos assembled by Botha to defend the railway. Wherever they took their stand, the
central force confronted them while cavalry wings on either side forced their retreat by threat-
ening to cut off their rear. The bridges they blew up were repaired ‘with wonderful speed’,
Theiler noted, and the British were again upon them. Moving south, he saw at Vereeniging on
the Vaal River which marked the Republic’s border, the first fighting men fleeing from the defeat
at Kroonstad, being urged back to the front by Schalk Burger, Hendrik Schoeman and other
leaders. Botha intended making a stand on the Rhenoster River. The burghers continued aband-
oning their commandos and riding hard for home.

Like the Long Tom, Theiler’s wagon remained on its truck when the train reached Kopjes in
the Free State, site of Botha's proposed stand. His tents were pitched alongside and he rode
with Wolmarans along one line of positions that would harass the British if they approached the
railway. The scouts reported that they had not moved from Kroonstad. Then they were stated
to be on the march and action might be expected on the 18th or 20th May. On the morning of
Monday the 20th, Theiler lay in his tent with a feverish cold when the order came to return to
Vereeniging without a shot being fired. ‘At first I did not believe the message but was soon con-
vinced of its truth as already the horse commandos were retreating everywhere. I sent the wagon
and the mules back with my orderly. We loaded our horses on to the awaiting train and soon we
all went, in the company of Generals Schalk Burger and Botha, back to the Vaal. On the right
and left of the railway line, the commandos rode closely packed in thick clouds of dust. We
spoke only of retiring.’

The British had temporarily ignored the railway and made an enveloping advance on all sides.
During all this time, Roberts in the field was in close communication with Milner in Cape Town
on how the conquered territories should be administered and who should control the Transvaal
from Pretoria which would shortly be entered. They had reached easy unanimity on the pro-
posed civil and military staff.

As the retreat from Kopjes began, Theiler’s heart lifted at the sight of the Swiss flag on Suter’s
ambulance, also in flight to the Vaal. Suter was with the Wakkerstroom Commando which,
arriving in Vereeniging, was posted home to Natal for further duty. A year later, Oberleutnant
Dr.med. P. A. Suter, Artz der Schweizerischen Feldbatterie 29 and field doctor under General
de la Rey and Assistant-Commandant-General Christian Botha (elder brother of Louis) publish-
ed a copiously detailed and illustrated book ‘Unter dem Schweizerischen Roten Kreuz in
Burenkriege’. By then, Theiler had fallen out with the assertive Swiss whom he had sent on his
way.

Botha now took his stand on the Vaal River and deployed his remaining resources including
the Long Tom accordingly. All the Staatsartillerie batteries were concentrated at Vereeniging
and Theiler rode among them, checking their horses. He noticed that of the mass of horses of
the burghers on commando, half or even more were used as pack animals. There was little if any
wagon transport. War Councils were held every day. ‘It was decided to die on the banks of the
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Vaal rather than let one Englishman set foot on Transvaal soil.” On the 19th May, Botha and all
the Vecht-kommandante rode off on reconnaissance to locate the positions of the commandos
awaiting the English - far in the rear, it was thought, after the headlong retreat of the Boers.

With Wolmarans, Theiler went to the telegraph post connected with the Artillery Camp in
Pretoria and exchanged messages with Mike du Toit who asked about the English. They replied
that they were nowhere in sight. They returned to their tents to find a report that “the English
were on the opposite bank of the Vaal River and at the same moment, their cannon thundered
from a westerly direction. We packed up, inspanned, mounted our horses and watched how the
iron railway bridge over the Vaal was blown up. A violent detonation and the iron structure lift-
ed in the air and plunged with an enormous crash into the depths. We again went to the tele-
graph post to inform General Botha that the enemy was coming. Rifle fire could then be clearly
heard.” The English were not confronting them across the river. They were over it and on all
sides, even behind them.

The fearful flight began again, The burghers everywhere fired the long tinder-dry yellow grass
and dense clouds of smoke obscured the invaders and the pursued. Theiler told his orderly to
take the wagon ahead while he rode among the burghers, listening to their vituperation against
their generals. At night, he and his men found the wagon at Meyerton station in freezing cold
and comforted themselves with a round of grog and Braunschweiler’s singing in hellish circum-
stances. ‘ The whole area as far as the eye could see was a lake of fire, leaping and darting flames
on all sides, the horizon edged with glowing light, the zenith a purple lustre. It was a beautiful
sight! Tired as we were, we held ourselves upright in the saddle with bad jokes and singing.” At 2
in the morning, they reached Klipriviersberg station and rolled themselves in their blankets.

Swiss in heart and mind, Theiler had given himself to the Z.A.R. and its cause. On the follow-
ing day (Sunday), he faced the ultimate disillusion. * Rumours swirled through the air that there
would be a War Council. Then we saw the whole company of Generals and Commandants sit-
ting in the grass and — this was evidently the most important — a photograph was being taken.
Truly, they allowed themselves to be photographed! It would have been laughable were it not
the tragic truth!’ The plan then made was to stand and fight; but the English were gone ahead
and there was nothing at which Long Tom could fire. On the coldest night of the war, the frost
was finger-thick on Theiler’s blankets. In the morning, it was again retreat. No one thought of
the English Tommies, many without great-coats and on route-march rations, who in arctic
conditions had out-marched, out-ridden and out-manoeuvred them.

Theiler and his unit were ordered to follow General Botha’s wagon with Wolmarans and his
valiant artillerymen skirmishing on the flank. They arrived in the afternoon at the Rietfontein
Mine beyond Elandsfontein (Germiston) a few miles outside Johannesburg on the junction rail-
way line to Pretoria, where the Long Tom stood in its truck at a siding. For the first time, Theiler
heard that his orders were to follow Botha to Pretoria. They were confirmed by Wolmarans'
adjutant; but, rebelliously and for his own reasons, Theiler decided to ride in the darkness to
Johannesburg and find Wolmarans. Braunschweiler would go with the wagon to Pretoria.

The British were already on the outskirts of the eerily empty town with its boarded-up shops
and business premises. Panic had infected the few remaining inhabitants and there was general
lawlessness and thievery, particularly of horses. In the chaos and gloom, his small party rode
through the dark streets and Theiler’s veld-trained pony, unaccustomed to asphalt, came down
heavily on its knees. Somehow he found his way to Swiss acquaintances who were ready at a
price to house him, Favre and the orderly and to stable their horses. The British were expected
on the following day. Preparing to leave early in the morning, Theiler found his horse complete-
ly lame. He sent Botha back to Rietfontein to fetch a horse from the entrained wagon but the
British were already in possession. There was no alternative but to spend the whole of Tuesday
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the 29th May in Johannesburg, tending his pony. Toward evening, Wolmarans and his battery
rode through the town in retreat. That night, with gunfire all around them, Theiler and his com-
patriots celebrated their einigkeit with song and drink, swore to stick together in tragic times and
to amalgamate the Helvetia Society in Johannesburg with the Alpina Schweizerverein in Pre-
toria. As aliens on a foreign but attractive soil, it was, he said, most moving.

Alone in Pretoria, Emma knew the worst, Wolmarans and his 3rd Battery, she had heard, had
returned to Pretoria on the same day. Any moment she expected Arnold to arrive on the train
with his wagon. ‘The Boers do not wish to be trapped in Pretoria — they will defend the town as
long as maybe from the forts outside and then withdraw, leaving Pretoria to the enemy’, she
wrote his parents on the night that he drank with his friends 36 miles away. She was quite calm.
The last stalwarts were leaving Pretoria, Kruger with them on his way to Machadodorp. A
Committee of Citizens was formed to prepare for surrender.

The pony recovered sufficiently for Botha, lighter than Theiler, to mount it and they rode pre-
cariously northward along the old Pretoria road on the 30th May. There was artillery action as
they passed the Geldenhuis Estate and sundry burghers firing from the small kopjes. Theiler
asked the commandant what the ‘plan’ now was but he merely shrugged his shoulders. His men
had captured an English officer and a ‘lord’. As the commando mounted and moved off,
Theiler sidled up on his horse alongside ‘the son of an English duke’ and fluently engaged in
lively discussion. He did not then know that it was Lord Cecil Manners, son of the Duke of
Rutland and uncle of Diana Manners (who became Lady Duff Cooper and later Viscountess
Norwich) who was representing the Morning Post. ‘All will be over soon’, Theiler reported him
as saying, ‘All will soon be forgotten as England will adapt her politics accordingly.’

(Manners was taken to the officers’ prisoner-of-war camp at Daspoort but, as a non-combat-
ant newspaper correspondent, was quickly released on parole. He joined at the Grand Hotel in
Pretoria another titled colleague James Fraser H. St Clair Erskine, Earl of Rosslyn representing
the Daily Mail and The Sphere and similarly paroled after capture in the Free State early in
April. Rosslyn, like Emma and other alert persons in the town, had learned that Pretoria would
be only perfunctorily defended and that the British prisoners would therefore soon be released.
Through Lourengo Marques on the 30th May, he managed twice to cable accordingly to the
Daily Mail a week before the British Army appeared, thus achieving an unparallelled journalistic
coup. Manners, dealing less gloriously with his assignment, later in life developed a spy complex
and, finding life unendurable at the age of 80, threw himself under a train.)

The retiring commando was also making for Pretoria, intent on dispersal; but Theiler, Favre
and Botha broke away at a trot and reached the Capital before darkness fell at S in the afternoon
of the same day. To the south east of the town, firing could already be heard from guns at Zuur-
fontein (Modderfontein) as the British advanced along the line from Elandsfontein. They rode
through the confused and tumultuous streets to Daspoort and cries of joy and relief from Emma
and Mathilda. Theiler had been away for only 16 days and their world had collapsed. Braun-
schweiler awaited him with the news that the entrained wagon, packed with veterinary supplies,
had got as far as Irene when disaffected burghers, announcing that ‘it had to do with Uitlanders’
had wrecked it and strewn its contents over the veld. He had somehow got their baggage on to
another truck and safely brought it home.

* E #
Exhausted and dispirited, Theiler had the foundering horses stabled and tended at the laboratory

before finding his own first night’s rest. The next morning he rode at once to the Artillery Camp
and reported the loss of his wagon to Wolmarans, requesting his further orders. He was told:
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‘Be ready to set out at the first signal’. A Horse Doctor in the field without supplies would be
pointless; but there was no hope of his re-equipping his unit. Anarchy ruled and every man held
a revolver in his hand. The Government was gone, leaving worthless promissory notes; the
Citizens’ Committee was preparing for surrender; General Botha, fighting all the way, had not
yet asserted himself; hundreds of fleeing, looting burghers passed through the streets.

On the final day of May prior to the Easter weekend, the last vestiges of order vanished.
Theiler watched and recorded — ‘Pretoria was by all tokens completely lawless. The English
could come at any hour. Everything was on the brink. Early in the morning, people stormed the
Government Warehouse and helped themselves to the remaining provisions. It was a moment to
make psychological studies! Whoever knew that they could plunder came and plundered. No-
body bothered any more about class distinctions. Those who had the most and biggest wagons,
took the most away. Flour, Sugar, Coffee, Soap, Candles, Meat Products and much else. The
poor people of course came off worst. They could only take as much as they could carry. It was
infectious! All who had hands took, went, came again and took again! Men, women, children,
Kaffirs, Hottentots, Ladies, Gentlemen, everybody went to the Warchouse and helped them-
selves. Women became like hyenas. The image of the predatory animal stared out of their eyes
and the conventions of civilised humanity were lost. When the Government Warchouse was
empty, the mob went to private warehouses. Toward one o’clock, the panic reached its height.
Suddenly there was noised through the bye-ways ‘The English are here !’ The weapon-carrying
burghers took to their heels. The waves of people in the crowd hurried away. But the Kaffirs,
Hottentots and Bastards hurried to the place where the Khakis would come in.” (It was a false
alarm.)

Theiler left the town and stood guard over his laboratory at Daspoort. He carried a revolver
at all times. Looting was the order of the day and no horse was safe. At first, receipts were given
to the owners of appropriated animals but soon they were simply taken and the owners sjam-
bokked for demurring. Certain that they would be seized, Theiler’s orderly made off with two of
his commando horses. Those that remained were his own — ‘my private possession for which I
had had to pay hard cash.” One of his assistants ran to his house to tell him that von Bergen
guarding the stables was being kicked and beaten by three burghers, one purporting to be a
Veldcornet. Theiler ran to the laboratory where a Mauser-bearing friend had disconcerted the
raiders. One of them shot at a member of his staff. Infuriated, Theiler charged at him, drew his
revolver and fired, forgetting the safety-catch; but the raiders fied. * My sympathy for “the noble
pious Boers™ has now reached zero’, he said. The next day, Favre was beaten up by a desperate
Boer needing a horse. Others followed and finally Theiler obtained written confirmation from
Louis Botha's adjutant that his horses were not to be commandeered. Then two ‘generals’ came
and put him under arrest for ‘saving horses for the British® but Theiler talked them out of it.
*Give me an order that 1 need not go on commando and you can have my horses’, he said. With
Botha now rallying the burghers to resist the advancing British, they did not dare.

On Easter Monday the 4th June, with cannon fire clearly audible, Theiler early rode to town
and renewed his offer of service to Major Wolmarans at the Artillery Camp. No one there could
explain the noise of firing. Wolmarans intended finding a wagon which he should again equip
and join the commandos. ‘Come tomorrow’, he said. ‘I went home’, Theiler wrote, ‘had my
horse saddled and held myself ready to leave if the order came. I received no order and so it
happened that I stayed at home. Neither did the Government leave me, as Government Veterin-
ary Surgeon, any instructions nor did I receive orders from my military superiors as to what I
should do in all eventuality and therefore I decided to await the development of events in Pre-
toria and to hand over the Laboratory entrusted to me to the English if they came.” Even more
powerful in his mind was the thought that the burgher command and his Staatsartillerie col-
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leagues had removed their families to safety (Kruger’s wife Tant’ Gezina and Louis Botha’s
English-speaking wife remained in Pretoria) whereas his family in their isolated house would
be exposed to the greatest danger from looting lawless combatants. He must stay to guard
them,

There was for him now no shred of security. Kruger and his Government had abandoned the
Capital on the 29th May, taking the gold that sustained the Republic’s credit. Salary cheques
had been issued but the banks refused to cash them. Theiler suffered along with the infuriated
body of civil servants. On the same fateful Easter Monday that he reaffirmed his availability
to Wolmarans, worse befell them all. The State Attorney J. C. Smuts invaded the preserve of
Jules Perrin and caused to be removed from the Mint all the uncoined gold which was carried
away to an unknown destination. With it went Theiler’s last hope of recovering the £200 which
the State owed him for overseas expenses. He and his family faced destitution.

They stood outside the house at Daspoort on that day, watching the noisy war — to the huge
delight of the children. A British balloon which maintained surveillance over the area, rose again
above the hills to check all movement. Botha had disposed his dwindling forces along the low
hills south of Pretoria where the Schanzkop and Klapperkop forts should have commanded
approaches; but their guns had been dismantled and borne off for future action elsewhere. The
Theilers could trace the British bombardment from the little spurts made by shrapnel and the
dust clouds raised by shells. They could clearly hear in the crisp cold winter air every shot that
was fired — all morning and into the afternoon. At 4 p.m. the commandos had begun their rapid
withdrawal, galloping furiously through Daspoort past the laboratory. Theiler had never seen
them go so fast. This time, they were by no means a spent force. The British varied their cannon-
ade, always avoiding the town; but the watching family was never in danger — the nearest shell
fell a kilometre away. Night suddenly came in complete and ghostly silence.

When he lost his hand, Theiler might well have become a newspaper correspondent. His de-
votion to Science robbed the world of an exceptionally accurate observer and a vivid writer with
all the instincts of a true journalist. He used his talents now. On the morning of the 5th June, the
first * Khakis’ (probably from Hutton’s Mounted Infantry which had seized Fort Daspoortrand
without opposition) appeared at his door and asked the way to Pretoria. The British had oc-
cupied it at midnight. Theiler saddled up to see what was toward. Masses of Roberts’ en-
circling troops were now pouring into the town, among them from the north the remaining
British prisoners from Waterval (hundreds of whom had been treacherously removed by train
by the retreating commandos and condemned to an even more rigorous restraint). Theiler rode
gloomily into the town. He knew that at 2 p.m., Roberts would formally possess it in the name
of the Queen and, as both Swiss and burgher, he was sick at heart. ‘In the whole war where I
endured a hundred dangers, nothing has affected me more than the events of the last few days. . .
They were sad sad times and I am glad that they are at last over, dark though my personal future
now is.’

He told of the ceremony in the huge square before the Government Building where he had
conversed with Kruger, waited on the Executive Council and taken his instructions from the
State Secretaries Dr J. W, Leyds, C. van Boeschoten and F. W. Reitz. It was full of Khakis now
and the square was lined with them — thousands of tired troops who, through sheer weight of
numbers, superior organisation and equipment and, let it be admitted, courage and endurance,
had seized the Capital of the South African Republic. Theiler and the Pretoria Swiss grouped
themselves together among the few listless townsfolk and watched the military ceremony. Lord
Roberts with Kitchener on his left and followed by his general staff, trotted on to the square,
drums and fifes played a march, and to the hurrahs of the troops, Lady Roberts’ tiny silk Union
Jack (only three by two feet) fluttered almost invisibly up the massive fagade of the huge build-
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ing. The soldiers waved their helmets, the released English officers congregated in a corner exult-
ed and the townsfolk made no sign. ‘God save the Queen’ was movingly sung.

‘We were a few Swiss together’, Theiler wrote, ‘who found it very very humbling and for a
moment, we completely forgot that it was the Boer flag that had gone. We simply thought that
here and now, a Republic had been borne to the grave. That was to us all very sad. Is it now really
the Republic that has gone down or is it only Kruger’s oligarchy? Time will tell.” In their hearts,
all of them feared for Switzerland and Theiler hoped that his truthful letters describing corrupt
organisation and undisciplined armed forces would be marked and noted through publication in
the Swiss Press.

They stayed for the three-hour Parade of Troops which incredibly had been organised within
a few hours of the entry into Pretoria. ‘It was after zll not to be expected’, Theiler wrote, ‘that
these troops who had come the distance of 400 English miles from the Orange River here on
foot, who had always slept in the field and perhaps been unable to wash their bodies, should be
dressed for the drawing room. Further, they had been for days long before in battle and had had
no opportunity for cleaning up. One could see that they were extraordinarily tired but nonethe-
less they marched smartly. Soldierliness from any quarter pleasantly impresses us Swiss who
from home onward, are used to a soldier’s life.” And he went on to describe each unit as it pass-
ed, noting particularly ‘the Grenadier Guards who made an outstandingly good impression,
almost unexceptionally of tall strong stature’, ‘the great long naval guns on wooden carriages
drawn by 36 oxen’, the various regiments, the kilted Highlanders with their bagpipes, the long
baggage train and finally, ‘the enormous mass of ambulances’. He felt that Lord Roberts had
succeeded in his purpose of impressing the populace — though the Parade was only part of the
British Army.

On that same day (6th June), Roberts issued a proclamation ordering the surrender of arms,
guaranteeing security of person and property with penalties for looting and vandalism, and
offering an Oath of Neutrality to the remaining population. No troops were quartered in town.
They were encamped on the periphery and only administrative officers occupied the Govern-
ment Building. Day after day, Theiler called there on the Provost Marshal (Major Poore, a
famous Hampshire bat who soon inaugurated cricket matches), carrying a carte d’entrée which
someone finally endorsed ‘has been waiting many days to take the oath of neutrality’. Day after
day, he and his Swiss friends tried to establish that the weapons they dutifully surrendered
(Theiler his revolver and Swiss carbine, the Schweizerverein Alpina all their rifles — ‘it was one of
the hardest things we ever did and it was for us almost as sad to our spirits as a funeral’) were for
their private protection and should be returned. The documents they hopefully tendered were
bandied from pillar to post without reaching the appropriate official.

Milner remained in Cape Town but the careful plans made jointly with Lord Roberts and con-
firmed while the advance on Pretoria was being made, now came into operation. In the Govern-
ment Building there now sat Sir John Maxwell as Military Governor of Pretoria and the Trans-
vaal. Roberts himself, while continuing to command the campaign was assisted by George
Fiddes as political adviser, Johannes W. Wessels as legal adviser and Emrys Evans as financial
adviser. Within days, a Transvaal Government Gazette was published advising innumerable re-
gulations — Martial Law, curfew, censorship, the opening of the Town Market and other in-
formation. With all their genius for organisation, the British could not prevent initial chaos and
confusion, steep increases in the price of foodstuffs, and proliferation of disease in man and
beast. The war, close at hand, was by no means over.

In all the hubbub of activity, Theiler had no part. His career was ruined and no portent il-
lumined the future. His most valuable scientific property — the fruits of his European visit — had
probably been destroyed in their cases at Cape Town. The Daspoort Laboratory came to a

163



Ly

LS

standstill. There was no one to pay his Swiss assistants and they must find their livelihood else-
where. While Emma’s savings and the provisions hidden under the floor lasted, they could sur-
vive but not for long.

Soon after the occupation, General French’s forces, active in the north to prevent destruction
of the Pietersburg railway line, entered Pretoria along the Daspoort road, taking three hours to
pass the Theiler house. The English soldiers frequently called, politely asking to buy bread,
flour and eggs (then being sold at 5s. a dozen). Theiler’s seven experimental sheep were com-
mandeered without compensation. Everything was in military hands. On the level ground at Das-
poort, a chaotic Military Veterinary Hospital had been opened on the 9th June under the com-
mand of Lieutenant Shore (previously a prisoner) of the Army Veterinary Department. Theiler’s
empty stables were used to quarter horses. Botha was still fighting valorously only 15 miles
away at Donker Hoek (Diamond Hill) but without hope. Everything remained unsettled.

There was little Theiler could do except watch over his laboratory and write a long letter to
his parents recounting recent events. His Swiss medical colleagues, Drs de Montmollin and
Koenig who were leaving Johannesburg for Cape Town to travel via Delagoa Bay to rejoin the
Boers, would post it somewhere. Nothing was coming to Pretoria — no letters, no newspapers
(De Volksstem had ceased publication on the 4th June), no sign of the outside world. ‘Despite
personal freedom not being particularly restricted, one feels like a bird in a cage’, he wrote. At
least, he and his family were not molested. It was being a very bad time but they were well. With
military censorship, he would not be able to write openly again.
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CHAPTER THIRTEEN

SHUTTLECOCK 1900-1901

THE PROFLIGACY with which the British Army used its resources was based on the belief that
it would speedily terminate the war. Roberts’ advance sowed dragon’s teeth. Armed men
sprang from the soil, the war was not ended and the profligacy produced pollution and con-
tamination creating a more savage conflict than could ever be resolved by force of arms.

Shortly after its occupation, Pretoria was menaced by aggressive commandos in the west
(where Baden-Powell, ‘the hero of Mafeking’, lost many horses dislodging them) and in the
north where an attempt was made to attack the town from Onderstepoort, a few miles from
Daspoort, with the same cavalry losses. They occurred also in the south. Determined men con-
tinued defiant. Roberts was compelled to initiate his ‘scorched earth’ policy by authorising the
burning of farm-houses and other draconian measures. (The farmstead of Theiler’s friend,
D. J. E. Erasmus at nearby Pienaarsrivier was burnt to the ground by General Paget.)

The dragon’s teeth he had sown elsewhere produced a host of enemies other than guerillas
which the Army was incapable of combatting. Immediately after it had left Kroonstad, for
example, the local medical officer of health attempted to remove the carcases of horses from the
Valsch Rivier feeding the dam which supplied the town’s water. Within the first month, he
extracted 700. Then he lost count. Conditions around Pretoria were similar. Three months after
its occupation, one of its best known physicians, Dr J. \. Kay, wrote “What is sadly needed in
and around Pretoria is a scavenger corps to bury dead animals. Within four miles of Pretoria, I
saw 60 and within 100 yards of the main road, 7 dead mules and horses lying in a small stream
which is most certainly used for drinking by our troops. All over the veld as well as on the road,
dead horses and cattle are plentiful.” Typhoid, dysentery and enteric abounded with high mor-
tality.

The Army Veterinary Corps was totally inadequate to demand and was severely criticised by
Roberts himself. Its director and principal assistants had been confined in Ladysmith when most
needed and Hutcheon had had to post his civilian veterinarians to Army depdts with consequent
deterioration in animal care in his Colony. By the middle of 1900, about 185,000 horses alone
had been shipped to South Africa. A year later, it was calculated that 125,000 horses and mules
had been supplied by a single dealer from Kansas, U.S.A. among others. Captain Horace
Hayes, that unexampled equine expert, himself conducted consignments. On one voyage to
Port Elizabeth lasting 31 days, he landed 470 horses which had stood for the entire journey.
Many of them immediately contracted laminitis on the two-mile walk to their camp. When
horses were taken ‘off a ship and put straight to work by the Army, he said ‘they went all to
pieces and there was a terrible mortality’. Their average life in South Africa was six weeks which
greatly protracted the war. They brought and disseminated a large number of diseases and,
unsalted and unacclimatised, contracted old and new local afflictions.

The exigencies of war had the further effect of nullifying the few legislative measures against
stock diseases. Scab (Brandzickte), the scourge of Cape sheep, quickly resumed its hold ‘in the
presence of roving patrols who paralysed the efforts of the sheep inspectors appointed in the
terms of the Scab Act’. Under Martial Law, captured infected sheep were sold by auction and
distributed widespread. Materials for dipping were no longer available and, when obtained
under difficulty, could not be transported nor men found to use them. Much the same obtained
in the case of infectious Lung Sickness in oxen. ‘Commandeering’ by combatants on both sides
further ensured the uninhibited proliferation of disease. ‘Brigandage’ as it was later called,
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became the order of the day throughout the land and made stock control impossible. The whole
of Southern Africa had become an incubus of lethal dangers to man and beast.

The Army’s attempt to control conditions in Pretoria resulted in an endless spate of permits
and passes. At first spies moved freely in the town and, by devious means, local inhabitants
purveyed information to the highly mobile commandos. The official system reached ludicrous
proportions, permits being needed virtually to cross the street or move furniture from one house

|0 to another. Theiler had immediately to obtain one to retain possession of his two personally-

N

owned horses. ‘One had’, said one indignant lady, ‘to go to the Military Governor to

| 2 breathe.’

13

Ir

To find his way through this thicket of difficulties and somehow to obtain freedom of move-
ment, Theiler came to town to interview the responsible officers. The Tommies had taken the
Vierkleur that flew over Schutte’s Magistrate’s Office (it was returned to the Transvaal Province
by the Inverness Town Council in 1974 with an appropriate exchange of politesses) and only
military men conducted affairs. They looked at him askance, aware of his connection with the
Staatsartillerie and his commando service but baffled by the swarthy foreigner ‘dressed like an
English gentleman’, with his little billycock hat. Theiler made himself known and in his habitual-
ly gregarious manner, talked to everyone. The provisions Emma had stored under the floor
would soon be exhausted and he needed private practice. He was astonished and gratified by the
‘gentlemanliness’ of the English and they by his command of the English language and his
enormous scientific knowledge.

Apart from the Royal Army Medical and Veterinary Corps, Pretoria now abounded with

|5 scientific men. The Hollander Dr Gunning, quickly restored to his museum and zoological

garden, was confounded to find a tall British private in battle-stained uniform enquiring after
‘flies’. After careful overtures suitable to the level of an ordinary Tommy, Gunning discovered
that he was addressing Professor E. E. Austen of the British Museum, the reigning authority on

|, tsetse flies. Theiler too made the acquaintance of Major Fred. Smith, previously a professor at

the Royal Army Veterinary College and examiner for the R.C.V.S. who now struggled to pro-
duce order in the ‘sick lines’ at Daspoort where daily scores of afflicted and debilitated horses
arrived on foot from various battlefields. Smith was one among many who knew what Theiler
was about; but it had no place in the rigid order of the British Army. When the Principal Veteri-
ary Officer Colonel Matthews arrived to take charge toward the middle of July (Smith was pro-

| ] moted to officer-in-charge of the Free State with his headquarters at Kroonstad), Theiler de-

\'%

3 lighted further in ‘scientific conversation’. In the meantime, though he could move fairly freely,
he had time on his hands. His house was surrounded by tented encampments and, locked in it
every night during the curfew hours of 7 p.m. to 6.30 a.m., he spent many hours with Emma

|4 putting his massive collection of notes and observations in order and planning a series of mono-

graphs. For the whole of June 1900, he professed himself ‘unemployed’; but during daylight,
he actively made himself known in circles appreciative of his scientific work.
Concerned primarily with maintaining order in his sprawling demesne, the Military Governor

1.0 General Maxwell, appointed on the 14th June a Commissioner of Police with seven officers to

help him organise what came to be known as the Transvaal Constabulary. Lieutenant-Colonel

2 | F. Ivor Maxse of the Coldstream Guards was the very prototype of the British military officer

(and did not fade away until the age of 96 in 1958). Well-born and married only a few months to
a daughter of Viscount Leconfield, he already had a distinguished Army record and impressed
Theiler on sight. Maxwell intended for them both a réle that would engage his major problem —
the health of man and beast. The Army Veterinary Corps was openly incapable of dealing with
the enormous mortality of horses from disease, let alone wounds, and desperate measures were
necessary. With an equal disdain of the Medical Corps and its failure to diminish similar loss
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from -typhoid, enteric and dysentery among soldiers and the resident population, Maxwell,

2 7 with the consent of Lord Roberts, entered into a conspiracy with Sir Alfred Milner, still in
Cape Town, for the services of Dr George Turner, the over-age Medical Officer of Health of
the Cape Colonial Government. That took longer than the veterinary aspect but finally dove-
tailed into it.

Colonel Maxse and his men quickly organised the Transvaal Police, purloining from thc
Army one of the numerous veterinarians from Canada, Australia, New Zealand and other
parts of the Empire whose varied experiences fascinated Theiler in conversation at the Das-

2 Lipoort ‘sick lines’. C. J. Sanderson M.R.C.V.S. had joined the New Zealand Mounted Rifles
as a veterinary lieutenant and distinguished himself in South Africa by keeping his regiment
mounted. He was appointed to the Transvaal Constabulary as Veterinary Officer with wider
duties than merely maintaining its horses in good health,

In the last days of June 1900, there had been significant consultations between General Max-
well and Colonel Maxse. Their problem had been less the large number of Mange- and Glanders-
ridden horses that wandered about and the huge mortality from known diseases (including the
Horse Death) as the mounting losses from unknown causes. The Army had ‘occupied’ and
inspected Theiler’s Daspoort laboratory, principally concerned with manufacturing vaccines,
immediately upon arrival. Theiler himself has made no secret of his pre-war activities and his
longstanding experimentation with stock diseases. Now they sent for him with a view to his
urgently grappling with the unknown fatal diseases which were costing the British Government
hundreds of thousands of pounds and protracting hostilities indefinitely. Theiler confidently

7 Sconfronted ‘the English gentlemen’ — Maxwell, Maxse, Fred Smith and others concerned with the

2 G situation. The result was his' provisional appointment as ‘Bacteriologist’ to the Transvaal
Constabulary from the Ist July 1900 under instruction to investigate horse diseases with. the
assistance of Sanderson. All possible facilities were to be placed at his disposal in re-opening his
laboratory for research work.

His joy was hardly diminished. by the fact that the salary was less than the £800 gamed by
his two Republican appointments. It offered temporary present security and possible future
prospect. Further, he was wanted; urgently needed and trusted to do the very work which had
become his life’s ambition and for which he had:- beggared himself to be equipped. He confided

27 one small impediment to Colonel Maxse - his confiscated cases in Cape Town containing the
most modern microscopes, sophisticated glass apparatus and other aids to the advanced work
he was expected to do. Maxse exerted influence and after three months, all the impounded
cases- were delivered except the most important — the box containing the microscopes. Its loss
was a severe blow. Of the others, all the Zurich glassware was smashed but Cogit’s from Paris
was almost intact.

The children were enchanted with their toys and partlcularly the little hay—waln which they

2% used to collect cow-pats for fuel..(There was none in and around Pretoria and soldiers demolished
paling fences, furniture, wooden shacks and anything available for their winter cooking fires.)
All enjoyed the honey of Theiler pére and Arnold and Emma waxed sentimental -over the

29 Fricktalerkirsch and begged to be supplied with more. Owing to strict military censorship, they
had not yet heard from Switzerland. Everything sent them was impounded at the Cape. Theiler
himself could not write freely to his parents. He told them he had -never worked so hard, that

?)u all was well and that he was being fairly treated. His ‘English’ syndrome had so far developed
that by November, he gave his address as ‘Arnold Theiler Esqulre Veterinary Bactenologlst to
the 'I‘ransvaal Colome P.O. Box 585 Pretoria, Transvaal via Southampton’.
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Life was suddenly glorious. He was a man again. Accompanied by Sanderson, he was persona
grata at the Army ‘sick lines’ and could closely inspect the extraordinary variety of horses from

3| all parts of the world. Later he would write about them for his military veterinary colleagues at
Thun. He hobnobbed from a position of stature with the equally various Army veterinary sur-
geons, learning much. They were baffled by the on-coming Horse Sickness and unknown lethal
fevers. Theiler, helped on all hands, immediately went into action and mounted investigatory
experiments on a large scale with horses of every kind and origin. He was principally concerned

3 2 with what he subsequently defined as Equine Malaria; but there were other mysterious diseases.
Sanderson later recounted how Theiler’s microscope revealed a bacillus similar to that of human
typhoid and how he had had to obtain a specimen from the spleen of a man dead from enteric
for comparison. Theiler found the same bacillus in it. They were exciting over-worked times

33 and it was not until the Ist October 1900 that he got Charles Favre officially appointed as his
Assistant Bacteriologist.

Much remained irksome. The silence from abroad was total. No scientific journals reached
him, no letters, no news. Dietschi sometimes sent him newspapers from Cape Town to keep
him au fait with the war. He worried about his family and particularly Marie who had had

3 u twins, one of whom had died. Maxwell had let him send an official cable to his father at the

~ end of July - ‘Theiler telegraphs all lymph to be sent via Southampton Cape Town’ and he was
allowed to add ‘mir gut’ (I'm all right). He also wrote, very guardedly, not knowing whether
his letters would pass the censor Lord Stanley and his staff, or go on their way at all. Other
letters he entrusted to Drs de Montmollin and Koenig and later Braunschweiler who were re-
turning to Switzerland. He wrote that his future was bright, ‘perhaps brighter than it has ever
been’ and that he was surprised at the Boers’ continued resistance. (When his long letters

35 describing the retreats were published in Switzerland, there was uproar but Theiler stuck to his
guns, claiming that the Boers were not brave and that only 10 % of their fighting men, obstinate
and hopeful of intervention, remained in the field.) He worked with single-minded devotion
in his laboratory; but the nights, closed to all movement by the 12-hour curfew, were long. He

3(:, occupied them with preparing précis of his years of investigation of Horse Sickness, Equine
Malaria and Nagana (which Bruce had stimulated), thinking that the publication of articles in
foreign scientific journals would interest his new friends and add to his stature.

He was not alone in his work. The disaster of the British cavalry, specially important in the
guerilla scene, had become every investigator’s concern. Even before it happened, Edington
had sent his deputy W. Robertson (on leave in England in August 1899) to Professor John
M ’Fadyean, principal of the R.C.V.S., with a blood-specimen from a case of Horse Sickness for

3 7] his own experimentation which he began in October. Flattered, M’Fadyean paid high tribute
to Edington ‘to whom we owe all our present knowledge” and pontificated on the results of his
experiments in the Journal of Comparative Pathology and Therapeutics (which he edited) without

5‘3 casting much light on the disease. He also spoke to it at a meeting of the Pathological Society
in London in May under the chairmanship of Lord Lister. Robertson returned to the Cape in

2 <1 February 1900 when Edington, organising an Army Ambulance, was prevented from continuing
his work by enormous demands from the military for Lung Sickness vaccine and Mallein for
Glanders, as well as the complete unavailability of horses for experiment. War conditions re-
duced his health and in August 1900, he left for England on six months leave, putting Robertson
in charge of the Institute. As far as the outside world knew, he remained the reigning authority

O on Horse Sickness, a belief substantiated by the publication in the Journal of Comparative
Pathology in September and December 1900 of his ‘South African Horse Sickness — Its Pathol-
ogy and Methods of Protective Inoculation’, subsequently issued as an abstract. It described
numerous experiments in great detail. He claimed now, not to immunise horses but to give them
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some degree of protection by infecting them with a recoverable dose of the disease. Theiler
had been following the same line for years but lacked the encomium of publication in a scientific
journal.

Watkins-Pitchford too, debilitated and drained by the siege and the demands of the subse-
quent guerilla operations, was compelled to take six months sick leave in August 1900. On the

|_“ voyage to England, he wrote a long account of his own work on Horse Sickness which was
published serially in the Natal Agricultural Journal and, upon his return in January 1901, re-
sumed the attack. It remained one of the most tantalising of the scientific conundra of Africa.

The conspiracy to get George Turner to the Transvaal to deal with human diseases at length
succeeded in the face of hot opposition from the Cape Government. He was lent for three

qz_ months only from the I1st August 1900, hearing with dismay from the German Consul as he left
Cape Town that his old adversary Rinderpest had reappeared in South West Africa. Few knew
better than Turner what that could mean. He arranged with Milner that J. W. Phillips, his lay-
assistant at the Kimberley Serum Station and, when it closed, his bacteriological assistant in
Cape Town, be recalled from Egypt (where he had been sent to produce Rinderpest serum) and
posted to the Leprosy Hospital in Pretoria on standby. Phillips arrived in January 1901.

q Z  Turner, now 52 but more vigorous than men half his age, was provisionally appointed Trans-
vaal Medical Officer of Health on the 9th August 1900 - to the undisguised hostility of the Royal
Army Medical Corps (and later Lord Kitchener) which considered his activity redundant and
a reflection on their competence. The appalling conditions in Pretoria only briefly occupied him

L} before Lord Roberts sent him to the Eastern Transvaal to ascertain whether troops could be
stationed there in the prevalence of deadly malaria. The susceptibility of British soldiers to
tropical diseases was protracting the war even further and during 1901, the Army was com-
pelled to appoint a Commission to investigate dysentery and enteric in Army camps. Lieutenant-

L‘ S Colonel David Bruce served on it, the British Parliament receiving its report in 1902. (Many
L*(pyears later, Emma maintained that during this service, Bruce had helped to prosper Theiler’s
cause. Certainly their friendship flourished.)

A further means of terminating the war and curtailing its cost to the British taxpayer, germi-
nated in the fertile mind of ‘the hero of Mafeking’, now attached to Roberts’ staff. Lawlessness,
pillaging and general disorder had begun to prevail over most of Southern Africa. The guerilla
bands, Boer and military, battened on all they could find and the rural population, sinking into
greater depths of distress and want, were compelled to join them in unlawful activities. The
reality of the ‘conquered republics’, now annexed by Britain, was ugly with suffering and dis-
organisation but the resources of the British Army could not be squandered on civilian control.
What was needed was a Police Force. Major-General Baden-Powell was entrusted with devising
it and spent three weeks in Cape Town making his plans in consultation with Milner (who

|, 71 showed the utmost reluctance in moving his headquarters to the Transvaal). The new force was
to consist of 6,000 mounted men. Inevitably horses, not men, were the major problem. At the
end of September, Baden-Powell reported himself and his plans to Roberts in Pretoria.

In such circumstances, Theiler became the cynosure of military and administrative attention.

& There were then more than 2,000 horses in the Daspoort ‘sick lines’ in the care of Army vete-

rinarians and a growing number of oxen and other animals impounded on suspicion of contag-

1+ ious disease which fell to Sanderson’s duty as Veterinary Surgeon to the Transvaal Constabu-

lary. Overburdened, he frequently consulted Theiler who regretted distraction from his work as

‘Bacteriologist’ where he was simultaneously staging experiments on several animal diseases,
particularly equine.

N The Daspoort Laboratory, an oasis of science in the rough urgency of war, fascinated the

OO many scientifically-trained officers in the British Army. Theiler, equally beguiled by unwonted
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interest, beamingly welcomed veterinary surgeons, physicians, bacteriologists, and knowledge-

& | ableamateurs such as the handsome wastrel, Prince Francis of Teck, brother of Prince Alexander

& 72.(who, active in the Matabele Rebellion, had risen high in military service and received the D.S.O.
for his part in the current war). Prince Francis took a particular interest officially in the brand-

5 3 ing of Horses; but, ‘full of brains’, privately understood and appreciated what Theiler was

55 doing. A quarter of a century later, Prince Alexander and his lady brought an even greater
appreciation.

Major-General Sir John Maxwell himself came to inspect the laboratory and its works; also

55 General Charles Tucker, commander of the 7th Division and now in occupation of the Staats-

& ¢ artillerie Barracks; and, forebodingly, the volatile little ‘hero of Mafeking’ intent on his Con-
stabulary plans. In Theiler, Baden-Powell saw the solution of at least one of the problems with
which his assignment bristled. Great changes were imminent. When Milner visited Pretoria on
the 15th October, the belief in early peace still flourished. Lord Roberts would soon leave for
England to become Commander-in-Chief of the British Army and the steely Lord Kitchener
would conclude the campaign in South Africa. The restoration of civil life would become im-
perative. On the 22nd October 1900 by Proclamation No. 24, Lord Roberts established the South
African Constabulary to preserve order and prevent crimes, under the orders of Sir Alfred
Milner as High Commissioner and with Baden-Powell as Inspector-General. It was to come
into operation by June 1901. _

A huge task of organisation was involved in raising 6,000 men, horses, equipment and sup-

&5 1 plies. Baden-Powell threw himself into it. Even before the end of 1900, Kitchener demanded
Constabulary services. By that time, its men (rascals and gentlemen enlisted from all over the

5% world) had earned a reputation surpassing Brabant’s Horse (known as the ‘Brabanditti’) and

59 Maxwell was compelled to issue an official notice that his Government would not be responsible
for or recognise debts contracted by them. Persons who contracted debts with them did so at
their own risk. At their Headquarters at Zuurfontein, the railway station for the Modderfontein

(_, © dynamite factory, they ‘appropriated’ indiscriminately — even a locomotive and trucks. Their
Inspector-General was similarly disposed. First he took Sanderson from Maxse’s Transvaal
Constabulary; then he coveted Theiler.

(.| Theiler was ‘working very hard. I don’t think I have ever worked so hard in my life. I am
in the process of recording for publication my earlier investigations into Horse Death, Tsetse,
Malaria, etc. I consider them my best work so far but the new investigations which I now have in
process, indicate even more valuable results. The journey to Europe indeed did me good!’
He was still much irked by Martial Law with its multitudinous passes and permits and restrict-
ions on movement. Emma had her own difficulties, particularly with food and its high cost (they
could no longer save). The proximity of military camps with their primitive (often absent)
sanitation producing continuous pervading smells and swarms of flies, repulsive in themselves,
was a hazard to the health of the children. She lacked many household essentials. Now she ran
out of thread for sewing and mending and begged her in-laws to send some.

(, 2 After five months of silence, they at last had four letters from home released from the Cape
in October. Braunschweiler (who then went to the U.S.A. to settle in Ohio) had called and given
the parents news — Kollmann also, busily engaged in raising money to succour Arnold’s local
Swiss. Long-delayed scientific journals were also delivered. They had much to write in reply.

(54 Arnold ordered through his father hundreds of glass slides (he sometimes used 50 a day) and
special glass vessels from Cogit in Paris. He still wanted the bee fungus.to go on with his ex-

Lkperiments — locusts continued coming in gigantic swarms. Hans, they wrote proudly, was going
to school at the imposing Loreto Convent. Now 6 years old, he had long shown.inherited ten-
dencies and, even as a toddler, had enthusiastically collected beetles and butterflies and lizards
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on the kopjes when walking with his father. His early classes were principally to learn English
before attending a Government school and he imparted his new knowledge vociferously to his
younger sisters. _

While Emma laboriously copied the three scientific monographs during the long hot sumimer
nights, Arnold collected his campaign- and later notes and began the writing of a work on

(-5 “The Horse at War’ for his Thun mentor Colonel Potterat, his officer-instructors and the stu-

dents with whom he had completed his military-veterinary training in 1890. it was finished,
copied and sent on the 26th January 1901 and was duly published in the Schweiz Monatschrift
fiir Offiziere aller Waffen and subsequently issued as an illustrated abstract. Under the title of
‘Aus Transvaal’, it remains an illuminating account of a vital aspect of the first year of
war.

(> He attached the highest importance to his ‘best work’. On the 6th December 1900, he sent the

1

three monographs to Zschokke at Zurich University intending that he should publish ‘Die
Tsetse Krankheit® in the Schweizer Archiv fiir Tierheilkunde and allocate ‘Die Sudafrikaansche
Pferdesterbe’ elsewhere. Professor Kitt in Miinchen was to have ‘Malaria in Horses” — ‘Eine
contagitse Stomatitis der Pferde in Siid-Afrika’ — for publication in his Deutsche Monatschrift
fiir Tierheilkunde. Carried away by Theiler’s novel work in tropical animal diseases, Zschokke
had other designs on ‘Malaria in Horses’; but owing to current war conditions, its author long
remained unaware.

*® * &

Tending all his life to oscillate between high elation and depression, Theiler was now in-
creasingly susceptible to the frustrating effect of restrictions. He could not get the apparatus
and equipment he needed, he had lost communication with the leading bacteriologists who
had stimulated him in Europe and whose published works were not reaching him, the military
denied him the horses he wanted for his experiments, he needed a pass or permit for any varia-
tion from staying at home. Even Emma tended uncharacteristically to bend before the blast and
share in the weltschmerz which often afflicted him. ‘We are as shut up here as if the town were
besieged’, she wrote, ‘the end of the war is further than ever . . . vegetables and fruit are seldom
available . . . eggs 7s. a dozen . . . If one comes two days later to a shop which has received
stocks, it is completely sold out. Terrific heat and no rain! Typhoid afflicts the English and also
the civilians. We are having no rosy time and there is reason enough to be discouraged. Arnold
is as disenchanted with Africa as never before.’

(Y There were few distractions. In November 1900, Otto Henning came from Bloemfontein to

stay a few days. He had been with ‘the bravest of Boers, the soul of the resisters’, General
Christiaan Rudolph de Wet who kept the war going. Henning had fallen ill at Klerksdorp and,
serving as a non-combatant medical orderly, had been glad to go to Bloemfontein and accept
employment at the Military Veterinary Hospital and Remount Station at Abraham Fischer’s
farm run by Veterinary-Captain L. J. Blenkinsop and Lieutenant Sawyer. Henning did his work
well, wrote beautiful copperplate reports and was well treated by the English in their desperate
search for more horses; but he hankered after higher things and had come hopefully to Pre-
toria. His information was correct. There was a demand for veterinary expertise; but the eye
of Baden-Powell was on Theiler. Henning returned disappointed to Bloemfontein and was
subsequently appointed to the Free State branch of the Constabulary under Sanderson with
whom he had difficulties.

Theiler now had very little reliable knowledge of how events were developing. Jean Dietschi
sometimes sent him newspapers and undertook small commissions such as supplying cigarettes
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and tobacco to Theiler’s orderly Botha, ‘a faithful servant’ whom he had found in the prisoner-
of-war camp at Green Point. Roberts had left Cape Town for England on the 11th December
1900 (Dietschi took historic photographs of him at the Mount Nelson Hotel) and Kitchener
was now in full command. Though appointed Governor of the Transvaal and Orange River
Colony (to which the Free State had reverted), Milner remained at the Cape. When he assumed
his new offices, Sir Walter Hely-Hutchinson would come from Natal to administer the Cape
and Sir Henry Macallum would govern Natal. In satisfactorily conquering Southern Africa,
the British made no progress. They had no effective means of combatting the new era of
‘brigandage’. They had no competent horses.

Sir Frederick Smith put it pellucidly — ‘The earlier organised British columns consisting of a
small number of mounted men, incomparable infantry and heavy guns pulled by oxen, to-
gether with miles of transport, patrolled the country from point to point laying waste the track
on its route, blowing up farmhouses, capturing stock, destroying crops and doing no good so far
as bringing the enemy to book was concerned. As the Times History admirably expresses it —
“the British walked where they liked and the Boers rode where they pleased and under such
conditions, the campaign might have continued for ten years.” > Mobility was essential and
horses were the only means of providing it; but those imported died quickly from strange diseases
(many of them now were ‘screws’ and rejects from an exhausted overseas market) and the local
product was carefully safeguarded by the people, the few ‘remounts’ commandeered being
totally inadequate to the need. In a fierce debate in the British Parliament early in 1901 on a
supplementary estimate of £3,000,000 for transport, remounts, provisions and other supplies
for the Army in South Africa, it was stated that about £6,000,000 had already been spent on
horses. One member read a letter from an officer at the front — “We want at least another
1,000,000 horses, not skin- or hair-trunks but horses. Up to date, the consumption of horse flesh
(including those presently in use) has reached the enormous total of 250,000.°

Baden-Powell typically was clever — he bought 7,000 cobs for his Constabulary from Australia
and gave the captains of the transports a £1 bonus for every horse landed in good condition.
He tried to acclimatise them at a farm in Natal but he was not clever enough. The need for his
force was so great that early in December 1900, Kitchener ordered its increase to 10,000. By

15 then, Theiler already knew that he would probably be seconded to Zuurfontein to deal with

—

11

disease in the Constabulary’s imported cobs. Still in the grip of weltschmerz, he was not en-
thusiastic. He had never wanted to be a veterinary surgeon but his career as scientist seemed
stalemated. Milner, he had been told by his high-level military friends, had approved his present
appointment which was no longer provisional. He hoped to remain ‘Bacteriologist’ but, it had
been hinted, he might be drafted to other duties under other aegis. He could not write freely to
say what they were.

Baden-Powell had calculated without Africa’s eternal incubus of lethal epidemics. By January
1901, Theiler could write — ‘Never before has the Horse Death arrived so early or demanded
such terrible sacrifices. Lung Sickness also rages frightfully among cattle and typhoid had
claimed many victims in Pretoria.” By the end of the month, faced by the ruination of his Con-
stabulary plans, Baden-Powell had obtained permission to send for him. It came in the form of
a letter dated the Ist February from Sanderson P.V.O. for the Constabulary, offering him
appointment as ‘Bacteriologist’ for two years at £700 a year with forage for two horses and
rations for one European and one native servant. Theiler knew of its coming and had discussed

\]‘g it with Emma. He was at the time profoundly disillusioned — ‘Without excitement, life is alto-

(<

gether too monotoenous. I should today be ready to go to the Sudan or China, so bored am I here
with this sitting still and this enforced idleness.” Emma thought little of the proposition. Ener-
vated and depressed, she did not want to leave their home and live in cantonments on the High-
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veld. They talked about it over the weekend and on Monday the 5th February, Theiler went to
Zuurfontein and breakfasted with Baden-Powell.

The dynamic little man wanted him to be a laboratory hand manufacturing vaccines and Mal-
lein against the endemic Glanders. He was to transfer his laboratory to Zuurfontein and devote
himself to preserving the health of the Constabulary horses, particularly in view of the raging
Horse Sickness. Theiler inspected the premises and went back to Pretoria the following day.
The decision did not lie with him. It lay with Maxwell who in the meantime, had asked his
M.O.H. George Turner (for whose return the Cape Government constantly clamoured owing
to the spreading of Bubonic Plague) to report on the proposal. Turner, with the concurrence of
the Controller of the Treasury, Emrys Evans, considered it too costly and suggested that the
Daspoort Laboratory be enlarged to permit research into human as well as animal diseases.
This was a novel but not unexpected turn. Maxwell summoned Baden-Powell, Turner and
Theiler to his office on the 6th February for a joint meeting. Baden-Powell spoke with great
urgency; Turner, obstinate as a mule in his own field, stood his ground. Theiler, disinclined,
nonetheless felt that his prospects might be enhanced when peace came if he served as Consta-
bulary Veterinary Bacteriologist now. Maxwell reserved judgment. A man of distinguished
ability, known for his work as a military governor in Egypt, he had a visionary approach un-
usual in the Army.

Theiler, appalled at Baden-Powell’s losses from Horse Sickness, immediately applied himself
to writing an article in English on the Horse Death for his personnel and others. ‘The study of
this disease must again properly be taken in hand. It is urgently necessary to find something to
combat it, This year, animals are dying in heaps. [ do not remember a similarly early outbreak,’
Baden-Powell fumed at the delay and told Sanderson to write Theiler again, offering the Con-
stabulary appointment. Theiler took the letter to Maxwell’s secretary, Major A. R. Hoskins
(by now a friend — he gave the Theiler children a riding pony when the military retired in favour
of civil administration) and successfully requested an immediate interview. Maxwell told him

A that the extension of the Daspoort Bacteriological Institute was under consideration by Milner

and he had been recommended as its head. (The hand of Turner, well in with Milner, was clearly
visible.) While he, Maxwell, had no objection to Theiler’s joining the S.A.C., he recommended
his staying at his post until Milner had made a decision. Theiler answered Sanderson on the
15th February, deleting from his heavily-corrected draft in his own hand what Maxwell had
told him. He declined the appointment, indicating that he could not leave his laboratory while
conditions for investigating the Horse Death were so favourable and offering all possible
coGperation.

* * *

Milner whose ‘Kindergarten’ to undertake the civil administration of the Transvaal was now
arriving, kept a sharp eye on the new Colony and the means of restoring a shattered country.
Maxwell and Turner were in close communication with him. Turner had been instructed to
report directly to him on the suitability of Zuurfontein for the transference of Theiler’s Das-
poort laboratory. Turner now conceded that the site (on a railway) was better and healthier but
reaffirmed that whatever money was available should be spent on improving and extending

%1 Daspoort. Maxwell sent a copy of his report to Baden-Powell. Milner in Cape Town received

—

the original at the same time as a letter which was to determine Theiler’s career.

It came from Sir Marshall Clarke, Resident Commissioner in Rhodesia who enclosed a letter
addressed to him by Stewart Stockman, the eminent professor of Bacteriology and Pathology
at the Royal (Dick) Veterinary College in Edinburgh. Stockman proposed a Veterinary College
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for Southern Africa. Clarke had discussed it with Captain Arthur Lawley, Administrator of
Rhodesia, who considered that His Majesty’s Government should establish such a School in
Pretoria for the benefit of the whole sub-continent. Clarke added that Stockman seemed the
ideal person to institute such a project but had in fact refused appointment to the British
Ministry of Agriculture as he had volunteered for service in South Africa. In the event, he was
posted to the Indian Civil Veterinary Department where he gained first-hand experience of
Rinderpest and tropical cattle diseases. Milner made a note of the name. Ravaged and unsettled
by Boer and British guerilla bands, South Africa was still in no state for such developments.
In ‘reconstruction’, Stockman could have a place.

Baden-Powell, in equal standing with Turner in Milner’s good graces, had lost the battle
for Theiler. He seemed to accept it but was unable to refrain from writing to Maxwell on the

' 15th February — ‘We are losing at Zuurfontein £54 to £112 and more daily in horse flesh from

horse-sickness, poison, glanders, etc so there are urgent reasons for a veterinary laboratory . . .
If our improvised laboratory is of any use, it can doubtless be absorbed afterwards in the General
Bacteriological Institute when that comes to be formed.’ Maxwell sent the letter, written in
B-P.’s own hand to Theiler, strongly advising him that if he considered appointment to ‘the
improvised laboratory’, he should have the conditions ‘made clear before you commit yourself
to any engagement’. The South African Constabulary did not enjoy the best reputation (all its

Cl’ 7_ confidential records were officially destroyed by a directive of the 30th December 1907.)

But Baden-Powell was not yet done. On the 19th February in a ‘Clear the Line’ telegram,
Maxwell felt compelled to advise the incipient Transvaal civil administration in Cape Town —

‘1 3 ‘Theiler has been informed by General Baden-Powell that unless he accepts appointment as

Bacteriologist for the S.A.C., appointment will be filled. If the High Commissioner has not
authorised a separate Bacteriological establishment at Zuurfontein, upon this pretext this ap-
pointment might prejudge this question.” Maxwell then wrote in his own huge hand a four-page
confirmatory report to George Fiddes who had recently arrived from England to assume duty
as Secretary to the Transvaal Administration. The basic issue of a Bacteriological Institute for
human and animal diseases had become of the highest importance. The initial outbreak of

€]y Bubonic Plague at King William’s Town had not been quelled and had reached Cape Town.

The Cape Government, incensed by the neglected expiry of its M.O.H.’s three-month ‘loan’
to the Transvaal, had made repeated demands for his return. The Imperial authorities refused

45 to surrender George Turner despite, they said, ‘his duties bringing him into conflict with the

R.A.M.C. who give him little or no support and disparage him whenever possible’. The avail-
ability of Turner and Theiler with their bacteriological expertise and a laboratory at hand, had
become an essential feature in the general war situation. Milner accordingly formally offered

(s Turner the Transvaal M.O.H. appointment at £1,500 a year which he accepted on the 28th

February, his permanent transfer from the embittered Cape being confirmed in April.

(7“ ‘I understand from Dr Theiler’, Maxwell wrote to Fiddes, ‘that it is not his wish to associate

himself with veterinary work. Though holding veterinary diplomas, he had devoted himself to
the study of Bacteriology and is an acknowledged authority in South Africa. He is, I may say,
the only expert in the Transvaal. There is no dividing line between Human and Veterinary
bacteriology — it is one science. Any researches into specific diseases in both can be carried out
at Daspoort with no further expense. In view of a possible outbreak of plague, it is absolutely
necessary that the services of an expert bacteriologist should be at hand and work under the
direction of the Medical Officer of Health. Is it wise to change now (to Zuurfontein) before H. E.
the High Commissioner has had an opportunity of entering into the question? Dr Theiler is
usefully employed where he is . . . Should it become necessary to make any plague investigations,
the centre of the South African Constabulary Headquarters seems to be an undesirable place to

174



conduct them.’ He went on to suggest that it were better to leave matters standing and to con-
sider later an all-purpose Bacteriological Institute. ‘If such an Institute were decided on, Dr
Theiler’s services should be secured. In the meanwhile, I recommend that Dr Theiler remain
where he now is.’

It was a triumph for the personal policy Theiler had pursued since the loss of his hand; but
now he sat fuming futiley in his house — no letters, no newspapers, no books, no journals (he had

C]% expansively ordered German and French scientific periodicals presumably at his new Military

qci Government’s expense), no news of Zschokke’s having received his manuscripts or what he
had done with them. The Military Censor was probably slitting everything open and laboriously
reading the foreign languages.

Pretoria was suddenly unusually tense. Though Theiler was persona grata with the highest

| Co military authorities (he was now issued with a special pass signed by Maxwell permitting him to
move, mounted or otherwise, through guards and anywhere within the outpost lines), he dared
not write his parents that Kitchener was meeting Commandant-General Louis Botha at Middel-

|C| burg, now a large Army depo6t, at Kitchener’s own request and arranged personally by Mrs

| 02 Botha. The war was costing Britain £2} millions a month and more than two thirds of the Army
was not in active combat but guarding communications and supplies. Botha could not hope to
win it but the success of his unpredictable guerillas, depending entirely on their horses, could
ensure favourable conditions of peace.

Milner at last left Cape Town to survey his new demesne and was inspecting the institution
of civil government in Bloemfontein (where Sir Hamilton Goold-Adams was Lieutenant-
Governor) when Botha and Kitchener met on the 28th February 1901. Then he came to Pretoria
to hear the result of the conference. It had been cordial but abortive. The war went on. Civil
administration was inaugurated in the Transvaal and Milner returned to the Cape where, in
common with Natal, some vestiges of orderly existence remained in a land paralysed from end
to end by the brutalities of conflict. On the 8th May, he sailed for England, becoming a peer on
the way.
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CHAPTER FOURTEEN

THE VANE CHANGES 1901-1902

THE RAPACITY of the British Army aided by the South African Constabulary was now in full
spate and even Milner deplored its activities. Kitchener’s excoriating policy, designed to deprive
the guerillas of support, supplies and domestic comfort, entailed the collection in ‘Cattle
Preservation Stations’ or ‘Protection Camps’ of everything on four feet. These concentrations
were also intended to supply remounts, transport oxen and slaughter stock; but, on land
grazed flat, they died in thousands of starvation and disease. Writing from Johannesburg be-
fore his departure, Milner confided in Fiddes: ‘I am very anxious about the stock question;
but I can assure you that the difficulty which we have here, great as it is, is small compared with
the colossal disaster which threatens us in the Orange River Colony unless we can either induce
the Military to temper their zeal for capturing cattle and sheep with a little discretion, or else
push out our Constabulary posts so fast as to increase enormously the area of protected grazing
before the winter.’ Kitchener invited an equally ‘colossal disaster’ with the ‘Protection Camps’
(later known as Refugee or Concentration Camps) wished upon him by Botha for the dis-
possessed human inhabitants. The despoliation countrywide of human and natural resources
was approaching completion. In 1901, the ultimate disaster appeared.

Wide though the waste and disorganisation, the South African scene presented prospects for
opportunists. The rag, tag and bobtail joined the Constabulary or became civil inspectors of one
sort or another. Some of the burghers joined the ‘National Scouts’ and were reviled by their
countrymen. Some of their women became prostitutes in Pretoria, Theiler several times noted.
Many men of all nations made fortunes out of supplying produce and commodities of all kinds.
Some, of better intent, struggled to restore the livestock industry. Joseph Baynes, a progressive
Natal farmer, specially imported cattle from Queensland, Australia at the end of 1900 because
they were supposed to be free of Redwater. Most of them died after infecting his own cattle
with Lung Sickness. The Natal Government tried the same experiment with similar result.
Baynes was undaunted and early in 1901, built his first dipping tank, using a difficult formula
from Queensland successfully to protect his cattle against ticks. Hutcheon was sent to England
in June 1901 by the Cape Government to buy stud stock and thence to the United States to
study agricultural departments and veterinary laboratories, J. D. Borthwick taking charge of his
department. Farmers who could produce any kind of food or fodder did well. Over all the dis-
maying scene hung the magic word ‘reconstruction’. Milner was going to England to arrange
its reality.

It was common property that the first steps had been taken in the Orange River Colony and
Transvaal. Soon ‘Repatriation Departments’ would be started for destitute burghers who had
taken the oath of neutrality. Veterinary services would be needed. The Transvaal had only a
‘bacteriologist’ at Daspoort. Watkins-Pitchford who had returned on the 2nd January 1901 to
Natal, caught the opportunist fever. He had heard of Turner’s appointment as Transvaal
M.O.H. and concluded that a similar veterinary appointment would be made.

Early in March, he wrote directly to Milner, enclosing testimonials and offering his services,
wildly claiming to have ‘probably a more extensive experience of animal diseases in South
Africa than any other worker’ (Hutcheon, Edington and Theiler were vastly his superior).
Fiddes’ publicised activities then struck him and on the 22nd March, he presumed on their
shipboard acquaintance to write directly to him with the same intent, modestly averring that he
merely wished to be on all fours with other cempetitors. Fiddes answered that he must make
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formal application and on the 4th April, Pitchford duly requested the ‘Imperial Government
of the Transvaal’ to appoint him ‘Director of the Veterinary Department” at a salary of about
£1,000 per annum. He was indeed a good shot and good horseman and had had a few wecks’
Transvaal experience in the Waterberg and Rustenburg districts but was principally motivated
by ‘statements that the Civil Veterinary and Stock Administration would be undertaken by the
Veterinary Officer (Sanderson) on General Baden-Powell’s staff in addition to his regimental
duties’ which, Pitchford declared, was impossible.

Fiddes consulted George Turner who, in a memo of the 14th April made two familiar points:
a general Bacteriological Institute serving both the Transvaal and Orange River Colony was
essential and should come under the Health Department. ‘I know Mr Watkins-Pitchford who is
a good man and [ would also like to draw your attention to Mr Theiler who I know personally
to be a most highly qualified veterinary surgeon and bacteriologist.” Pitchford remained at his
Natal post and Theiler at his. They maintained close correspondence as previously, Pitchford
having succeeded in his campaign to get the Natal Government to appoint a Commission to
examine the claim made at the 1897 Rinderpest Conference that he and Theiler were the joint
discoverers of the immunising serum. At the moment when he was applying for the Transvaal
appointment, he was writing to Theiler to ask him to give evidence and also to contribute an
article on Horse Sickness to the Natal Agricultural Journal.

Theiler had been enduring endless frustration and vexation. His father’s letters and the
supplies he ordered reached him either within a month or not at all. He was in urgent need of
specialised glassware (flasks, verres protectifs, etc) for vaccine and lymph production and his
experiments in general; but neither Cogit in Paris nor German suppliers promptly delivered.
When consignments came, they were cither broken or the wrong type or in short supply. He
was irritated by emotional criticism of his campaign articles in the Pro-Boer Swiss Press (Kipling
too was blackguarded by the Tribunal de Geneve on the 11th January 1901 for fictitiously
attending and describing the murder of a civilian). He resented uninformed comment on his
eye-witness accounts and his specialised knowledge of ‘the Boers’.

All at once early in March, letters, books and journals posted months before reached him
from Europe. He was astonished and gratified to find that Zschokke had considered his paper
on Malaria in Horses suitable for submission to the University of Berne as a dissertation for a
doctorate in Veterinary Medicine. (The Berne and Zurich Veterinary Schools had been elevated
only the year before to faculties competent to award degrees.) Theiler had intended it only as an
article for a veterinary journal; but his father’s and Zschokke’s fortuitous enthusiasm might well
prosper his cause. When it came to confirming his appointment or qualifying for another, a
doctorate would be very valuable. His happy thoughts dwindled into abject despair and finally
disgust. There followed academic quibbles amounting to criticism that he had not presented his
thesis in optima forma — its language and syntax were defective and he had omitted references.
It had been intended merely as an article and Emma defended him furiously. After weeks of
vituperation during which he urgently hoped that he might ‘graduate’ in time to influence
permanent appointment, Theiler was taken away and Emma was left to level the last of his
difficulties. In the meantime, his father did everything possible, Alfred copied the article in a
beautiful hand and Zschokke of Zurich codperated with Quillebeau of Berne to ensure its
award.

On the 3rd March 1901, dread word came from German South West Africa that Rinderpest
(which Turner had known to hover as early as June 1900) had become epidemic. British soldiers
guarded the drifts across the Orange River. The local veterans kmew that nothing would stop
its course. Edington, returning at that moment from his six-month furlough, could speculate on
again becoming a glycerinated-bile factory, his Horse Sickness and other work in abeyance
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through lack of experimental animals. Hutcheon’s department would be hamstrung — after
supplying improved serum to Egypt (which Phillips had administered in loco), the Kimberley
|(, Experimental Station had been closed. Foresightedly, Turner had secured the return of Phillips
i1 who had arrived in Cape Town but had not yet assumed his intended appointment to the Pre-
toria Leprosarium where Turner himself spent all of his free time. '

Towards the end of May, Kitchener sent for Turner. A disease had broken out among cattle
near Maseru in Basutoland whose nature he wished him to ascertain. Turner said he was not a
veterinarian though familiar with Rinderpest but would be unable to diagnose anything other.

| % He must therefore take Theiler. Kitchener agreed and facilitated the issue of a host of permits
iq to enable their journey by train to Bloemfontein, by coach to Maseru and thereafter by Cape-
cart and four mules, all under the Army’s surveillance and reporting at all outposts for searching.
Nobody doubted that the cases were Rinderpest. Turner went at once to Fiddes and told him
to write to Phillips in Cape Town, appointing him lay-assistant at the Pretoria Leper Hospital
at £500 a year. It was duly gazetted as operative from 1st June. Phillips left almost immediately
and had an adventurous four-day train journey harassed by de Wet and his commando and
passing ‘miles of sheep and cattle’ being herded into the ‘Preservation Camps’. One flock of
sheep, he wrote, was 10 miles long. Other travellers at the time had the same experience. J. A.
van der Byl, returning to his Irene Estate from the Cape, also taking four days and nights
| owing to ‘very active Boers’, wrote his daughter — ‘It was distressing to see the numbers of dead
horses, cattle and sheep on the way. They could be counted in tens of thousands and those still
alive are kept close to the railway line in order to be guarded by the soldiers and they too are
in such miserable condition that I feel certain more than half will join the Majority before the
winter is over.” The village of Irene was ‘a tented field’ and about 6,000 women and children
lived in squalor in a ‘Refugee Camp’ while their marauding men brazenly swept off cattle,
sheep and donkeys belonging to it. '

Turner and Theiler left for Maseru on the 17th May 1901, Theiler rejoicing in his first ex-
cursion from Pretoria in exactly a year of confinement and frustration. He was happy too to
have modern equipment with him. The lost case of microscopes had at last been found a month
before with its contents ‘in the best condition’. Immersed in misery and disgust over the

2.2 quibbling and criticism of his ‘thesis’ (he had threatened to cable renouncing the doctorate —

2 2 ‘lhave regarded it as a bauble (klimbimb). A bauble it will remain to me.”), he had °still lacked

'2_H the true wish to work’. Now he was wanted, in the company of a distinguished colleague,
travelling to a new and fascinating land. Hardly had he left than Emma received a cable from
his father confirming the award by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the University of
Berne of the degree of Doctor of Veterinary Medicine on Arnold Theiler for his dissertation on

2 5 “The Malaria of Horses’. (It had been published in Zurich on the 24th May.) The message came
on the 29th May and Emma got it to him with all despatch. Theiler was elated. At least he need
no longer be embarrassed by being called ‘doctor’. At best it might profit his future. Remem-

7_( bering 1897/98, Emma foresaw starvation for South Africa but, writing home, could not men-
tion the menace of Rinderpest to the British military effort.

Army veterinary surgeons were detailed to assist Turner and Theiler as they left Bloemfontein
by coach on their way to Basutoland in the keen cold of mid-winter. A mere 38 miles further at
Thaba Nchu in the old Free State, they found cases of Rinderpest. Proceeding to Maseru
(capital of ‘the Switzerland of South Africa’ where, at 5,000 feet, snow on the Drakensberg
produced bitter cold), they conferred in the British Residency (Lagden was away) with Lieu-

7.7 tenant-Colonel Thomas Flintoff A.V.S. who had served in the war with the 2nd Life Guards.
There was no mistaking the prevalence of Rinderpest in the Orange River Colony and Basuto-
land. : '

-4

1SS

178



2%
25

3L

25
34;

_ The P.V.O. Colonel Matthews had told Turner that it had been introduced by refugee Boer
women, a view Turner derided, believing from its simultaneous appearance at Mafeking that it
had spread eastward from German South West Africa They all knew what should be done but
there was no means of doing it. When the Kimberley Station closed in 1898, Turner had taken
to Cape Town a small supply of serum. He now sent for it but the immediate need was urgent,
There was no alternative but to revert to Koch’s quick original method of injecting bile from a
diseased ox intoa healthy animal temporarily to immunise it. Theiler, Turner and Flintoff labour-
ed urgently to initiate the method and to teach the Basuto to use it. Demeaning work though it
were to the new Doctor of Veterinary Medicine, it taught Theiler much, particularly in plumbing
the singular character of George Turner.

After about ten days, Turner returned to Pretoria to report to Fiddes and Kitchener, leaving
Theiler (living in the Residency) in charge of both tuition and inoculation. Kitchener instructed
Turner immediately to establish a serum station in Pretoria — a process that technically could
not take less than three months during which the old Koch method would have to be continued.
Facilities were available at Theiler’s Daspoort Laboratory and Turner immediately arranged
for the appointment to it at an increment of £100 a year of J. W. Phillips, now officiating at the
Leper Hospital. He was to be officer-incharge of the new Rinderpest Station under the De-
partment of Health headed by Turner. None knew nor practised better than he the processes of
production.

Turner then dashed to Cape Town to obtain equipment and serum from Hutcheon’s de-
partment. At that moment, Rinderpest appeared at Hanover in the Cape and, so far from
gaining material to start his Station at Daspoort, Turner had great difficulty in obtaining 500
doses and only on promise of return when it reached production. He had himself produced this
serum in Kimberley in 1898 and was consequently delighted by its continued potency when,
sending some to Maseru, Theiler successfully immunised 1,400 Army oxen with it, Turner then
returned to Pretoria to engage manifold difficulties, principally the impossibility under current
conditions of obtaining able-bodied oxen to serve as factories, He had also to arrange the build-
ing of sheds and a destructor at Daspoort-as well as fencing where, surprisingly, he had willing
and rapid codperation from the Public Works Departmcnt More extensions would soon be
needed.

Theiler, mvoluntanly, was enjoying the rccrmtment of his resources and purging from his
mind the hurt and hate of the doctorate contretemps. He had written Emma the required referen-
ces (one from the veteran military bacteriologist Alphonse Laveran and others from German,
French and Italian sources) and she forwarded them to his father who continued to rejoice in
arranging his son’s supplies — anthrax vaceine from the Institut Pasteur, despatches from the
Swiss Serum Institute, more flasks from Cogit, journals, books. - Emma had received a letter
from Amsterdam from Arnold’s early lay-assistant Schroeder who had read of his doctorate
in a Dutch newspaper. His ‘Horse Death’ was appearing in two parts in the Deutsche Tierart-

zliche Wochenschrift. Zschokke would probably publish ‘The Tsetse Disease — Nagana’ in the

Schweizer Archiv. fiir Tierheilkunde. Printed copies.of his Dissertation were being sent to scien-
tists and influential persons in Switzerland and beyond. His name would soon be widespread
in Europe and he would reap some compensation for the lack of a professional journal Iocally
which he could have sent overseas.

_Never out of saddle or cart, stimulated by the crisp frigid air and heroic scenery, Theiler
worked with Flintoff and others to save Basutoland and the Orange River Colony from the
Cattle Plague. He and his pupils, black and white, inoculated 3,000 cattle around Maseru and
carried the gospel to the British Army and wherever burghers were back on their farms. It was
all interim activity until Turner could get the laboratory going and produce refined serum.
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Turner wrote him repeatedly for samples of virulent Rinderpest blood but it deteriorated on the

5 long cart-coach-train journey lasting as much as 8 days. In July, Turner told Theiler to return,

bringing live virus with him.

Refreshed though he were in mind and body, Theiler had certain arriéres pensées. Pitchford
had written him again, asking him personally to give evidence to the Commission appointed
by the Natal Government on the 25th June. Under orders in Basutoland, he could not go to
Pietermaritzburg. He surmised that Turner felt he was making common cause with Pitchford
and that he was losing his urge for research. He wondered too why he was kept so long away
from Pretoria when he had not been engaged to deal with either Basutoland or the Orange
River Colony. He began to have doubts. He was afraid that his authority at the new Serum
Station at Daspoort would be restricted. Phillips had once operated the Kimberley Station for
three months without supervision and might have developed authoritarian ideas. He rejoiced
when, after nearly two months in the field, he was required to return. Emma must make him a
special dinner and invite half a dozen of the leading local Swiss. The Boers blew up a bridge in
front of his train which entailed only a short delay and on the 17th July, he was back with his
family at Daspoort.

Official courtesies were exchanged. ‘I cannot allow Dr Theiler to leave Basutoland’, wrote
H. C. Sloley, the Acting Resident Commissioner to the Transvaal Secretary Fiddes, ‘without
placing 6n record my appreciation of the courtesy with which he ever has been ready to assist
us with his advice during his stay though he has, in accordance with his instructions, been
principally occupied with the experimental treatment of cattle in the neighbouring district (sic)
of the Orange River Colony. Dr Theiler has given zealous and skilful attention to the outbreak
of Rinderpest in Basutoland and his services have been most valuable to this Government.’
Fiddes sent the letter to Turner, requesting that he communicate it to Theiler. As M.O.H.,
Turner had the right to reply directly. Doubtless impressed by Theiler’s new academic distinc-
tion, he did so in kind — and revealingly. ‘It is with great pleasure that I am forwarding to my
colleague Dr Theiler your very courteous appreciation of his services. Allow me to thank you for
having so promptly recognised the work of my colleague. I am exceedingly fortunate in being
associated with a man so thoroughly well grounded in his profession who has received a scienti-
fic education and who does not spare himself in carrying out his duty.’ Theiler was pleased. He
was sickening for one of his habitual states of euphoria.

* * #*

His laboratory was at last coming into its own. Veterinary duties still fell to him but diminished

(o after the 20th July when Captain J. M. Christy M.R.C.V.S. was appointed to Turner’s staff.

L\

From his carefully-accumulated store of cultures, Theiler was able to deal with a wide variety
of human and animal diseases. In August, Kitchener had to cope with threatened Smallpox
and enacted compulsory vaccination for native labour. Theiler was ready for it. He also began
the production of diphtheria serum and foresaw involvement in Turner’s dedicated investigation
of Leprosy. Serum for Bovine Pleuro-Pneumonia (Lung Sickness) and Mallein for Glanders
(the main scourges of the British Army) were in constant production while Theiler supervised

(4 2 Phillips” expert manipulation of Rinderspest serum to ensure its quality. (Phillips’ diary of the
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time records the bravado of the Boers who hovered fearlessly in the vicinity of Pretoria and
occasionally sniped at him or threatened to steal his horse as he rode into town). Daspoort had
become a busy immunisation factory with too few buildings and assistants; but, overloaded by
work and eagerly supported by Turner, Theiler continued his tantalising Horse Sickness ex-
periments and ‘all kinds of other investigations’.
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‘Now I have more opportunity to achieve something scientific than ever before’, he wrote
and burdened his father with more requests. Some — textbooks, journals and apparatus — were
for his own edification but others were in the general interest. Production of Rinderpest serum
depended on the blood standing for 48 hours in a special glass vessel to allow the serum to
separate. The number of these fragile flasks which Theiler had ordered, inevitably diminished
and he besought his father to expedite more from Cogit. At one stage, only nine remained with
no sign, under war conditions, of others arriving. Both Turner and Theiler, already exacerbated
by the Army’s refusal to provide oxen, were distraught. >

Since transference as ‘Bacteriologist’ to the Health Department, Theiler’s salary had risen
to £900 and he was at last able to discharge his accounts overseas. Much was facilitated by his
paying money into the Welfare Fund of the Schweizerverein Alpina in Pretoria equalling
amounts collected by Kollmann in Switzerland who then paid them in francs to his father. He
intended discharging his obligations to Professors Zschokke, Quillebeau and Kitt in typically
esoteric manner but it was not until December 1901 that he was able to send them ‘interesting
pathological specimens’ including Rinderpest and part of the lung of a horse dead from the
Sickness. They were taken by a friend in bottles without labels lest the Customs impound them
as ‘pestilences’.

“The will to work’ was now back in full force with a mounting sense of accomplishment
verging on ecstasy. His articles were appearing in journals of the highest repute in Europe,
Pitchford would shortly publish his contribution on ‘Horse Sickness’ in the Natal Agricultural
Journal. He was doing what he wanted to do with his superior’s full support and understanding.
There was indeed a small disappointment — his Dissertation on Horse Malaria describing the
causative trypanosome had been anticipated by Laveran to whom he had sent smears through
his friend Nocard. Laveran had published a work on trypanosomes and had called the Equine
Malaria variety ‘piroplasma equi’. Theiler noted keenly that Laveran had worked with frogs.

Otherwise all marched excellently. His staff was augmented by his ex-orderly D. T. Botha as

L_|,’1 Lymph Packer and by his previous lay-assistant Alfred von Bergen as Lymph Maker. In the
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grip of euphoria, he wrote a long letter to Alfred, then 19 and a scholar at the Aarau High
School with leanings towards Natural Science as became a son of Franz Theiler. Arnold im-
plored him to get on with his studies (which they had discussed in 1899), take a degree at the
University of Zurich and then work with Nocard in Paris and John M’Fadyean in London (to
learn English) so that he could join him for a trial year in his laboratory. Alfred tended toward
zoology and Arnold tempted him with wonderful opportunities and a great future in South
Africa. He also asked Alfred to send his school books on Mathematics, Chemistry, Physics
and Natural Science as he himself had forgotten so much. Obsessed with the shining future, he
wrote with convincing persuasiveness; but events and Alfred’s inclinations nullified his plan.
Lord Milner landed in Cape Town on the 27th August 1901 and, staying briefly with the
new Cape Governor, Sir Walter Hely-Hutchinson, traversed the ravaged land to establish his
headquarters at an American mining engineer’s manor ‘Sunnyside’ in Johannesburg with a
direct telephone line to Pretoria. His ‘Kindergarten’ was already gathering around him - the
Honourable Hugh A. Wyndham and John Buchan as private secretaries (Buchan was later
allocated Refugee Camps and Agricultural Resettlement); Patrick Duncan, Milner’s previous
secretary in the English Department of Inland Revenue, as Treasurer for the Transvaal; Lionel
Hichens, Geoffrey Robinson, Lord Basil Blackwood and many other eager high-spirited young
men knowing no language but their own and some Latin and Greek with perhaps a smattering
of French. To them was entrusted the hydra-headed problem of a despoiled land and a demoralised

people.
There was still no sign of peace; but to some, like Theiler, the future held infinite promise. To
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others, like Emma who had lived restrictedly and tediously for more than a year under Martial
Law, hope was less feasible than despair. To the ruined local inhabitants, there was not even
hope, only sullen resignation in a land drifting beyond the brutal usages of war into the chaos
created by Nature.

By October, the Rinderpest had reached Pretoria. Theiler was desperately trying — as he and
others has so futiley done before — to isolate the causative bacillus. He was using a new method of

157 intraperitoneal culture and was at first optimistic. But for the serum poured out by Borthwick
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(acting for Hutcheon, absent overseas) at the new Cape stations at Aliwal North and Kimberley,
and by Turner, Theiler and Phillips at Daspoort, the British Army’s drive to corner the guerillas
might have been halted. Its transport oxen were essential. Rinderpest (which had reached no
further than the Northern Cape) first seriously affected them in August 1901. Of a strength of
95,700 oxen in that month, 16,200 or 17 died. In September, of 86,700, 16,300 or roughly
18%; in October, 17%; and in November and December, about 12%. During those five months,
65,700 Army oxen died. No one could calculate the loss in beasts equally essential to agriculturé}
practlsed by whites and blacks whose remaining animals had been commandeered. Only a
bucolic story survives to illustrate the exigency of the times in the most favoured area of Southcrn
Africa.

At the Cape, Sir Walter Hely-Hutchinson liked to hunt small' game on nearby farms, his
party generally being accompanied by one or more of the local Afrikaner farmers. On one such
occasion at precisely this period, he was joined by Fanie Cilliers at Hermon beyond Paarl and
as they rode to the hunting ground, enquired about farming conditions after recent good rains.
Fanie hedged and when pushed, spoke his mind in English about the military commandeering
almost all their mules and horses so that they could not plough. ‘Not at all?’ exclaimed Sir
Walter.

‘Well, no, Guv’nor — ’n boer maak ’n plan — a farmer makes a plan as we say. | have manag-
ed to put in about a third of my usual crop by training and inspanning six of my dry cows and
six young heifers before one double-furrow plough.’

‘But can such a ragged team effectively pull a heavy ptough, Cilliers?’

‘Well Guv’nor, hardly. But I have also got two big bulls, Blouberg and Tafelberg and I have
trained them under the yoke too.’ :

‘But surely, Cilliers, two bulls can’t puII a plough by themselves, can they?’ ;

“That’s right, Guv’'nor. But here again is a case where a farmer makes a plan. I put the two
bulls at the rear of the team with the cows and heifers in front and by God, Guv’nor, you should
have seen how that plough turned up the soil!”

Delighted, Sir Walter reined his horse, collected his party of A.D.C:’s, officers and guests and
made Cilliers repeat the earthy story. It became a standing joke on subsequent expeditions.
(When the war was over, Sir Walter saw to it that Cilliers had special pick at the sale of mlhtary
mules and horses.)

* . * *

The Cape suffered least; but progressively northward, conditions worsened to utter penury. On
his way to Johannesburg, Milner had examined an incipient Department of Agriculture at
Bloemfontein, carefully nurtured by the horse-loving Goold-Adams. Trees had been planted,
a Land Board for repatriated burghers formed, 150 British farmers settled and other steps taken.
The Transvaal was in far worse pass but Milner had already made his plans in England. Little
could be done until Kitchener could conclude the war. There was as yet no S1gn no chance to
institute ‘reconstruction’.
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Surgeon-Major David Bruce R.A.M.C. before acquiring Mrs Bruce whose work in the besieged Lady-
the Ladysmith medal with seven bars for his services smith was acknowledged by the award of the
during the Siege and numerous other distinctions. R.R.C. and service medals.

Butchering horses for food, their selection being one of the duties of H. Watkins-Pitchford who may have figured in this scene
drawn by Melton Prior.



Disfigured and bloated bodies seen and described by
Theiler some days after the Battle of Spionkop.

Slaughter of Cavalry horses
was compelled by Lord
Roberfs® drive to capture
Bloemfontein. Over-loaded,
exhausted and starving, they
were beyond the point of
recovery and were shot by
the Army - in this instance
at Winburg in the Orange
Free State, 1,500 cavalry
mounts being killed.

Postcard of a Boer
Commando issued for sale
by a committee in Basle,
Switzerland with the help
of Theiler’s friend
Kollmann to raise money
for the Schweizerverein
Alpina in Pretoria which
he had founded and which
assisted distressed Swiss
during the Boer War.

Kollmann signed and sent
the card to Theiler.
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It was part of this policy that Theiler was now encouraged to devote himself to purely scientific
investigation. He mounted a battery of different experiments, his staff was progressively in-
creased (in October, B. Porta as Laboratory Superintendent and later specially in charge of
Horse Sickness experiments; in November, P. R. Ferreira as Inoculatory Assistant), his access
to overseas sources was facilitated. Turner knew of what he was capable — he knew his past
record, particularly with Rinderpest, and he had read his last three papers which consolidated
his ten years’ experience and work on Horse Sickness and Malaria, and Nagana. ‘The Tsetse
Fly Sickness’ was indeed almost autobiographical. Theiler began it with a study of early sources
including Livingstone’s ‘Missionary Travels’ which he had read as a boy and the ‘Fly Belt’
map published by Fred Jeppe in 1877 at which he had marvelled when first in Pretoria. He owed
his interest in the subject, he wrote, to David Bruce whose infinitely thorough investigations he
described. He himself had repeated and extended them, subjecting the easily-stained trypano-
some to every kind of test, consulting all the current published works, writing to the leading
investigators overseas some of whom he had met in 1899, describing in terse muscular terms
every aspect of the disease and incidence in various animals, leaving no detail unexplained or
unaccounted for. Turner, like everyone else who later read Theiler’s reports, wondered at their
exhaustiveness and the thoroughness with which he devised experiments of wide variety to test
every possible contingency in the subject he was studying. He marvelled too at the simplicity
of his language and the directness of his attack, so different from the wordy effusions of Eding-
ton and the thin content of Pitchford’s accounts written principally for farmers.

Given free rein, Theiler explored many blind alleys and recorded many inconclusive results,
notably with the elusive Rinderpest ‘microbe’ and the cause of the Horse Death. ‘I apparently
spend much time on negative results’, he wrote, ‘but the enterprises on which I am now en-
gaged are the most delicate which I have ever undertaken and require much patience and en-
durance.” Emma shared in them. She was more than his left hand. He taught von Bergen to cut

5% fine sections for microscopic work with the Microtome that his father had obtained for him
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but Emma was his expert laboratory assistant.

Arnold was collecting mosquitoes to breed for experiment — ‘I am preparing myself really
actively to find the insect this year which, according to my hypothesis, is the carrier of the Horse
Death. From now on, I will collect all possible insects which are equipped with a blood-sucking
eating organ.” He sent a collection of mosquitoes to the British Museum for checking and later
another, being gratified to receive a reply from the appropriate officer, Theobald saying that they

(o included three new varieties of Anopheles and Culex. He was also finely examining the activity

Gl

of a bacillus in the intestines of the louse-fly associated with pigeons. Emma dissected them for
him. The onset of the summer rains and the proliferation of flies meant further disaster to the
British Army — the Horse Death would hamper it again. Daspoort could hardly mest its de-
mands for Rinderpest serum.

Theiler’s appetite for more textbooks, more laboratory equipment, more esoteric apparatus,
more chemicals became insatiable. He wrote his father weekly with exigent demands. During
the long hot summer nights, he and Emma varied their activities by studying Italian for
future use on their travels, Algebra, Logarithms and elementary mathematics which they felt
they ought to know, and Chemistry, Physics, Geology and any science which might relate to
their work. Martial Law was ineffably irksome but compulsory leisure could at least be made
profitable.

(. Z. Theiler’s stature stood high. The Natal Government Commission on the source of the Rinder-

pest serum treatment now completed its report. The fire in the Pietermaritzburg Town Hall had
destroyed all Pitchford’s papers but in evidence, he had produced his letters to his wife at the
time. They proved that.Theiler and he had ‘produced a curative serum’ in December 1896
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and that he had written to Lloyd, Commissioner for Agriculture, on the 19th that they had “dis-
covered a process by which undoubted immunity could be conferred’. Lloyd gave supporting
evidence. Koch had pulled the bile rabbit out of his hat only in February 1897. He had reported
his findings but Theiler and Pitchford had not. The Commission nonetheless found in their
favour and recommended that its Report be laid on the table of the Natal Parliament and that
copies be sent to the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons in London. It ended with highly
laudatory comment on Pitchford’s services (see Appendix A).

The implication of a suitable award was never accepted either by Natal or the R.C.V.S.

2 which vacuously acknowledged the Report with the comment that ‘the Council has no know-

ledge of the matter referred to’. Pitchford had cause to be bitter. His philosophy in the face of

\ injustice or reverse was to forget it — ‘the more you stir it, the more it stinks’, he often said;

but the memory of being unjustly deprived of recognition stayed with him. For the moment, it
was blurred by his appointment at the same time (October 1901) as Government Bacteriologist
and Director of the Veterinary Department of Natal, S. B. Woollatt being appointed Principal
Veterinary Officer. Like Theiler, he could now concentrate on research but, unlike him, had the
status and dignity of a Director of a Government Department.

As the year neared its end, Kitchener’s harsh measures slowly tortured the last evidence of
defiance into extinction. Theiler saw old friends being brought in as prisoners, including his
venerable ‘baas’, the landdrost Schutte who, driving top-hatted, silkily-bearded and immaculate
behind his matching greys, had supported and helped him in his struggle as Gouvernements
Veearts. The old man was now ‘very depressed’, Theiler said, though glad to be removed from
the rigours of campaign life. He had failed to surrender before the prescribed date of the 15th
September when amnesty was offered and would now be banished to a camp in the Bermudas
or Ceylon or St Helena. Other servants of the Z.A.R. had fared better. Theiler’s close colleague
in Johannesburg, Sir Drummond Dunbar, was appointed ‘Issuer of Liquor Permits’ and early
in 1902, issued one to him ‘under authority of the Military Governor to purchase any liquors
he may require — in reasonable quantities — against a written order without reference to this
office’. In Johannesburg, the British had made their erstwhile servant, Captain Carl von Brandis
who had married Arnold and Emma, a popular but failing Registrar of Births and Deaths
(he died in June 1903). Of the enemy aliens, few were more favoured than Arnold Theiler.

His experiments on the etiology of Rinderpest were, as he had surmised, a failure and he now
began ‘a penetrating study of its pathological anatomy’. Phillips continued with the production
of serum on a vast scale as the disease spread in the Transvaal. On the 3rd December 1901,
to protect Bechuanaland, Milner prohibited the traffic or cattle across its border. Every day,
Theiler’s ex-orderly Botha wandered along the banks of the Aapies River and among stagnant
pools, collecting the larvae of winged insects in glass jars. They were sorted and classified and
clumsily mounted until Theiler pére could send the ‘insect pins’ ordered many weeks before.
Theiler found their investigation a fascinating and promising field.

* e *

The mail due in the middle of December failed to arrive, the Dunottar Castle bringing it being
greatly delayed by a broken propellor shaft. When it came, it brought a letter from Marie and
her husband Carl Mettauer telling Theiler that his father had died on the 19th November. He
had been writing weekly to and receiving letters from a dead man. They had not brusquely
cabled, wishing to break the news gently.

The shock was great but not entirely unexpected. Franz had complained of headaches and
dizziness. At 68, he was still officiating at the Frick School, resentful of the short breaks which
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his condition imposed. His doctor had been reassuring. He still went willingly about Arnold’s
business, arranging his supplies, ordering his books, circulating his Dissertation. Less than a
week before his death, he had written a long letter confirming many and complicated commis-
sions. Denying cause for his family’s concern, he had died suddenly in the night of a heart attack.
Arnold and Emma could take some comfort from the fact that six weeks before, photographs of
their family had given him pleasure. He had been proud too of Arnold’s doctorate.

Arnold’s immediate thought was for his young brother. He wrote the Mettauers that he would
pay for his education at the Aarau High School and at the University of Zurich where he wished
to train as a teacher. Then he wrote a tender moving letter to Alfred saying inter alia that it was
their father’s one wish that he would live long enough to see Alfred established in his life’s work.
He, Arnold, wished to take their father’s place and promised all help. In the event, it was Alfred
who took Franz’ place. His death would have meant the severing of an artery had not Arnold
nolens volens visited upon Alfred the multitudinous requests which for ten years had efficiently
been met by his father. Preoccupied though he were by his studies, Alfred tried to fulfil them.
His elder brother was a hero to him. (Fifty years later, with the assistance of the family, he
caused all the letters written to his parents by Arnold — which were almost indecipherable — and
Emma to be collected and typed for binding in two volumes, one publishable and the other
‘unpublishable’ domestic extracts, to record his brother’s courageous struggle to make his way
between 1891 and 1901. Later his son, Alfred 11, collected those written by Arnold to his father
which were zealously transcribed and typed by the family.)

Writing sometimes to his mother and sister Marie and desultorily to his brother who would
soon enrol as a student at Zurich University, Theiler went on with his deep researches. Much
more was possible with his new microscopes. Tirelessly examining blood smears from every
kind of sick animal, his attention was arrested late in 1901 by the familiar trypanosome of
Nagana with its oval body and single flailing tail. Others might have passed it as a known agent
of the disease but typically, Theiler looked again at this specimen. There was something different
about it, he observed — it was consistently larger than the Nagana trypanosome. Typically too,
he injected it into horses, dogs, goats, rabbits, guinea pigs and calves. None reacted except the
calves which became enfevered and revealed the trypanosome in their blood. It produced acute
pernicious anaemia. He thought it might be Bovine Malaria. He sent a smear to his friend
Lieutenant-Colonel David Bruce, now in England, and went on with similar researches.

The war dragged devastatingly on. The Queen had died and Theiler, in the annexed Transvaal,
had legally become a British subject. Turner had been trying to clear the Augean stable of the
Refugee Camps and Theiler saw little of him. A *Women’s Commission’ had been appointed
in England to investigate them and would soon arrive to begin their horrifying work. Milner
sat in Sunnyside, planning the ‘reconstruction’ that must surely soon be needed. He had made
many far-sighted preparations. During his nine-month service in Cairo in 1889/90, he had been
impressed by the work of a civil engineer, William Willcocks. By 1899, Willcocks had published
voluminous tomes on irrigation in Egypt and the utilisation of water in making a desert country
agriculturally viable. Milner employed him to examine the same situation in South Africa.
Willcocks presented his report to him in Johannesburg on the 6th November 1901 and according
to one Milner biographer (Wrench), it determined much of his agricultural policy.

In “Irrigation in South Africa’, Willcocks naturally posited that widespread irrigation would
be the solution to all post-war regeneration problems. He recommended that the mining in-
dustry subsidise Agriculture and, conscious of the ethnic refusal of the burghers to engage in
manual labour (by no means shared by the exemplary British settlers Milner intended importing),
proposed that the ‘poor white — arme burgher’ problem be solved by a back-to-the-land non-
pastoral agriculture in which they could retain their dignity. Generations came and went before
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this proposal could be implemented; but Milner was determined to lay its foundations in every
aspect. ‘The farm is the fundamental fact of life’, the British erroneously propounded (in fact,
more food is produced per cultivated acre of water than of land) and the policy of ‘reconstruc-
tion” was based on that premise. The extraordinary latitude shown to Theiler, happily occupied
with pure research in his laboratory and only occasionally distracted by checking the quality of
Phillips’ Rinderpest serum, was proof of its sincerity.

He was pursuing his hypothesis that if blood-sucking insects were not the cause of various
animal discases, they might be the intermediary hosts as in the case of the tsetse fly and Nagana.

~19 He longed for a zoologist to help him and wrote Alfred that his invitation to join him upon
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qualification was very real. Theiler surmised that some sort of mosquito or fly was the carrier
of the Horse Death and that ticks were the carriers of Equine Malaria. He took ticks from an
afflicted horse and bred them for testing on sound horses. It was only one of his manifold
experiments on the scourges of South African agriculture and transport.

The confining strictures of Martial Law and the intransigent obstruction of the military in
refusing to supply experimental and serum-productive animals (angrily reported by Turner to
his superiors) affected Theiler less than the new climate of encouragement. The British had con-
fidence in him. Overseas, his work were circulating among the scientific elect on the Continent.
In England, Bruce provided a meritorious accolade. On the 27th February 1902, he read to a
meeting of the Royal Society in London a ‘Note on the Discovery of a New Trypanosome’.
It was the unusually large one sent him by Theiler some weeks before which he suspected of
being the cause of Bovine Malaria. Bruce described his work on it and concluded — ‘As this
discovery seems to me to be an interesting one and as Dr Theiler deserves great credit for the
observation, | would propose that this trypanosoma be named after the discoverer Trypansoma
Theileri.’ :

Within hours, The Veterinary Record in London had published a transiated digest of his
‘The Tsetse Sickness’ taken from the Schweizer Archiv fiir Tierheilkunde and The Lancet had
reproduced Bruce’s ‘Note’. On the 4th April, the Royal Society recorded it in its Proceedings.
Theiler himself was now among the scientific elect in the land of his employers. He could not
forbear from reporting his ‘small success’ to Alfred — “You can read Bruce’s communication’,
he wrote, ‘in the Proceedings of the Royal Society which will certainly be in the Zurich Univer-
sity Library’. His triumph was only beginning. Others everywhere read the Proceedings which
were reproduced in newspapers in England and abroad. He received congratulations from Eng-
land and Germany. The great Laveran wrote him from Paris asking for further information
on Trypanosoma Theileri and fresh specimens. John M Fadyean translated his paper on Equine
Malaria and published it in the Journal of Comparative Pathology and Therapeuticsin two parts.
It was all highly stimulating and he planned another paper on ‘Equine Malaria and its Sequelae’,
a treatise on diseases produced by piroplasmas through ticks, another collection of mosquitoes
for the British Museum. His euphoria for once was well founded.

Current circumstances supported it. Early in April, under British guarantee, Botha met his
fighting colleagues at Klerksdorp to discuss an end to hostilities. They proceeded to Pretoria
for further discussion. The whole world waited. England’s anxiety was heightened by the hope
of concluding one of the costliest conflicts in its history in time for the forthcoming coronation
of King Edward VII. Botha and Kitchener greatly admired each other but neither could facilely
arrange terms for capitulation. During April and May, negotiations continued. The end was
inevitable and Milner accelerated his ‘reconstruction’ arrangements. On the 26th April 1902,
Frank Braybrooke Smith was appointed by the Colonial Office in London as Agricultural Ad-
viser to His Excellency Lord Milner at £1,500 per annum.

- On the 16th May, sixty Boer delegates met as the guests of the British Government at Ver-
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eeniging for discussion of the conditions under which they would surrender. While they were in

session, F. B, Smith arrived in Pretoria and reported himself for duty to the Transvaal civil

%9 administration. He was instructed immediately to prepare a report on Agriculture in the

Transvaal and Orange River Colony (of which he had no knowledge whatever). On the 28th

~ May, Generals Botha, de la Rey, Hertzog and de Wet conferred with Milner and Kitchener in

€] O Pretoria where all the Coronation festivities had suddenly been suspended (except for children)

A | by reports of King Edward’s illness. On the 31st May, the Treaty of Vereeniging was signed

in the afternoon by the Boer delegates and taken to Pretoria for signature by their leaders and

Milner and Kitchener. The war was over. Reconstruction could begin. On the 5th June, Milner

92 and members of his Kindergarten returned to Johannesburg — ‘Not a human being in sight nine-
tenths of the 35 miles — nothing but partridges, buck and burnt veldt.’
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The farm that Theiler wanted.
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Rinderpest coming from that area remained with him. He planned to leave in June, returning
at the end of November. Smith endorsed his confirmatory memo with ‘not more than one
month’. The Transvaal might be richer than the other Colonies, stiil in the depth of depression,
retrenchment and rigid curtailment of expenses; but the indulging of Bruce did not imply
extravagance or the prolonged absence of Theiler’s hand in controlling Onderstepoort.

Smith persuaded Treasury to recommend to the Public Service Board that Theiler receive
one month’s special leave on full pay non-deductible from his regular leave. With due formality,
» the Prime Minister’s Office requested the Governor Lord Seiborne to sanction it, as well as 14
days from the 10th to the 23rd September for Theiler’s attendarnce at The Hague Conference.
This was the second time his Government had undertaken Theiler’s overseas expenses; but ten
years before, the Z.A.R. had failed to refund the £200 owed him. His prospects were better now.

Only a few days remained before his departure. Perversely East Coast Fever flared in the
Eastern Transvaal, slaughter was ordered and the Government was expected to provide donkeys
and mules to compensate for the killed and quarantined oxen. A painful dichotomy afflicted the
Government Veterinary Bacteriologist (still earning only £1,200 a year despite his palatial
premises and large staff). He longed to remain at his new Institute to control its huge activities
and to be at hand when the political currents swirled into straight course and the detailed
structure of ‘Union’ became a unanimous demand of critical importance to himself — so im-
portant that already he was being instructed to look for staff, additional equip:
facilities for converting Onderstepoort into a Central Laboratory for the new So
not for Africa itself. On the other hand, the lure of Bruce with its chance of visit
Central Africa, the International Conference which would ‘bring him up to date
his friends, the old familiar ambience of Europe, were powerful forces to take hi
idea of studying at Zurich had gone by the board. The sooner he left, the sooner
back.

In the second week of June 1909, Theiler left by train for Lourengo Marques
Deutsche Ost-Afrika liner travelling east. Emma would follow a month later on t
meeting him in Mombasa on his return from Uganda. The children would be put
school. Onderstepoort would run along the lines clearly established, haunted
principles of meticulous observation, accuracy in recording and conscientious sery
originator had instilled.
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A. C. Macdonald had become Director of Agriculture in British East Africa based at
. One of his best vets, P. Conacher, was now Principal Veterinary Officer of Portuguese
rica where his entomologist, C. W. Howard, had also gone. One of his botanists had gone
hern Rhodesia and other experts elsewhere. If ‘Union” did not bring improvement in
nditions of employment, there would be other defections, perhaps even the pearl among
ially-trained staff — Theiler himself, now dangerously summoned by the great Bruce and
yaging to an International Conference full of beguiling invitations.

:ally equipped in tropical whites and a monstrous red-lined terai, Theiler was travelling
east Coast where the Deutsch-Ost-Afrika Linie steamships, moving mostly at night,
. at every outlet — Lourengo Marques, Beira, Mocambique, Port Amelia, Dar-es-Salaam,
ir, Mombasa — taking aboard the skeletal victims of malaria and black-water fever to die
native lands. At Dar-es-Salaam, Theiler called on the Principal Veterinary Officer, Dr
tenheld and, chatting happily about common interests, found that he would be company
na on the ship six weeks hence when all three would continue to Europe. Lichtenheld
ch to tell him about tropical animal diseases, especially East Coast Fever.,

inded at Mombasa in a welcoming atmosphere and took the train across the Athi
o Nairobi where the P.V.O. Robert Stordy and R. E. Montgomery, recently appointed
ity Bacteriologist for British East Africa, met him as friends. They had plans to make
1im when he had finished with Bruce in Uganda. Stordy placed himself at Theiler’s
, showed him everything he could, answered all his questions and put him up. East
vas an exciting experience —~ the strange and varied natives, the profusion of wild ani-
ie odd cattle (long-horned Angoni and dewlapped Asian), the dull grey-stone British
1 buildings with their fresh-faced officials struggling to help dashing settlers (many
ice men), and the heroic scenery of the Great Rift Valley with its distant peaks. Theiler
. by train to Port Florence (Kisumu) on the shores of Victoria Nyanza and thence by

Entebbe where a genuine safari took him by rough track to Brucéls well-developed
. Mpumu on the northern shore.

degree of emotion inhered in the meeting of the tall corpulent Bruce and the st¢
both bullet-headed and imposing. Theiler had been abroad when Bruce visited Sc
n 1905 and their continuing correspondence had been but a dull reflection of the 1

which sparked into vivid life upon meeting. Bacteriology was their common field
:r seldom touched on the human aspect, confining himself to domestic animals, B:

in both. They hastened to bring each other up to date.

Nagana work, Bruce had established the vitally important fact that unaffected anir
srve as reservoirs for deadly virus transmissible by flies. The killer-trypanosome c«
mlessly in game until a tsetse fly absorbed and transmitted it by biting domestic ca
/04, Bruce had been sent by the Royal Society to Uganda to join an investigatiol
: Sickness, then depopulating the lake area. Its human victims provided research
d one of the investigators, sure that he had found the cause in a bacterium in the b

patients, casually told Bruce that he had noticed Trypanosoma gambiense (alre
d in West Africa) in the blood of some. ‘Like a flash of lightning’, Bruce told The
through my brain that this parasite must be the cause of Sleeping Sickness and notl
1 that if such were the case, then it must be transmitted by a fly.” Now he was ex[

with scores of monkeys, each chained to its elevated box-house as shelter from Us
rential storms, in regular rows outside his Mpumo laboratory. Theiler eyed them
rely. He had come to advise on his own ‘trypanosome’, transmitted by ticks.

arily the examples of Amakebe (endemic in calves and distinguished by heavily-swo
ic glands, emaciation and a 50/75 %, mortality) which Bruce had available were mo
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cure, an event hailed almost throughout the world. Theiler, now distinctly an important servant
of the British Enpire, went diligently about his business of preparing himself and his Institute
for wide and heavy responsibility in the forthcoming new order. The old bogys would not dis-
appear, among them Horse Sickness. He had always believed it was caused by a fly, probably
a variety of mosquito. Now he approached F. E. Theobald, a zoologist and vice-principal
(as F. B. Smith had been) of the South Eastern Agricultural College at Wye, who was a specialist
on mosquitoes and to whom Simpson had sent specimens on Transvaal types. Theiler offered to
send him an extensive collection from Onderstepoort and environs where Horse Sickness was
always rife, for identification and classification. He began it immediately upon his return and
continued until 1910, collecting at random and also from traps in horse-stables where the insects
might conceivably have been feeding on the animals. Theobald carefully classified them, sus-
pecting an even wider mosquito population in the Transvaal but the identification of the specific
Sickness carrier remained clusive.

For the whole of October 1909, Theiler sounded the level of research and the availability of
assistants among his peers in England. They had bright young men whom they could recommend
and Theiler made tentative arrangements pending the authorisation of increases in his establish-
ment. His eye was on D. T. Mitchell and W. Horner Andrews in London, both able investigat-
ors. He had also checked the progress made by the first South African students whom Botha’s
bursaries had enabled to study Veterinary Science at the Royal College in London and else-
where. The earliest, P. R. Viljoen was doing exceptionally well at the R.C. V.S, later passing his
second Examination with First Class Honours. The two students who had followed him, Gilles
de Kock and G. F. Marais managed their first Examination with Second-class Honours. Theiler
was pleased at the promising prospect of indigenous assistance, all of it Dutch-speaking. Then
he crossed the Bristol Channel to visit Professor A. E. Mettam, principal of the Royal Veterinary
College of Dublin. Mettam had a likely candidate in Daniel Kehoe who had graduated with
distinction and joined his staff. Theiler engaged him forthwith as an Assistant for serological
work and Kehoe sailed in September 1910. In the meantime, D. T. Mitchell was brought out
for appointment to the Veterinary Division and transferred thence to Onderstepoort in June
1910.

His work worthily done, Theiler embarked at Dover on the 3rd November on an ‘inter-
mediate’ or slower steamship than the mails for reasons of economy. Vile weather impended,
later littering the English coast with wrecks; but after a first frigid week, the voyage was ‘extra-
ordinarily pleasant’. Both Arnold and Emma needed the recuperation after eight frenzied weeks
abroad and facing a future clouded by confusion and uncertainty. On the 29th November, the
eager faces of their children and staff confronted them on Pretoria station. Life at Onderstepoort
was quickly resumed. Disillusion soon laid its damp hand on every aspect.

% * *

Botha was back, thinner and better in health. The whole country had been dismayed
mooted appointment of the undistinguished Mr Herbert Gladstone, then Home Se
(‘Asquith will be glad to get rid of him’, the papers reported, some pleading for the reten
Lord Selborne) as Governor-General of the forthcoming Union. The King formally proc
the 31st May 1910 as the date of inauguration: of the new constitution and on the 22nd T
ber 1909, Gladstone’s appointment, approved by Botha, was formally confirmed. Slow
glorious event was diminishing in stature. The fine figures of the past departed - first,
Hutchinson, valued and esteemed by Theiler, and last, on the verge of the new order,
Selborne himself, his sponsor and supporter. Pathetically people continued to believe tk
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o | 2 at the delay (though many were using Mentjes’ method because it was effective) demanded more
experimental stations from Uitenhage to the north. Theiler needed all his eloquence to calm
them. He counselled patience, reiterated his belief that the disease was due to herbage which was
the business of a physiological chemist and not a bacteriologist, and reassured them with
Botha’s promise, permitting him to find such an expert in Europe. They asked him many ques-
tions and Burtt-Davy answered others on weeds, grasses and poisonous plants. Not all the
flowers put in their buttonholes nor the ‘garden party’ and dance arranged by the Vryburg

Ziq citizens, the demonstrations and bonhomie, really pacified angry men with fast-diminishing
herds. With the exception of Natal, reduced by East Coast Fever, the number of cattle raised
in the Cape, Free State and Transvaal hiad phenomenally increased with corresponding re-

2 1 S5 duction in imported beef. At that moment, 5,797,000 beasts valued at £34,782,000 grazed in the
Union in the shadow of Lamziekte. Their owners resented being fobbed off with glib promises.
Theiler looked at the feeding experiments at Armoedsvlakte. 10 loaned animals had died and
Z_ ) { Butler had compensated their owners from the Lamziekte Fund. Sharpe was running the place
satisfactorily. He rushed back for a day or two in Pretoria. There he found that the King of the
Belgians had honoured him with the title of Chevalier de la Couronne Belgique in appreciation
of his assistance in training Belgian veterinary surgeons for service at Katanga in the Congo.
2.1™1 “You should put this in the newspapers — applause belongs to industry’, he wrote hurriedly to
Alfred, ‘Be careful though that my correct official title “Director of Veterinary Research of the
Union of South Africa” is in all cases connected with it as I am the first person to hold this
appointment in South Africa and am as proud of it as of the Order. I have accepted ofcourse,
not as a Swiss but as director of all those institutes that come under me — Cape Province, Natal,
2| Free State and Transvaal.” Then he was in the train with F. B. Smith, C. E. Gray, Burtt-Davy
and several other divisional heads on their way to East London to attend an important combined
conference of the Cape Agricultural Union and Western Province Fruit Growers Association
219 opening on the 28th August. In the roadstead, he saw his ship Kinfauns Castle on its way up the
coast to Durban where it would turn round to return to Cape Town for the voyage to England.
Theiler now had no time to spare for the longer East Coast journey direct to Europe. On the
9th September 1912, after manifold complicated arrangements (‘the travel fever has gripped
me’) Arnold, Emma, Margaret, Gertrud and Max took train to Cape Town and boarded their

ship on the 11th for Southampton, England.
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of impoverished stock-raisers. Theiler left Cape Town for Somerset West to consult with Quinan
at the nearby Cape Explosives Works (still called ‘De Beers’ after Rhodes original dynamite
factory). He asked Quinan whether his colossal new fertiliser factory could not produce cheap
but effective phosphates (calcium, sodium, phosphoric acid, etc) to meet the need. Quinan
thought it could and promised to engage in bonemeal production, the best means of administer-
ing phosphorus to cattle.

The time had come for Theiler to stand away from ten years’ fruitiess work and 18 months of
revealing observation and experimentation. In brief, the combatting of Lamziekte also indicated
the most advantageous methods of stock-raising. He had now to plan and put into operation
before he left, the investigations into climate, pasture, feeding, medication and generally treating
cattle to attain maximum production. Mogg, for instance, must go immediately to Armoeds-
vlakte to study and analyse the veld plants for at least two years. What was further needed was
a Plant Physiologist and one must be found. Green must investigate the optimum chemical
diet. And so on. But even before launching this programme of work, he must carry the country
with him - the farmers, the industrialists, the legislators and the general public. With his great
gifts for simple explanation, Theiler was a born publicist and promoter. He set his mind to
expounding, with the help of his leading lieutenants, the Lamziekte syndrome and what it im-
plied. Loyally and with due notice though deeply preoccupied, he began his campaign at Vry-
ourg (where he had recently sent P. J. du Toit and H. H. Green publicly to confront the assertive
Hartig and witheringly to demolish his vaunted ‘cure’).

On the 29th June 1920, about 300 cattle-raisers and townsmen assembled in the Vryburg
Town Hall to witness what Theiler considered a proofing run for the exposition which F. B.
Smith was organising for him in Cape Town on a far grander scale. His lecture was most meticu-
lously prepared and supported by slides projected by Theo Meyer while P. J. du Toit repeated
him in Dutch. He concluded to applause that De Beers Dynamite Factory was going to produce
a cheap phosphate before long and that the gathering must next day go to Armoedsvlakte where
Mitchell would demonstrate the administration of bonemeal. (Few did — the stockmen had left
for their distant ranches to scan their cattle with new insight and to spread the good word while
the frustrated Mitchell gave a detailed demonstration to a mere dozen.) The proofing run had
been notably successful.

Parliament was in session in Cape Town and with some poignancy, F. B. Smith for the last
time before his final departure, arranged a grand occasion for his colleague and collaborator of
18 years. He took the large hall of the Training College and issued invitations to members of
both Houses. Led by the Speaker of the Assembly and the present and past Ministers of Agri-
culture, F. S. Malan and Senator H. C. van Heerden, they thronged the hall on the 21st July
1920 together with representative notabilities, farmers and reporters. The interest of any audience
was transfixed by Meyer’s ‘magnificent slides’ showing Pica-ridden beasts with necks extended
chewing putrid bones and garbage, then exhibiting the stiffness of gait, recumbency, inability
to rise and, if lifted, to stand, declining into inertia with their heads alongside their bodies, and
finally dying. But Theiler also spoke to slides showing graphs indicating the onset of Pica during
dry months with diminution of phosphorus in herbage, and other results of his first experimen-
tation. Large doses of bonemeal — as much as a costly b a day — were necessary to prevent Pica
and the ingestion of the disease-microbe; but much smaller — as little as 2 or 3 oz. daily - would
keep it at bay. He stated fascinating facts. It cost £40 per annum to keep Armoedsvlakte clear
~F~~—inn. 600 beasts grazed on it and were thereby safeguarded at a cost of 1s.4d. each for a year.

nnual bonemeal ration to compensate for the seasonal diminished phosphate-content of
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The Sculptor, Coert Steynberg modelling in clay the bust
of Theiler in London in June/July 1934.

The completed bust, an excellent likeness, later cast in bronze.







Theiler was now a portly imposing figure, clean-shaven but for a neatly-trimmed moustache, a
with his hair, grey at the temples, cut en brosse. He enjoyed returning to the tropical whites
his Transvaal days and, refreshed by the voyage, disembarked at Colombo to meet his colleagu
and inspect their Ceylon Veterinary College. Confirming his forecast to du Toit, he deriv
valuable information on mineral deficiency in bovines and in due course, the resident veterinz

?30 ians, Sturgess and Crawford, sent bone material to him in Switzerland. Orr and his wife, e

3j hausted and depressed by the malnutrition and ‘abysmal poverty’ they had seen in Egyj
Palestine and India, came aboard from their last assignment at Madras and gladly met t
Theilers. They had much in common and the voyage to Australia was very pleasant, no o:
being bored, Arnold noted appreciatively. They expected to arrive fighting fit at Melbourne, u
suspecting of royal welcome until Theiler received a radiogram at sea advising that he would
met at Freemantle.

Australia, despite the publicity deriving from its services during the Great War, was still ve
much ‘the outback’ attainable only by lengthy voyages (there were no transcontinental ¢
services) and generally known as a huge and largely desolate area producing sheep where n
populated by kangaroos, dingo dogs, emus and rabbits. Arnold had ‘read up’ as much as |
could but was unprepared for the lavish attention and veneration shown him while Emma w
confounded by the cultural differences which isolation imposed. At Freemantle, members of t;
local Veterinary Medical Association came aboard and took them to lunch with Universi

A 7. professors and Agricultural officials. At Adelaide, they were met by A. E. V. Richardson of t.

' Waite Agricultural Research Institute which they visited. Richardson made no secret of I
designs on Theiler. On the 9th April they arrived in Melbourne where the C.S.I.R. secreta
Lightfoot installed them temporarily in an hotel before moving them to official quarters. On t!
following night the Prime Minister himself presided at an official welcoming dinner whose gues
represented the University and the C.S.I.LR. Bruce and his wife were exceptionally amiat
(Bruce had great hopes for the wand Theiler would wave) in the pronouncedly informal mann
of his country where ‘everything frec and easy’ astounded the withdrawn and conservati
Emma.

Then it was work. The Orrs were carried off on a specialised six-week tour and Theiler w
rushed about in a manner totally disregardful of his age and eminence. Always keenly intereste
looking for material that might support his working hypotheses and observant of divergenc
from his own and world-wide practices, he could well blame himself. At no time did he call
halt in an itinerary that would have felled a younger man. Emma, plagued by colds and tons
litis and much discomfitted by primitive train travel (1,000 miles without a dining-car — on
snatched meals at stations) was with him throughout and, as always, acted as amanuens
Australia did not commend itself to her. She had difficulty in understanding the people ‘who
speech was worse than the commonest Cockney’ and learning a new vocabulary. A man wi
more than 1,000 sheep was not a sheep farmer but a ‘pasturalist’ and a cattle farmer was
‘grazier’. Culture was of no account and Europe was very very remote. Arnold liked the Austre
ians and, ever responsive to challenge, was interested in their problems. From the outset, ]
knew that they intended employing him to solve them. So did Amery, not for a single count
but for the whole Empire. The dilemma declared itself and the participants early took side
Emma emphatically inclined toward the Colonial Office, Arnold toward Australia — with h
wsual conditions, now including employment for both daughters. Neither choice had yet comn
to the point but Arnold wrote to Margaret and Gertrud while Emma silently besought Amery
show his hand.

Theiler recorded every detail of his exhausting seven months travelling through Australia
every place he visited, every official and farmer he interrogated, every condition he found, eve:
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perimental animals were cheaper and research could be more economical. The C.S.I.R. should
draw the fact to the attention of the Empire Marketing Board.
The main recommendations were made in the grand manner of the senior statesman wisely con-
sidering the facts of the present in relation to the aspirations of the future. He proposed dealing
(1 positively with animal health as a whole. “The Institute at Onderstepoort, South Africa which
was founded and organised by me did not deal with all the aspects of animal health as I propose
should be done in Australia. It dealt almost exclusively with disease. It is true that the activities
were somewhat different inasmuch as they included services to farmers by correspndence; de-
monstration trains; the supply of serums, vaccines and drugs; testing dip materials; routine
diagnosis; etc. There was attached to the Institute a Veterinary Faculty. It was carried on almost
as a sideline to the research work. All these activities were a gradual development resulting from
the research portion of the staff. Onderstepoort had the advantage of plenty of cheap labour and
much of the routine work was done by trained lay assistants, leaving to the qualified staff the
supervision and ample time for research. In comparing thus the two organisations, Onderste-
poort was a much bigger one for a limited number of subjects. Yet the stock population of South
Africa is much smaller than that of Australia. There are 30,000,000 sheep and 9,000,000 head
of cattle in the former to 100,000,000 sheep and 22,000,000 cattle in the latter. The Institute
at Onderstepoort was the result of a gradual development, beginning very moderately and
finishing magnificently. It could not be foreseen to what the first enterprise would lead and its
evolution was subsequently a natural one. Having had all that experience, 1 have applied it to
the problems of Australia and have made a forecast of what I see will be the Institution of the
Commonwealth (of Australia) when it is allowed a natural growth.’
He proposed the progressive development of a Main Laboratory for pure research at Can-
berra and of the existing veterinary institutions elsewhere for local requirements. ‘My ex-
K perience has taught me’, he stated, ‘that the more boldly a problem is attacked, the sooner it
yields to the effort.” Its primary premise was the appointment of a Chief of a Division of Animal
Health. Pending his assumption of duty, the local sub-stations could be developed. He begged
the C.S.I.R. to recognise that Australia’s main industries were based on the health of animals.
Their care should be its first concern. ‘Animal health’, he wrote tritely, ‘is national wealth.’
The text of his Report was in the Committee’s hands before he left. In Melbourne to embark,
he again met its members. Heavy pressure was renewed. For so visionary a scheme, only Theiler
himself, originator of a famous analogue, could be responsible. “The people here’, Emma wrote
5| her children laconically, ‘want to have Pa back.” He would give no immediate answer. The Re-
port, ostensibly confidential and considered of the highest importance, was rushed to the Go  n-
ment Printer. Copies reached Australia House in London in February 1929 and twelve were oont
to Theiler at his Basle address. The siege continued.

* * *

S.S. Ceramic left Melbourne on the 23rd October on the long voyage to South Africa, Burdened

by the mass of papers Arnold had collected, the Theilers relaxed in utter exhaustion. ‘They sat

5 7side by side on the deck for hours on end’, a fellow passenger recorded,” neither reading nor

talking to passengers and resisting attempts to break the ice’; but on the 26-day journey, they

recovered and landed in Durban on the 18th November in good order and, in Arnold’s case,

fighting fit. A welcoming telegram and two letters from du Toit awaited him, both regretting

that he would be away from Onderstepoort on leave at East London until the 8th December and
confirming that Green’s condition was unchanged. The South African Press awaited him too.

Theiler made some provocative statements dear to the hearts of newspapermen. He said that
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climate suits me best and where I might yet find some research work to keep me busy.’ Partly as
a result of the Imperial Agricultural Research Conference in October 1927, Onderstepoort,
cruelly short of funds, was about to undergo a renascence.

At that time, Theiler had been much implicated in the Empire Marketing Board and had
prepared constructive memoranda proposing the Board’s subsidising research in certain fields
at O.P. on a regular basis as well as encouraging Central Laboratories elsewhere in the Empire.
The Conference had moved accordingly, formally requesting the Union Government to partici-
pate. Its representatives, G. N. Williams and P. J. du Toit then had detailed discussions with the
Board which officiaily approached the Government in a despatch of the 31st January 1928 offer-
ing to pay for any additional general expenditure and suggesting that individual countries re-
questing enquiries into special veterinary problems should make their own contributions. With
happy disregard of political animus, Hertzog’s Government had accepted the proposal and
undertaken to submit a detailed scheme. Prepared by Williams and du Toit, this was sent to
Amery by Hertzog under cover of a note of the 5th September 1928. It involved an annual ex-
penditure of £11,000 on services, equipment and buildings. Early in 1929, the Board approved it
for a period of five years. Theiler had been in Australia while the negotiations took place but
since his return, much activity had resulted at Onderstepoort.

Du Toit, involved in absorbing problems and planning, delayed his reply until after the South
African General Election on the 12th June 1929 and Theiler, knocked off his balance by Stihel-
in’s verdict and by impending eviction from his lodgings (the landlady had simply decided to
give up), endured one of his periods of acute indecision. The family went visiting but once
Margaret had left for the U.S.A., he returned to his muttons, saddened by the death of his
earliest proponent and friend, Professor E. Zschokke at the age of 74. He was, said Emma, ‘with
the exception of his rheumatism, fit and well and it is really a pity he hasn’t more work’. His
kidneys didn’t in the least worry him but it was as well he hadn’t gone to Australia as he would
have over-worked and broken down. Now he was ‘working for dear life on his bones so as to
reach a point by the end of June when he will no longer need a lab . . .” Deprived of lodgings,
they contemplated various tours, first Scandinavia, then Italy. At the back of their minds was the
thought that if Hertzog were defeated and the odious Kemp eliminated, they would return to
South Africa. The result transformed them into wanderers. The Nationalists were returned with
78 seats against Smuts’ Party with 61 seats (but more votes) and Hertzog was entrenched for
another five years. Smuts resigned himself to more botanising and futuristic reflection (he was
invited in July by Oxford University to give the Rhodes Memorial Lectures in November which

¢ 2 he gladly accepted). Du Toit then wrote to Theiler, noting the possibility of his returning with the
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forthright comment —- ‘I should like very much to welcome you back here’.

Theiler never left a problem once he had engaged it. Almost his entire professional life had
been devoted intermittently to Horse Sickness and, if he had failed to find the fly believed to be
its cause, he had at least devised an imperfect form of immunisation. By the same token he
would not abandon his bone research once he had grasped the implications of the investigation.
The different forms of malformation and disease at various stages of growth indicated valuable
conclusions in feeding, particularly in remedying mineral deficiencies, and if he pushed on with
his work, he might further revolutionise the stock-raising industry. Now he was homeless, all
his books, papers and correspondence locked in cases ( ‘ich hasse die ewige Packeri’ — I hate the
eternal packing, Emma confided to her children) and temporarily his life lacked firm direction.
Scandinavia was abandoned but when Margaret returned from the States, they visited Germany
and at Wiesbaden, stayed with Theiler’s old East African colleague, Dr G. Lichtenheld. Arnold

9 Ll,had now decided to engage his rheumatism and resorted to sulphur baths at Schimberg. Both he

' and Emma became gravely ill with influenza and according to the unfortunate Margaret, ‘it was

400






Different and often conflicting principles were being applied by them in the administrative
social, educational and legal fields. There was no survey of what was taking place in Africa as ¢
whole. He pleaded eloquently for the compilation of such a survey which would include a re
view of the extent to which modern knowledge was being applied to African problems. The

jo 2_gauge was picked up and with Carnegie and Rhodes Trustees’ funds, ‘An African Survey’ unde

the direction of Sir Malcolm Hailey was launched. Theiler was invited to act as adviser on the
relevant sub-committee which commissioned preparatory researches in 1933, and ultimately
edited the chapter on ‘Agriculture and Animal Health’.

The old man’s thoughts gravitated too toward the einigkeit of his own family. He ‘missed hi:

jo5 girls’, he said and confided to Alfred that he now understood why ‘Father and Mother opposec

my going out into the world’. It had been good to see Margaret. Hans was proposing to spenc
a holiday in Europe. Gertrud, grossly overworked at the Huguenot University College and a
odds with her senior colleagues, was thinking of leaving but later repented. Closely cast in he;
father’s mould, she was already a member of the Council of the South African Association for
the Advancement of Science. Max in Boston was using Sellard’s Yellow Fever virus to experi-

“ment on Rhesus monkeys; but Sellards, with a restricted budget, refused to supply additiona

expensive monkeys and Max was disgruntled. Emma kept in communication with all her child-

5 ren (though Hans seldom wrote) and grieved with Arnold that, wanderers as they had become.

o

\oe

there was no home where the family could foregather.
A winter only slightly less severe than Switzerland now settled on Florence and with it, the
reopening of the University. Veglia of Turin had given Theiler letters to the professors of Pathol-

_ogy and he now presented them. There was some consternation about accommodating him but

by the middle of November, he was able to move his microscope from the pension room where
he had worked with difficulty, to a corner of an ice-cold laboratory almost insufferable to a weak-
ened old man. He attended the pathological lectures of Professor de Vechi which he clearly
understood but was confounded by the weekly discussion group when as many as seven disciples
would simultaneously and emotionally declare their views in torrential Jtalian. Theiler had now
conscientiously resumed the apparently endless task of analysing his massive collection of bone
sections. The arctic conditions of the laboratory soon defeated him and he took his microscope
back to the bedroom where he and Emma dutifully worked all day. She was checking and cor-
recting his scribbled notes on his observations and typing them. They planned to leave in Feb-
ruary and knew that his investigations could not be completed by then. It was in fact difficult to
concentrate. ‘He works very zealously on the bones and sits the whole day over his microscope’,
she told Alfred, ‘but his thoughts are much more with The History of Art and the Italian Lang-
uage.’ At night, they went to concerts.

Emma regretted the waste of knowledge and talents. True he could occupy himself endlessly
with writing standard scientific works but he was worthy of more. He should be an emeritus
professor at some University which would give him time for his own ancillary interests. Both
longed to settle somewhere. In December, they wrote to Alfred asking him to find a many-
storeyed house in Lucerne which Arnold could buy, reserving some floors for himself and letting
the rest. Emama mistrusted the scheme. Alfred’s proximity would be pleasant but Lucerne’s
climate was not the best and, more important, it was not a University town. Arnold would be
severed from his associates in Basle, Berne, Zurich and elsewhere. The brute reality was that a
professorship in Tropical Medicine for Veterinarians which Amery had planned for London with
his eye on Theiler had not eventuated by the time Labour had removed him from office. It might
be established in the future but Arnold would then be too old to occupy it. Realist as she in-
trinsically was, Emma was compelled to accept Lucerne and Alfred went about his appointed
task while the Theilers were reminded of happier days by touching and enheartening visits from
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Historical Photograph taken in 1935 when three directors of the National Veterinary Research Institute were together at
Onderstepoort — (left to right): Dr P. J. du Toit (present); Sir Arnold Theiler (past) and Dr R. Alexander (future).
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poort shortly after Theiler, in common with many eminent South Africans, had receive
King’s Silver Jubilee Medal.

It was all very exciting and pleasing but the sense of fulfilment that the old man could
enjoyed would continue to elude him until he finished his bone work, interrupted now 1
ominous sign. He had begun to suffer severe headaches, particularly when he got up i
morning. They dwindled, only to return - too often, he thought. Inevitably he remembere
father who had shown the same symptom before dying at the age of 68. He had himsel
turned 68. The headaches continued for many weeks but became less frequent. He tri
dismiss them as signs of senescence while conscious that his powers were diminishing. Hi
often discussed his condition with Emma and made appropriate arrangements. Alfred nov
his will. When the time came, he wished to be cremated.

The work went on in his laboratory under the constant strain of microscopic examin:
Occasionally he would plod across the complex to one of the camps where a sweating e:
mental assistant labouring in a byre, weighing buckets of urine, measuring the rations of mi
ised fodder, noting every aspect of a group of heifers, would regard him tremulously. Tt
quite kindly, would ask him searching questions sometimes in terms he could not unders
(One young Afrikaner, J. S. Otto with two degrees in Science, was confounded by The
enquiry about the ‘metatarsal effect’ and, appalled by his obvious ignorance of Anat
decided he must study Medicine. Leaving Onderstepoort, he became a physician and in
the first Nationalist Mayor of Johannesburg. Theiler, he told the Press, had always bec
hero.) Du Toit had kept his promise and the ancillary work on the Theiler/Green progr:
was proceeding. Immaculate in white laboratory coat emphasising his black-gloved art
hand, the old man would discuss developments with his friend or chat with old and nev
leagues or consult the latest literature in the splendid new library. Idleness was irksome -
nature and when banished from Onderstepoort by public holiday, restlessness superv
Over Easter, Margaret indulged her father’s sudden wish to inspect the environs of Pretori
drove him and the uncomplaining Emma to Hammanskraal, Baviaanspoort, the Premier
Warmbaths, Roberts Heights, Hennops River and Quaggapoort, visiting friends en rout
he aged, Arnold could less and less suffer vacant time and travel became obsessional.

His personal troubles were diminishing. He had written Hans in March of the Onderste
offer and his elder son, in customary manner, had failed to reply. Now in May, he cabl
offer, substantially improved by the efforts of du Toit and de Kock, and including a t
Hans cabled acceptance, proposing to arrive in September. The heavy stone had fallen
their hearts. Arnold wrote him by the new miraculous airmail of the details and how he 1
be helped on all sides at O.P., There was no need to worry about Margaret or Max. Gt
was about to bring great honour on the family. She had been appointed president of the
logical Section of the forthcoming meeting of the South African Association for the Ady
ment of Science at Paarl in the Cape. Her father was determined to hear her deliver her
dential address as well as resume acquaintance with his scientific confréres and, with his ha
long-range planning, to hear Max present a paper to the Second International Microbiol:
Conference in London in July 1936.

His plans were fixed, his headaches were diminishing, his work was interesting and h
Emma were constantly entertained by friends, scientists, the Swiss and consistently, the
Evans. His situation at Q.P. was in no way strained and the veneration of the staff, old anc

| 2. was gratifying. Similarly satisfying was the fruition of many of his works. In May, he o

two-day visit to Armoedsvlakte and was astonished to see how his trees had grown ai
investigations proliferated with important results. There were things that Smuts should

i 2 2 about the Veterinary Division and its organisation. One Sunday in June (16th), Emma ai
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appointment to a mining group, the image of South Africa in Orenstein’s mir
gold and diamond mines and Arnold Theiler at a Veterinary Institute. The la
intrigued me much more than the gold and diamonds.” He went almost immec
stepoort and the rapport at once established with its Director lasted until The

By the time Orenstein resumed his military career at the outbreak of the Sec
he had become an international authority on maintaining the health of miners a
the diseases resulting from tissue-destroying dust. His contribution to indus
extensive and honoured worldwide. He was still employed by Rand Mines Ltd.
turned 75, long past retiring age; but, finding intolerable a complete withdrawa
interests and connections, continued in office until his death. A slight deafne
from the social diversions which he previously pursued; but he remained an ex
conversationalist with a phenomenal memory and master of his field in which,
constantly ‘kept up to date’ by study of contemporary scientific journals and

Major-General A. J. Orenstein C.B., C.B.E., LL.D.(hon), D.Sc., M.D., M.R
F.R.S.H., etc. died in his sleep in Johannesburg on the 7th July 1972 at the
actively engaged in contributing to a biography of his friend. With an address
Seen’, he had inaugurated in April 1962 in Johannesburg the Adler Museum of
which in 1969 instituted annual lectures in his honour. In 1972, they became ‘Th
Memorial Lectures’ giveh by distinguished local and overseas scientists.

* * *

F. B. Smith C.M.G., architect and builder of the South African Agriculturz
unpopular with the farmers because he could seldom leave his office desk to
was recognised at Cambridge and by the Imperial authorities who appointed hir
sent to Australia and New Zealand in 1923 to investigate prospects of land se
came a Fellow of Downing College, Cambridge where, despite advancing ag
Imperial coGperation in agriculture, never losing touch with Sir Arnold Theiler
death, he maintained courteous communication with the family who reciproc
him food parcels in his old age during the Second World War. A bachelor all
finally retired to Folkstt  where he died in 1950 at the age of 86, unremembx
by the country whose land and agricultural industry he had reconstructed and
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With the thought of their publication in 1967 on the centenary of his father’s bi
translated an edited version of his early letters into Americanese English which varied
original German. The family had punctiliously extracted ‘unpublishable’ details in tt
transcripts of the originals and I am deeply grateful that both the expurgated and une:
versions were made available to me in the original German which I then had to learn. F
ly there was no Schwitzerdutsch. During a visit to Switzerland in 1971, I had the pleasure:
fit of being driven over a large part of the country by Alfred 2 (who sadly died before
pletion of this work), his wife Elsie Zurcher and Arnold’s niece Klirli Mettauer, acc:
by an English-speaking relative Marianne Eichenberger. They took me to his birthplace
his High School at Aarau, his universities at Berne and Zurich with their Veterinary Scl
village of Beromunster when he first practised, and many other significant locales. I
Klara Theiler, daughter of Alfred 1. All helped to collect, preserve and transcribe
letters for which no thanks could be adequate. They also assisted me in the course of .
Alfred 2 obtaining the rare photograph of Arnold as a student and Klara and Klarli 2
numerous questions when they subsequently visited South Africa.

To Dr Gertrud Theiler, I owe unbounded gratitude for the kind, patient and unresers
ance rendered me over seven years and more. Neither she nor her sister Margaret :
members of the family are in any way responsible for the manner in which I have ir
the material kindly placed at my disposal and assembled by myself. I have recorded
Sir Arnold as the evidence indicated.

Warm and affectionate appreciation is offered to H.R.H. Princess Alice, Countess o
whose phenomenal memory, alert interest and gracious patronage of this and otk
works, have continuously provided inspiration and encouragement as they did Theil
possible to inform her on her 95th birthday that his biography was completed.

Of the legion of individuals who actively and continuously assisted me, I am partic
debted to those who knew Theiler at his zenith and after retirement, notably Miss Me
historian of the National Institute of Botanical Research, Pretoria whose keen interest,
ing memory, recollection of Arnold Theiler and his colleagues, and loan of relevant
were indispensable; Dr B. D. Pullinger, pathologist, adviser and friend who scrutinised
in manuscript; Dr J. H. R. Bisschop, one of Theiler’s first students and ultimate expe
nomics who kindly conducted me over Onderstepoort recapturing ‘the old man’s d
lent pictorial and literary material; Dr W. O. Neitz, protozoologist and collector of
history who made much material available before Brazil coSpted him for research wi
and Dr E. M. Robinson of Knysna who was closely associated with Sir Arnold for m:

The Honourable the Minister of Agriculture, Mr Hendrik Schoeman, the Dep
Secretary Dr W. Verbeek and the Under-Secretary Mr B. W. Viljoen kindly did what t
to repair the lack of record. Exceptional etforts were made at the Veterinary Researct
at Onderstepoort where the then Deputy-Director Dr M. de Lange kindly permitte
Journals and Reports. I am indebted also to Dr K. E. Weiss and particularly to the he
Photographic Department, Mr H. M. de Bruyn who, in addition to supplying many illv
maintained a lively and encouraging interest. The stately Library also contributed helpfi
ation and reference works.

The State (incorporating the Transvaal) Archives in the Union Building accorded :
tional facilities among much unclassified material and I am most grateful to the Chief
and his staff, particularly Dr M. H. Buys who directed me to useful sources. At the C.
ives Depot, the then Chief, Miss Joan Davies rendered customary valuable assistance

Much of my investigation was made in that extraordinary institution, the Joh:
Public Library and Africana Museum where the then City Librarian and Direct
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